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SPECIAL NOTE ON FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains forwaltoeking statements within the meaning of Sectiof @f7the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, actdoBe21E of the Securiti
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, adopted purdoatiite Private Securities Litigation Reform Act1®95. Statements that are not purely historicalyrba forware
looking. You can identify some forward-lookingtetaents by the use of words such as “believes, tithmates,” “expects,” “intends” and similar expresons. Forward-
looking statements involve inherent risks and utadeties regarding events, conditions and finandrainds that may affect our future plans of openatibusiness strate(
results of operations and financial position. Anther of important factors could cause actual restdt differ materially from those included within @ntemplated by su
forward-looking statements, including, but not limited igks relating to the uncertainty of growth in markeceptance for our technology, a history of I@ss&ce inceptiol
our ability to remain competitive in response tovntechnologies, the costs to defend, as well dssrif losing, patents and intellectual propertyhtisy our customu
concentration and dependence on a limited numbeusfomers, a reliance on our future customaislity to develop and sell products that incorp@raur technology, tt
uncertainty of demand for our technology in certaiarkets, our ability to manage growth effectivelyr dependence on key members of our managemeérdeselopme!
team, our limited experience in conducting openaiinternationally, and our ability to obtain adexia capital to fund future operations, For a dissios of these and ott
factors that could cause actual results to difiemi those contemplated in the forw-looking statements, please see “ltem 1A. Riskdfat and elsewhere in this Annt
Report, and in our publicly available filings withe Securities and Exchange Commission. For-looking statements reflect our analysis only ashefdate of this Annu
Report. Actual events or results may differ matbrifrom the results discussed in or implied bg fhrwarclooking statements. We do not undertake any redpibtysto
update or revise any of these factors or to anneyndlicly any revisions to forward-looking statertse whether as a result of new information, futewents or otherwise.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Neonode Inc. (collectively with our subsidiaries réferred to in this Annual Report as “Neonodete®, “us”, “our”, the “Company”)develops and licenses opti
MultiSensing™ touch and user interface (“Ul") saduts. The cornerstone of our touch and interfadetisms is zForce®pur patented touch technology. Based on zF
Neonode has developed a variety of features thestesany objec- its size, its pressure on a surface, its depthjglscity and even its proximity to any type of fawe. Thi
feature set is branded MultiSensing™ technologyrideles MultiSensing technology is suited for consumet eraustrial electronic devices and supports uniéohigesture
multi-touch and sweeps navigation.

Neonode licenses its MultiSensing technology togibel Equipment Manufacturers (“OEMs”) and Originaesign Manufacturers (“ODMs"Who embed ot
MultiSensing technology into devices that they prmeland sell. NeonodeMultiSensing technology is being incorporated wide array of high volume color LCD produ
worldwide: mobile phones, tablets, e-readers, effgjuipment, ircar infotainment displays and HMI systems, GPS, iggnalevices and toys. In 2012, we expandec
MultiSensing technology through Neonoslecustomized NN1001 single optical controller chileveloped in close collaboration with Texas Insieats. The NN10C
controller chip began shipping to customers in N28¢2. Neonodea MultiSensing solution is used on more than twehiion touch consumer devices in the global m¢
place.

Our technology licensing model allows us to focustbe development of solutions for multuch enabled screens, and thus we do not mantéaptoducts ¢
components. We license the right to use zForceNeahode MultiSensing touch technology which, togethith standard components from partners, createpsical touc
solution.

The Company is subject to the informational requieats of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asmaled (the “Exchange Actgnd files or furnishes repot
proxy statements, and other information with theuiies and Exchange Commission (“SECThe SEC maintains an Internet site that contaim®rte, proxy an
information statements and other information regaydssuers that file electronically with the SEOnavw.sec.gov. The reports and other informatitedfby the Compar
with the SEC are available free of charge on th€'Skvebsite. The public may read and copy any riadsefiled by the Company with the SEC at the S&ERBuUblic Referent
Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549.ti#ic may obtain information on the operatiortted Public Reference Room by calling the SEC a®@-8EC-0330.




Our website is www.neonode.canThrough our website, we make available free afrga all of our filings with the SEC, including camnual reports on Form Q-
our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and our currepbrts on Form & as well as Form 3, Form 4, and Form 5 Reportofordirectors, officers, and principal stockhokl
together with amendments to those reports filefliiorished pursuant to Sections 13(a), 15(d), oudd@er the Exchange Act. These reports are avaikbEoon as reasona
practicable after their electronic filing or furhiag with the SEC. Our website also includes coafgovernance information, such as our Code oifn@gs Conduct (includir
our Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Offigerd Senior Financial Officers) and our Board CorteritCharters. We are not including the informationtained on ol
website as part of, nor incorporating it by refeeimto, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our History
Neonode Inc., formerly known as SBE, Inc., was ipogated in the State of Delaware on Septembe®%7.1

On August 10, 2007, SBE, Inc. consummated a revaxesger transaction with Neonode Inc. (the “Mergyedihd SBE, Incs name was subsequently change
“Neonode Inc.”upon the completion of the Merger. Prior to the & Neonode Inc. had been incorporated in thee $thDelaware in 2006 and was the parent of Nec
AB, a company founded in February 2004 and incaisat in Sweden. Following the closing of the Merdlee business and operations of Neonode Inc. fwithe Merge
became the primary business and operations ofedvyrcombined company. The Company’s headquartdizcated in Santa Clara, California, USA.

Through our previously whollpwned subsidiary, Neonode AB, we developed ourhsaeen technology and an optical touchscreen mgitibne product, tl
N2. We began shipping the N2 to our first custa@rerJuly 2007 but a viable market did not develye subsequently discontinued the manufacturing@abile phones ar
the operations of Neonode AB. On January 1, 20@aequired Neonode Technologies AB as a wholiyied subsidiary and began licensing our touchnteldlgy to OEM
and ODMs.

Overview of the Touchscreen Market
There are different touchscreen technobgigilable in the market with different or slighdlifferent profiles, power consumption, level o&turity, and cost price:

e Capacitive --a capacitive touchscreen panel is coated with tenia typically indium tin oxide, that conductscantinuous electrical current across the sensder
the sensor's 'normal' capacitance field (its refegestate) is altered by another capacitance fieetd, someone's finger, electronic circuits lodateach corner of t
panel measure the resultant 'distortion’ in the siave characteristics to detect a tot

Resistive-- uses conductive and resistive layers separatehitgpace

Optical Infrarec-- uses infrared beams that are broken by fingeeat fiom the finger sensed from a camera to detémich.

Surface acoustic wa\-- uses ultrasonic waves that pass over the toudhsganel

Strain gaugt-- uses a spring mounted on the four corners anih gfaaiges are used to determine deflection whesdteen is touche:

Optical imagingc-- uses two or more image sensors placed around ges thostly the corners) of the screen and a $ightce to create a shadow of the fin
In-cell optical touch technology -- embeds phaoasors or conductive sensors directly into a Lidhiglstal Display (“LCD”)glass. By integrating the touch funct
directly into an LCD glass, the LCD acts like a loegolution camera 1“se¢’ the shadow of the finge




Dispersive signal technolo¢-- uses sensors to detect the mechanical energy gldaks that occur due to a tou
Acoustic pulse recognition #ses more than two piezoelectric transducers Idcatsome positions of the screen to turn the nmécabenergy of a touch (vibratic
into an electronic signe

Currently, the two dominant types of touchscreerhtelogies available in the market are capacitive @esistive. Capacitive technology is the tecbgglthat th

Apple iPhone uses and resistive technology is vilidound on certain automatic teller machines. gpacitive touchscreen reacts to the fingdihy electric impulse
Capacitive touchscreens work best if the user Immpeded contact between the finger and the sciResistive technology is pressure sensitive tedgyolbest used f
detailed work and for selection of a particulartspo a screen, resistive technology is not usefusfveeping gestures or motion, such as zoomiagdhout.

Our MultiSensing Solution

Neonode$ touchscreen interface is optical infrared, rathen capacitive or resistive. Our MultiSensindiag touch solutions are based on our patentedcz

technology. It uses infrared light that is progetbver the screen. Infrared light pulses are sentip to 1,000 times per second to capture a framdedetect touch activatic
Up to 1,000 coordinates are produced by using madkieal algorithms to calculate the exact positba touch object when a user's fingers move adr@sscreen.

Both capacitive and resistive technologies makeofise“touch sensor/window” or an overlay in condtion with a controller Integrated Circuit (“ICtp function. It

comparison zForce use a “lightguided (reflect and focus light) together with IC compats to operate. Our zForce optical touchscreemntdogy has a number of k
advantages over other touchscreen technologidading:

No additional layers are added to the screen tlet dilute the screen contrast and clarity. Layet#ghnology is required to activate the capacitinel resistiv
technologies and can be very costly;

The zForce grid technology is more responsive thancapacitive screen technology and, as a rasujyicker and less prone to misreads. It allowsentent an
sweeping motions as compared to point-sensitiy@ysbased resistive screens;

zForce, an abbreviation for zero force necessdnyiates the need to use any force to select @erntems on the screen as would be the case vgitylzs;

zForce is coséfficient due to the lower cost of materials andextremely simple manufacturing process when coatpén the expensive layered capacitive
resistive screens;

zForce allows multiple methods of input, suclsiasple finger taps to hit keys, sweeps to zoonriow, and gestures to write text or symbols diyeah the screen;
zForce is one of the few viable touchscreen gmnistthat will operate as well on the new revoloéry reflective display panels that will offer pagpi&e reading
experience in almost any ambient lighting conditishile greatly reducing power consumption. Manufieets of reflective display panels are targetingeadetr
mobile phone and tablet PC markets because thesmedeequire the clear viewing screen and low paveasumption of the reflective display panels; and

zForce incorporates some of the best functionalitiEboth the capacitive and resistive touchscteehnologies. It works in all climates and, unltke competin
technologies, can be used with thick gloves. Intaad zForce allows for waterproofing of the dewi




zForce
Our patented zForce interface allows OEMs and OBdviscorporate touch and sweep navigation intortbensumer and industrial electronic devices. meaeket:
:‘gglﬁl(,;;.zForce technology includeReaders, mobile phones, automotive, office equigr(grch as printers), GPS, toys and games and talldkets. Key attributes of zFo
e operates on all screen types and provides a c-clear viewing experience in any lighting conditieven bright sunligh
e runs on Electronic Paper Displays that createsidatsle experience close to ink on paper becausdtts light like ordinary pape
e operates on LCD (Liquid Crystal Display
e  supports hig-resolution pen writing in combination with fingeavigation that includes, e.g., gestures, r-touch, and sweep
e provides a 100% clear viewing experie—unlike traditional resistive and capacitive toudlesns; anc
e can be applied to any flat surfas
In addition, zForce enables:
e touch detection for any obje(
e asmooth touch experience with no necessary pessutouch detectior
e greater industrial design flexibility for equipmeartd device manufacturel
e  pressure sensing; a
e 3D scanning and proximity sensir
Laptop PC, Tablets anc-Readers

We believe zForce is the world’s most-used opticath technology for &eaders today with customers such as Barnes & NSbiey, Mundo, Netronix and Kot
all of whom have integrated our zForce technology their e-Readers.

In addition, Oregon Scientific MEEP tablet for chign started shipping in November 2012 and we Isaveral other customers, such as Shenzhen Waventy
developing tablets and Laptop PCs that are expéetgd into production and begin shipping in 2013.

Mobile Phone:

Our mobile phone multsensing and proximity technology platform, Smartph@®ne, is suitable for smart phones and tabletseahances the user experience
feature phones. We are currently in product deaivities with tier one and tier two mobile phomendset makers, such as Shenzhen Wave, who arlepiegeboth sma
and feature phone handsets that are expecteditdagproduction and begin shipping in 2013.

Automotive

Touch interface displays in vehicles must operate wide range of ambient lighting and temperatuneditions. A resistive screen may be operatetl glibves or
but the membrane layer reduces transparency andatese glare. The zForce solution is well placeghéke inroads in the automotive market sinceaviges a brighter, mo
readable display, with a full operating temperatanege that can easily be used while wearing glowsare currently engaged with many of the glehabmotive OEMs ar
their tier one suppliers, such as Alpine and Primt?developing automotive HMI, infotainment andsigation systems.

Printers and Office Equipme

Photo printers and combination printer/scannerifeachines typically require featureh menus and settings, and OEMs have increasirgplaced mechanic
buttons with resistive touchscreen displays. zFofters an improved user experience, with brigklisplay, ultralight touch, and support for gestures (such as ewipacces
menus and screens). We have technology licenseragreas with and are engaged in product developactivities with two of the top five global leadimginter and offic
equipment OEMs. Product shipments are expecteddgmltin 2013 with rollout continued through 2014.




Home Electronic:

Mechanical buttons, dials and membrane switchdéisnstistly control machines in the kitchen and lagndom. New designs can use zForce with or withan
underlying display. For example, touch sensitiveidns can be achieved by placing the light guideiad a preprinted array. A touch panel can include illumiaatwithout ¢
display. A feature-rich device like a higimd dryer can be made much more streamlined andfiesedly with a touch display. We are currentiygaged with OEMs in tt
home electronics market who are designing toucblergroducts such as kitchen stove tops, ovendaamdiry room washer and dryers.

Neonode NN1001 Single Chip Touch Controller

The NN1001 is the next generation touch technokagytion that utilizes zForce that we developedahiaboration with Texas Instruments. It is degidiio simplify
the integration to reduce bill of material (BOM)stoas well as increase the performance wherergiesdy The NN1001 can only be sold to customers dve a technolor
license agreement with Neonode. We believe thel&i@bip Touch Controller outperforms capacitivedosolutions at a lower cost.

e The NN21001 has a scanning speed of 1000 Hz (latéowy to 1ms) and consumes less than 1mW at 1(
e The NN1001 tracks any hi-speed mul-touch gesture with any object (finger, gloved fingad passive pens) with high accure

e The NN1001 connects to any microcontroller or aggilon processor with a high speed SPI interfadee @ontroller works in single or multiple configticas
supporting screen sizes up to 20 ir

e The NN1001 supports advanced power managemenngridments the Neonode AlwaysON™ technology wheeetdlach is active even when the device is in ¢
or off mode.

Intellectual Property

We believe that innovation in product engineersges, marketing, support, and customer relat@mg,protection of this proprietary technology amdwledge, wil
impact our future success. In addition to certaatepts that are pending, we rely on a combinatifocopyright, trademark, trade secret laws and emttral provisions f
establish and protect the proprietary rights in gnaducts.

The Company has 4 issued U.S. patents and an@uli83 U.S. patents pending. Outside the U.SCithimpany has an additional 5 issued patents andatéht
pending. The number of issued and pending patextgatents filed under international Patent Codperdreaty (“PCT") for each jurisdiction is listed the table below:

Jurisdiction No. of Issued Paten No. of Patents Pendir
United States (U.S 4 33

Europe 0 6

Japar 1 3

China 1 3

Canadz 1 4

Australia 1 4

Singapore 1 4

PCT Not Applicable 7

Total: 9 64

The Company’s patents cover two general categafiggoduct: (i) the Company’'s MultiSensirfd touch screen hardware, and (ii) user interfaceb @oduc
design. Three of the Company’s issued U.S. pat@dach Screen for Mobile Telephone (U.S. 7,880,78&ht-Based Touch Screen (U.S. 8,339,379) and On a %id
Formed or Resting Display Arrangement (U.S. 8,088))Land all five foreign issued patents, relatéotach screen hardware. One issued U.S. patent 8,095,879 entitle
USER INTERFACE FOR MOBILE HANDHELD COMPUTER UNIT)overs sweep gestures on a touch screen user oee@d the Compang’ 64 patents pending, 58
utility patents and 6 are design patents.




We have been granted trademark protection for thve WWEONODE in the U.S., the European Union (EWye8en, Norway, and Australia. In addition we hailed
an application for the word NEONODE in the US tov@oadditional goods including touchscreen corgrofpplication Specific Integrated Circuits (ASIG)e have bee
granted protection for the figurative mark NEONODEthe U.S., the EU, SwedenAustralia, China, Norway, Russia and Switzerlance Wave been granted traden
protection for the word ZFORCE in the U.S. and HuUaddition we have filed an application for therd@FORCE in the U.S. to cover additional gooddudmg touchscree
controller ASICs. We filed applications for thedeamarks ALWAYSON, ALWAYSON TOUCH, MULTISENSING, LIQID SENSING and IT MAKES SENSE in the U.S.

The Companys user interface software described in some ofafeeementioned patent applications may also beepted by copyright laws in most countr
including Sweden and the EU (which do not granepiprotection for the software itself), if the tvedire is new and original. Protection can be clarfrem the date «
creation.

Distribution, Sales and Marketing

We consider both OEMs and ODMs to be our primarst@mers. OEMs and ODMs determine the design araihgrrequirements and make the overall dec
regarding the use of our multi-sensing touch aret irsterface solutions in their products. The usd pricing of our multisensing touch and user interface solution:
governed by a technology licensing agreement.

Our sales staff solicits prospective customers amdsales personnel receive substantial techngsibtance and support from our internal engineeraspurce
because of the highly technical nature of our peodwlutions. We expect that sales will frequemtigult from our sales efforts that involve senicainagement, desi
engineers, and our sales personnel interactingauitipotential customers’ decision-makers througltioe: product development and order process.

Our sales are normally negotiated and executed$n Dollars or Euros.

Our sales force and marketing operations are mahageof our corporate headquarters in Santa Cadifornia, U.S. and our current sales force impdsed o
sales offices located in Sweden, South Korea, Jafswan, and the Netherlands.

Technology License Agreements

As of December 31, 2012, we have entered into tyvénir technology license agreements compared to/envahd four technology license agreements as ogidbe
31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. We signed fouitiadél technology license agreements with cust@msibsequent to December 31, 2012. The produletedeto thes
license agreements are e-Readers, Tablet PCs,enpbttihes, commercial and consumer printers, auteenodnsoles, toys and games and GPS devices.

We are dependent on a number of OEM customershenidbss of any one of these customers could hamaterial adverse effect on our future revenue strebn the
short term, we anticipate that we remain dependerd limited number of customers for substantiallyof our future revenues. Failure to anticipateespond adequately
technological developments in our industry, charigesistomer or supplier requirements or changeegdulatory requirements or industry standardsrgr significant delay
in the development or introduction of products envices could have a material adverse effect orbasiness, operating results and cash flows.

Our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2012dwadrom fifteen customers. Our net revenuesHerytear ended December 31, 2012 were earned fremty
customers. Our customers are located in the UiBge and Asia. Customers who accounted for 10%are of our net revenues during the year ended ibeee 31, 201
are as follows:

. Amazon- 32%
° KOBO Inc.- 26%
. Sony Corporatiol- 17%




Our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2011dwasfrom five customers. Our net revenues forytar ended December 31, 2011 were earned from
customers. Our customers are located in the UiBge and Asia. Customers who accounted for 10%are of our net revenues during the year ended iDeee31, 201
are as follows:

Amazon- 40%

Barnes & Noble- 26%
Sony Corporatiol- 21%
KOBO Inc.- 11%

Our net revenues for the year ended December 3D ®@re earned from seven customers. Customersaadmunted for 10% or more of our net revenues dute
year ended December 31, 2010 are as follows:

. Sony Corporatiol- 46%
. Sony Ericsson Mobile Communications /- 38%

Competition

Our market is intensely competitive and characteriby rapidly changing technology, evolving staddaand new product releases by our competitors
competitors, and the interface technology theyroffelude the following:

Company Technology

3M Capacitive, Dispersive Signal Tou
Synaptics Capacitive sensors and IC controll
ATMEL Capacitive touch IC controlle
Cypress Capacitive touch IC controlle
Maxim Capacitive touch IC controlle
Nextwindow Optical with camera sens

Zytronic Capacitive

Tyco Electronics Capacitive, Resistive, Surface Wa
Touch Internatione Resistive and Capaciti\

Mass Multimedia Inc All touchscreen technologie

Young Fas Capacitive sensor and module ma
TPK Capacitive (provides the capacitive touch sensottfe Apple iPhone

Research and Development

In fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010 we spent $5llfom $1.9 million and $1.9 million, respectivelyn each year on research and development aesvitDu
research and development is predominantly in-hdusteis also done in collaboration with externattpers and specialists.

Employees
On December 31, 2012, we had forty-six full-timepdoyees and one part-time employee. There wereahdbsix full-time and one pattme employee in our gene
& administrative group, twelve in our sales and keting group and twentgix in our engineering group. We have employeestkit in the U.S., Sweden, Israel,

Netherlands, South Korea, Taiwan and Japan. NormioEmployees are represented by a labor unionh&ive experienced no work stoppages. We believesmyioye:
relations are positive.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a hiegree of risk. Before deciding to purchase, holdsall in our common stock, you should considerefidly the risk
described below in addition to the cautionary sta¢ats and risks described elsewhere and the otti@miation contained in this Annual Report and ur other filings witt
the SEC, including subsequent reports on Forms HR@Q8K. The risks and uncertainties described belowrasethe only ones we face. Additional risks andeutaintie:
not presently known to us or that we currently deemmaterial may also impair our business operatioifsany of these known or unknown risks or uraisties actuall
occur, our business, financial condition, resulfsoperations or cash flows could be seriously hatm&his could cause the trading price of our commstock to declin
resulting in a loss of all or part of your investnte

Risks Related To Our Business
We have never been profitable and we anticipate significant additional lossesin thefuture.

Neonode Inc. was formed in 1997 and reconstitute2D06 as a holding company, owning and operatiegndde AB, which had been formed in 2004. We haat
primarily engaged in the business of developing se&lting mobile phones. Following the liquidatiohMeonode AB, we implemented a new strategy for lousiness. W\
have a limited operating history on which to baseeaaluation of our business and prospects. Ouspeis must be considered in light of the risks andertaintie
encountered by companies in the early stages @ldement, particularly companies in new and rap@llglving markets. We were not successful in sglfitobile phones ai
have refocused our business on licensing our tauebs technology. We may not be successful in grgwiur technology licensing business. Our succéssl@pend on mar
factors, including, but not limited to:

« the growth of touchscreen interface us:

« the efforts and success of our OEM and othemousts;

« the level of competition faced by us; ¢

» our ability to meet customer demand for engimegsupport, new technology and ongoing sen

Our limited operating history and the emerging ranf our market, together with the other risk dastset forth in this report, make prediction of future operatin
results difficult. There can also be no assuraheéwe will ever achieve significant revenues afipability or, if significant revenues and profitiéity are achieved, that th
could be sustained.

If we continue to experience losses, we could experience difficulty meeting our business plan and our stock price could be negatively affected.

If we are unable to gain market acceptance of ouctiscreen technologies, we will experience comigwoperating losses and negative cash flow from
operations. Any failure to achieve or maintainfijability could negatively impact the market priofour common stock. We anticipate that we wilhtinue to incur produ
development, sales and marketing, and adminiseragixpenses. As a result, we will need to genesigeificant quarterly revenues if we are to achiewsl maintai
profitability. A substantial failure to achievedfitability could make it difficult or impossibleof us to grow our business. Our business stratemy not be successful, and
may not generate significant revenues or achieoftability. Any failure to significantly increasevenues would also harm our ability to achieveé msaintain profitability. |
we do achieve profitability in the future, we magt be able to sustain or increase profitabilityaoquarterly or annual basis.

We are dependent on a limited number of customers.

Our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2012dwadrom fifteen customers. Our net revenuesHerytear ended December 31, 2012 were earned fremty
customers. Our customers are located in the UiBgpe and Asia. Customers who accounted for 10%hare of our net revenues during the year ended iDeee 31, 201
are as follows:

. Amazon- 32%
. KOBO Inc.- 26%
. Sony Corporatiol- 17%

In the fourth quarter of 2012, Amazon discontinsééping its Kindle eReaders that incorporated our touch technology. Zzmaccounted for 32% of our total
revenue in 2012 and 40% of our total net revenu@9dihl. We don’t anticipate receiving any futurerAeam revenues from Amazon. The loss of a majorocnet, a reductic
in net revenues from any major customer for amgoe, or a failure of a major customer to fultdl financial or other obligations due to us couwdna material adverse eff
on our business, financial condition, and futureereie stream.

We are dependent on the ability of our customers to design, manufacture and sell their products that incorporate our touchscreen technologies, particularly in
markets other than eReaders.

Our products and technologies are licensed to atberpanies which must be successful in designiranufacturing and selling the products that incoap®mou
technologies. The majority of our license feesnedrin 2012, 2011 and 2010 were from customer sipsnof eReader products. We expect that custsinipments ¢
eReaders products will decline in the future. Uf oustomers are not able to design, manufactuselbtheir products, or are delayed in produchmgjrtproducts, our revenu
profitability, and liquidity, as well as our braimdage, may be adversely affected.

If we fail to develop and introduce new products and services successfully and in a cost effective and timely manner, we will not be able to compete effectively and
our ability to generate revenues will suffer .

We operate in a highly competitive, rapidly evolyianvironment, and our success depends on outyatalidevelop and introduce new products, techngl@ac
services that our customers and end users chodseytdf we are unsuccessful at developing andéhicing new products, technology, and servicesatafppealing to o
customers and end users with acceptable qualiyepand terms, we will not be able to competecéffely and our ability to generate revenues wiffar.

The development of new products, technology, andces is very difficult and requires high levelsionovation. The development process is also kepngnd costly

If we fail to anticipate our end usenséeds or technological trends accurately or if veeumable to complete the development of produstss@rvices in a cost effective ¢
timely fashion, we will be unable to introduce npducts and services into the market or succégsfoinpete with other providers.

11




As we introduce new or enhanced products or integnaw technology into new or existing products, faee risks including, among other things, disroiptin
customers’ ordering patterns, inability to delivew products to meet customedg€mand, possible product and technology defectspatentially unfamiliar sales and supj
environments. Premature announcements or leaksvofpmoducts, features, or technologies may exatedmmne of these risks. Our failure to manage réesition to newe
products or the integration of newer technologp imtw or existing products could adversely affestliusiness, results of operations, and financabiion.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control.

We are subject to the following factors, among oththat may negatively affect our operating result

° the announcement or introduction of new productgchnologies by our competitors;

° our ability to upgrade and develop our produaid iafrastructure to accommodate growth;

° our ability to attract and retain key personnehitimely and cost effective manner;

° technical difficulties;

° the amount and timing of operating costs andtabhpkpenditures relating to the expansion of awsitess, operations, and infrastructure; and
° general economic conditions as well as economiditions specific to the harheld device and/or touchscreen indus

As a result of our limited operating history and tiature of the markets in which we compete, éxisemely difficult for us to forecast accurateMie have based ¢
current and future expense levels largely on ouestment plans and estimates of future eventspudth certain of our expense levels are, to a largent, fixed. We may |
unable to adjust spending in a timely manner to memsate for any unexpected revenue shortfall. Aliagly, any significant shortfall in revenues tale to our planne
expenditures would have an immediate adverse effacbur business, results of operations and fimhrmndition. Further, as a strategic responsehanges in tt
competitive environment, we may from time to timak®a certain pricing, service, or marketing decisithat could have a material and adverse effectunrbusiness, resu
of operations, and financial condition. Due to fillegoing factors, our revenues and operatingiteare and will remain difficult to forecast.

We may require additional capital to fund our operations, which capital may not be available on commercially attractivetermsor at all.

We may in the future require sources of capitahddition to cash on hand to continue operations tanidnplement our business plan. We project thatharee
sufficient liquid assets to continue operatingdbteast the next twelve months. However, if operations do not become cash flow positive, we beforced to seek cre
line facilities from financial institutions, addithal private equity investment, or debt arrangeseilo assurances can be given that we will beesstal in obtaining sut
additional financing on reasonable terms, or at llhdequate funds are not available when neeatedcceptable terms, or at all, we may be unabkdemuately fund o
business plan, which could have a negative effecbur business, results of operations, and findrmadition. In addition, if funds are availabkae issuance of equ
securities or securities convertible into equityldodilute the value of shares of our common stacé cause the market price to fall, and the issuanhclebt securities cot
impose restrictive covenants that could impair ahility to engage in certain business transactions.

We must significantly enhance our sales and product development organizations.

We will need to improve the effectiveness and bitead our sales efforts in order to increase maakedreness and sales of our technologies, espeagilve expar
into new market segments. Competition for qualifeades personnel is intense, and we may not betalitére the kind and number of sales personnelaveetargeting
Likewise, our efforts to improve and refine our guets require skilled engineers and programmersng@tition for professionals capable of expanding @search ar
development efforts is intense due to the limitednher of people available with the necessary techrskills. If we are unable to identify, hire, @atain qualified sale
marketing, and technical personnel, our abilitat¢hieve future revenue may be adversely affected.
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We will need to increase the size of our organization, and we may be unable to manage our growth effectively.

Our failure to manage growth effectively could havenaterial and adverse effect on our business|tsesf operations and financial condition. Weieipate tha
expansion of our organization will be required mdi@ss internal growth to handle licensing and aede activities. This expansion may place a sigaift strain o
management, operational, and financial resour€esmanage the expected growth of our operationspamsbnnel, we must both improve our existing ofi@mal and financit
systems, procedures, and controls, and implememtsystems, procedures, and controls. We mustesdpand our finance, administrative, and operatiiaff. Our currer
personnel, systems, procedures, and controls maydeguately support future operations. Management be unable to hire, train, retain, motivated amanage tt
necessary personnel, or to identify, manage antbi&xgxisting and potential strategic relationshégpal market opportunities .

We are dependent on the services of our key personnel.

We are dependent on our current management fdoteseeable future. The loss of the services ofraesnber of management could have a materially adveifec
on our operations and future prospects.

If third partiesinfringe our intellectual property or if we are unable to secure and protect our intellectual property, we may expend significant resources enforcing
our rights or suffer competitive injury.

Our success depends in large part on our propyie¢ahnology and other intellectual property right#e rely on a combination of patents, copyrigtresgemarks ar
trade secrets, confidentiality provisions, andrigiag arrangements to establish and protect owrigtary rights. Our intellectual property, partexly our patents, may n
provide us with a significant competitive advantaljeve fail to protect or to enforce our intellaat property rights successfully, our competitivesition could suffer, whic
could harm our results of operations.

Our pending patent and trademark applicationsdgistration may not be allowed, or others may elmgjé the validity or scope of our patents or traatés) includin
patent or trademark applications or registratidheen if our patents or trademark registrationsissaed and maintained, these patents or trademaai¢snot be of adequz
scope or benefit to us or may be held invalid anenfiorceable against third parties.

We may be required to spend significant resouraardnitor and police our intellectual property fighEffective policing of the unauthorized use af products ¢
intellectual property is difficult and litigation ay be necessary in the future to enforce our extalilal property rights. Intellectual property ldten is not only expensive, t
time-consuming, regardless of the merits of any claimd eould divert attention of our management frorerafing the business. Despite our efforts, we natybe able t
detect infringement and may lose competitive positin the market before they do so. In additionmpetitors may design around our technology or dgvelompetin
technologies. Intellectual property rights may dieaunavailable or limited in some foreign courgtri@hich could make it easier for competitors tptaee market share.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tgylexisting laws, contractual provisions and reieedfford only limited protection. Intellectualgmerty lawsuits a
subject to inherent uncertainties due to, amongrdthings, the complexity of the technical issuelved, and we cannot assure you that we willdmeassful in asserting ¢
intellectual property rights. Attempts may be madecopy or reverse engineer aspects of our prodoct® obtain and use information that we regardoasprietary
Accordingly, we cannot assure you that we will béedo protect our proprietary rights against uhatized third party copying or use. The unauthatiase of our technolo
or of our proprietary information by competitorsutab have an adverse effect on our ability to setlproducts.

13




We have an international presence in countries whose laws may not provide protection of our intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the
United States, which may make it more difficult for usto protect our intellectual property.

As part of our business strategy, we target custerard relationships with suppliers and originalipment manufacturers in countries with large papahs an
propensities for adopting new technologies. Howewemy of these countries do not address misapiptapr of intellectual property nor deter othersnfr developing simila
competing technologies or intellectual propertyfeEtive protection of patents, copyrights, tradekaatrade secrets and other intellectual properay fme unavailable
limited in some foreign countries. In particuldretlaws of some foreign countries in which we deilbess may not protect our intellectual propergits to the same extent
the laws of the United States. As a result, we matybe able to effectively prevent competitorstiege regions from infringing our intellectual pragerights, which coul
reduce our competitive advantage and ability to pete in those regions and negatively impact ouiness.

Risks Related to Owning Our Stock
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and the Delaware General Corporation Law contain provisionsthat could delay or prevent a changein control.

Our board of directors has the authority to isspeéaul,000,000 shares of Preferred stock and ®rmiéne the price, rights, preferences and privieglethose shar
without any further vote or action by the stockteskl The rights of the holders of common stock bdlsubject to, and may be materially adverselgctéd by, the rights
the holders of any Preferred stock that may beeidéni the future. The issuance of Preferred stachkdchave the effect of making it more difficultrfa third party to acquire
majority of our outstanding voting stock. Furthemmocertain other provisions of our certificateinéorporation and bylaws may have the effect ohdielg or preventin
changes in control or management, which could aseraffect the market price of our common stockatidition, we are subject to the provisions oft®ac203 of th
Delaware General Corporation Law, an anti-takedaer

Our stock price has been volatile, and your investment in our common stock could suffer a declinein value.

There has been significant volatility in the markeice and trading volume of equity securities, ebhis unrelated to the financial performance of ¢benpanie
issuing the securities. These broad market fluinatmay negatively affe¢che market price of our common stock. You may regble to resell your shares at or abowt
price you pay for those shares due to fluctuatinriee market price of our common stock causedHanges in our operating performance or prospeatspther factors.

Some specific factors that may have a significéfieceon our common stock market price include:

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults or future prospec

our announcements or our competi’ announcements of new produc

the publi¢s reaction to our press releases, our other pabliouncements, and our filings with the S|
strategic actions by us or our competitors, suchcaslisitions or restructuring

new laws or regulations or new interpretationsxating laws or regulations applicable to our besisy
changes in accounting standards, policies, guidantgpretations or principle

changes in our growth rates or our compet’ growth rates

developments regarding our patents or proprietghts or those of our competitol

our inability to raise additional capital as neec

concern as to the efficacy of our produr

changes in financial markets or general economidlitions;

sales of common stock by us or members of our mamegt team; an

changes in stock market analyst recommendatipearmings estimates regarding our common stoblerot
comparable companies, or our industry gener
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Future sales of our common stock by our stockholders could negatively affect our stock price.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our camstock in the public market by our stockholdersthe perception that these sales might occuldadepress tk
market price of our common stock and could impair ability to raise capital through the sale ofiiddal equity securities.

Future sales of our common stock by us could adversely affect its price, and our future capital-raising activities could involve the issuance of equity securities,
which would dilute your investment and could result in a declinein the trading price of our common stock.

We may sell securities in the public or private iggmarkets if and when conditions are favorablesreif we do not have an immediate need for additicapital
that time. Sales of substantial amounts of comntocks or the perception that such sales could oamuld adversely affect the prevailing market @raf our common stor
and our ability to raise capital. We may issue tdidal common stock in future financing transactia@r as incentive compensation for our executiveagament and otf
key personnel, consultants and advisors. Issuiggegnity securities would be dilutive to the equitterests represented by our thmrtstanding shares of common stock.
market price for our common stock could decreasthasmarket takes into account the dilutive effeicliny of these issuances. Furthermore, we may émtte financing
transactions at prices that represent a substafiiebunt to the market price of our common stdckegative reaction by investors and securitiedyaststo any discount:
sale of our equity securities could result in alidedn the trading price of our common stock.

If our internal controls over financial reporting are not considered effective, our business and stock price could be adversely affected.

Section 404 of the Sarban@sdey Act of 2002 requires us to evaluate the eiffeaess of our internal controls over financigloging as of the end of each fiscal y
and to include a management report assessing fibetieéness of our internal controls over finanegporting in our annual report on Form KCoer that fiscal year. Sectic
404 also requires our independent registered pabtiounting firm to attest to, and report on, managnt's assessment of our internal controls owvanfiial reporting.

Our management, including our chief executive effiand principal financial officer, does not exp#zt our internal controls over financial repagtiwill prevent al
errors and all fraud. A control system, no mattwiwell designed and operated, can provide onlgaeable, not absolute, assurance that the colystéra's objectives wi
be met. Further, the design of a control systemt meftect the fact that there are resource comggaand the benefits of controls must be consileséative to their cost
Because of the inherent limitations in all contsgktems, no evaluation of controls can provide kibs@assurance that all control issues and instan€draud involving
company have been, or will be, detected. The desfigmy system of controls is based in part onaberssumptions about the likelihood of future éseand we cannot ass
you that any design will succeed in achieving itdexd goals under all potential future conditioBser time, controls may become ineffective becadsghanges in conditiol
or deterioration in the degree of compliance wittigies or procedures. Because of the inherentditioins in a coseffective control system, misstatements due torest
fraud may occur and not be detected. We cannotagsw that we or our independent registered puddiounting firm will not identify a material weatss in our intern
controls in the future. A material weakness in imtiernal controls over financial reporting wouldjoire management and our independent registereit@dzounting firm t
consider our internal controls as ineffective. Uf internal controls over financial reporting a@ ponsidered effective, we may experience a légaiblic confidence, whic
could have an adverse effect on our business atideomarket price of our common stock.

If securities analysts do not publish research or if securities analysts or other third parties publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us, the price of our
common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will refygart on the research and reports that secuatialy/sts and other third parties choose to pullisiut us. We ¢

not control these analysts or other third parti€se price of our common stock could decline if @nenore securities analysts downgrade our comrtark ©r if one or mot
securities analysts or other third parties pullisttcurate or unfavorable research about us oegaaslishing reports about us.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Neonode Technologies AB has a lease with Vasakrétetigheter AB for 2,723 square feet of office cgpéocated at Linnegatan 89D, Stockholm, Swede
approximately $8,000 per month including propegy (excluding VAT). The annual payment for this @paquates to approximately $93,000 per year inggudroperty ta
(excluding VAT). This lease is valid thru DecemiBdr, 2014, with a nine month notice period. The mEwitwill be extended for an additional three ydhitsis not terminate
according to the terms in the contract.

On April 15, 2012, Neonode Technologies AB entdrgd a lease with No Picnic for 2,853 square fdeatftice space located at Storgatan 23C, Stockh&wede
for approximately $14,000 per month including pndypéax (excluding VAT). The annual payment forstspace equates to approximately $174,000 perirygading propert
tax (excluding VAT). This lease is valid throughd5, 2013.

On March 22, 2012, we entered into a three yeaeledth 2350 Mission Investors LLC for 3,185 squet of office space located at 2350 Mission Gl@&Ivd
Suite 190, Santa Clara, CA 95054 USA. The inigalse payment is $7,007 per month, increasing &86$fer month over the term of the lease. Thielémsalid through Ju
31, 2015. The annual payment for this space equagsproximately $86,000 per year.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently involved in any material legedceedings. However, from time to time, we magdmee subject to additional legal proceedings, claiamd
litigation arising in the ordinary course of busieeincluding, but not limited to, employee, custéorand vendor disputes

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Stock Madnder the symbol NEON. As of January 22, 201&e were approximately 176 stockholders of recdmlr
common stock. However, we estimate there werecapately 4,228 stockholders as of January 22, 2@i@se shares are held in “street name” by braedsother
institutions on behalf of stockholders of record .

Fiscal Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 3C  December 31
Fiscal 201z
High $ 5.0C $ 6.5C $ 6.9¢ $ 4.9¢
Low $ 36C $ 2.9t 348 $ 3.4¢
Fiscal 2011
High $ 3.3 $ 44C % 47C % 5.97
Low $ 128 $ 2.9t 34C $ 4.0C
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There are no restrictions on our ability to payidinds; however, it is currently the intention air Board of Directors to retain all earnings, ifyafor use in oL
business and we do not anticipate paying cash efidsd in the foreseeable future. Any future deteatiom as to the payment of dividends will dependpag other factor
upon our earnings, capital requirements, opera#nglts and financial condition.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable.
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis should bel imaconjunction with the consolidated financialtsments and the notes thereto included in thisuAhReport.
Overview

Neonode develops and licenses MultiSensing™ toseh interfaces and optical multi-touch solutionas&l on zForce®ur patented touch technology, Neonode
developed a variety of features that sense an bbjsize, its pressure on a surface, its depth,elkscity and even its proximity to any type of suda Neonode licens
MultiSensing touch technology to Original Equipmétanufacturers (‘OEMs”) and Original Design Manufaers (“ODMs”)who embed our technology into devices
they produce and sell. Our technology licensing eh@dlows us to focus on the development of sohgifor multitouch enabled screens, and thus we do not manug
products or components. We license the right toziksece and Neonode MultiSensing software whicgetioer with standard components from partnerstei@aoptical touc
solution.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we hashsewstomers using our touchscreen technologyddyats that were shipping products to customershédean
additional seventeen customers with signed licagseements currently in the product developmegiestin most circumstances, our target custometshenle to successful
integrate our technology into their products arehtkell those products to their customers beforevilveeceive any cash from our technology liceageeements.

The number of customers shipping products has asetin 2012 compared to 2011 and 2010 as cusfmmeéucts incorporating our touch technology congptét
design phase and are released to the market. Tjogitywaf our license fees currently earned in 202@11 and 2010 are from customer shipments of @éf&tgaoducts. In tt
fourth quarter of 2012, Oregon Scientific begarpphmg its MEEP childrers tablet. We expect to have other customers tinbggpping products such as mobile pho
printers, tablets, GPS devices, childetéblets and automotive infotainment systems ib32Qicense fees earned from customer shipmeneRefaders are expectec
decrease as a percentage of total revenue asautsimer products are introduced to the markethénfourth quarter of 2012, Amazon discontinuegpginig its Kindle e-
Readers that incorporated our touch technology. Zemaccounted for 32% of our total net revenuedh2and 40% of our total net revenue in 2011. W' tdanticipat
receiving any future near-term revenues from Amazon

As of December 31, 2012, we had twefdyr signed technology license agreements withal@EMs. This compares with twelve and four sigtesshnology licens
agreements with global OEMs as of December 31, 20112010, respectively. Seven of our customersamently shipping products and we anticipate theill initiate
product shipments as they complete their final pobdievelopment and manufacturing cycle througRea®.

In the first quarter of 2013 to date, we signedtexdogy license agreements with four new custoritetee mobile phone, automotive and tablet marketaddition
we are currently developing prototype products aredengaged in product engineering design disaussiith numerous global OEMs who are in the prooéspialifying ou
touchscreen technology for incorporation in varipusducts such as printer products, GPS devicBgaalers, Tablet PCs, touch panels for automolhitassehold appliance
mobile phones and games and toys. The developmdrraduct release cycle for these products tyjyitakes six to eighteen months.
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Current and future drivers of the touchsa market include mobile phones, printers, autvaohousehold appliances, tablet PCs, e-Readavigation screens, etc.
The proliferation and mass market acceptance afhsereens have prompted new applications and wsesxisting and new offerings, thus making the paigbn ani
utilization of these modules one of the fastestgmg tech segments. The typical sales cycle idsigighteen months with new customers while exgstinstomer lead tim
are typically six to nine months. During the init@ycle, there are three phases: evaluation, desigd commercialization. In the evaluation phgsespects validate t
Neonode technology using a Neonode evaluation ridt may produce short runs of prototype productsiriguthe design phase, true product developmentsahatior
definition begins. This phase tends to be the ésh@nd delays typically occur which may extend téren of the overall cycle. In the final phasemeoercialization, th
customer enters into full production mode, shipslpcts to the market and Neonode earns its licenanue.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets are in conformity with accounting principtgnerally accepted in the United States of AmefiGRAAP”) anc
include the accounts of Neonode Inc. and its whollyned subsidiary based in Sweden, Neonode Techiesl@B.

All inter-company accounts and transactions have been eterifa consolidation. The accounting policies dffeg our financial condition and results of opevat
are more fully described in Note 2 to our consdédafinancial statements. Certain of our accoungialicies require the application of judgment bynagement in selectil
appropriate assumptions for calculating financg&ineates, which inherently contain some degreenckrtainty. Management bases its estimates onricist@xperience ar
various other assumptions that are believed tebsanable under the circumstances. The historparience and assumptions form the basis for makidgments about tl
reported carrying values of assets and liabilisied the reported amounts of revenue and expersesty not be readily apparent from other sourgetuial results may diffe
from these estimates under different assumptionsoaditions. We believe the following are critiatcounting policies and related judgments and eséismused in tt
preparation of our consolidated financial statement

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymvith GAAP requires making estimates and assuwngtithat affect, at the date of the consolidatedrftia
statements, the reported amounts of assets arilititab disclosure of contingent assets and liib§ and the reported amounts of revenue and egsef\ctual results cot
differ from these estimates. Significant estimatetude, but are not limited to, collectability atcounts receivable, recoverability of loinged assets, the valuation allowa
related to our deferred tax assets and the fairevaf options and warrants issued for stock-basetpensation.

Revenue Recognition
Engineering Services:

We may sell engineering consulting services toaustomers on a flat rate or hourly rate basis. @é®gnize revenue from these services when allefdtiowing
conditions are met: (1) evidence existed of anrgeaent with the customer, typically consistingagiurchase order or contract; (2) our services wertormed and risk
loss passed to the customer; (3) we completed #tleonecessary terms of the contract; (4) the amofirevenue to which we were entitled was fixedieterminable; and (
we believed it was probable that we would be abledilect the amount due from the customer. Toetktent that one or more of these conditions haseeh satisfied, v
defer recognition of revenue. Generally, we reé@grevenue as the engineering services stipulatddr the contract are completed and accepted byustomers.

Licensing Revenues:
We also derive revenue from the licensing of indiyndeveloped intellectual property (“IP"We enter into IP licensing agreements that genepabvide licenset
the right to incorporate our IP components in theducts with terms and conditions that vary loetisee. The IP licensing agreements generally dechunonexclusiy

license for the underlying IP. Fees under theseaagents may include license fees relating to o@anidProyalties payable following the productionduwyr licensees of produt
incorporating the licensed technology. The liceflas®ur IP has standalone value and can be usédeblycensee without maintenance and support.
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Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our accounts receivable are stated at net readizatdie. Our policy is to maintain allowances fstiraated losses resulting from the inability of austomers to mal
required payments. Credit limits are establisheduph a process of reviewing the financial histang stability of each customer. Where appropriatepbtain credit ratir
reports and financial statements of our customédrsnndetermining or modifying their credit limits.eNegularly evaluate the collectability of our teacceivable balanc
based on a combination of factors. When a custaatount balance becomes past due, we initiakegdia with the customer to determine the causi.idfdetermined th
the customer will be unable to meet its financialigation, such as in the case of a bankruptcydilideterioration in the customegroperating results or financial position
other material events impacting its business, wertea specific allowance to reduce the relatediveble to the amount we expect to recover. Shalllefforts fail to recove
the related receivable, we will writeff the account. We also record an allowance fbcustomers based on certain other factors, inofuthie length of time the receivables
past due and our historical collection experienith sustomers.

Product Research and Development

Research and development (“R&DEPsts are expensed as incurred. R&D costs consistiyrof personnel related costs in addition to samternal consultancy co
such as testing, certifying and measurements.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

We measure the cost of employee services receiveddhange for an award of equity instruments,uidiclg share options, based on the fair value ofathard ol
grant date, and recognize it as compensation egpever the period the employee is required to pi®gervices in exchange for the award, usuallw#sting period, net
estimated forfeitures. We account for equity instemts issued to noamployees at their fair value. The measurementfdatine fair value for the equity instruments isguis
determined at the earlier of (i) the date at whachommitment for performance by the consultantemdor is reached, or (ii) the date at which thesotiant or vendog
performance is complete. In the case of equityrumsénts issued to consultants, the fair value efejuity instruments is primarily recognized over term of the consulti
agreement. The fair value of the stock-based cosgiem is periodically rereasured and income or expense is recognized diimingesting term. When determining st
based compensation expense involving options amchnta, we determine the estimated fair value ¢ibog and warrants using the Black-Scholes optiizirg model.

Foreign Currency Trandation and Transaction Gains and L osses

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiasythie applicable local currency, the Swedish Krdiee translation from Swedish Krona to U.S. Dollarperforme
for balance sheet accounts using current exchatge in effect at the balance sheet date and domie statement accounts using a weighted averadpamge rate during t
period. Gains or (losses) resulting from transtatiwe included as a separate component of accuedutdher comprehensive income (loss). Gains oefosssulting fror
foreign currency transactions are included in galnend administrative expenses in the accompargongolidated statements of operations and were@®8} ($44,000) ar
($23,000) during the years ended December 31, 22021 and 2010, respectively. For the years endszkiber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, our foreign cayrémanslatiol
gains (losses) totaled ($8,000), $76,000 and $83@3pectively.

Net Loss per Share
Net loss per share amounts have been computed basthe weighted average number of shares of constamk outstanding during the period. Net lossghere
assuming dilution amounts from common stock eqeivia, is computed based on the weighted averagdetuai shares of common stock and potential comstonk

equivalents outstanding during the period. The imeid average number of shares of common stock ateigal common stock equivalents used in computiegnet loss p
share for the year ended December 31, 2012, 204 2@10, respectively, exclude the potential comistock equivalents, as the effect would be antitidiéu
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Comprehensive Loss

Our comprehensive loss includes foreign currenagdiation gains and losses as a result of consiolidal he cumulative amount of translation gaind &osses ai
reflected as a separate component of shareholelguity in accumulated other comprehensive income.

Cash Flow Information

Cash flows in foreign currencies have been condeibeU.S. dollars at an approximate weighted awveragchange rate for the respective reporting psridthe
weighted average exchange rate for the consoliddtgdments of operations was 6.78, 6.5 and 7.2diSWv Krona to one U.S. Dollar for the years endedember 31, 201
2011 and 2010, respectively. The exchange ratéhtoconsolidated balance sheets was 6.52 and @:8&ish Krona to one U.S. Dollar as of December2®1,2 and 201
respectively.

Deferred Revenue

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we have $2.1omiind $1.5 million, respectively, of deferrecelise fee revenue related to prepayments for fliteese fee
from three and one customers, respectively, antshdf $0.6 million and $0.4 million, respectivebf deferred engineering development fees fromen and four custome
respectively. We defer the license fees until weehaet all accounting requirements for revenue geitmn as per unit royalty products are distriltbte licensed by tt
Company’s customers and the engineering developfeernevenue until such time as the engineerinkwas been completed and accepted by our customers.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standddard (“FASB”) issued guidance that requires new disclosures dorvalue measurements and prov
clarification for existing disclosure requirementéie guidance is effective for interim and annuaiiqds beginning after December 15, 2009, excapgifoss presentation
activity in level 3 which is effective for annuatiods beginning after December 15, 2010, andrfi@rim periods in those years. We adopted the geiléor new disclosur
for fair value measurements and clarification faisgng disclosure requirements as of January 1,028nd there was no material impact on our cona@dl financie
statements. Additionally, we adopted the guidamrgarding level 3 activity on January 1, 2011 arete¢hwas no material impact to our consolidatedniired statements. S
Note 7,“Fair Value Measurementgd our consolidated financial statements includedwehere in this Annual Report for additional infation on the fair value of financ
instruments.

In May 2011, the FASB amended fair value measure¢raed disclosure guidance to achieve convergentte Imiiernational Financial Reporting Standards RE?).
The amended guidance modifies the measurementirofdtue, clarifies verbiage, and changes disclesur other requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS. @hilance i
effective during interim and annual periods begignafter December 15, 2011. We adopted the guidascef January 1, 2012 and there was no materjghé¢mon oL
consolidated financial statements.

Results of Operations
Net Revenue

Net revenue for the year ended December 31, 202$#al million, compared to $6.1 million and $44W(or the year ended December 31, 2011 and
respectively. Our net revenue for the year endedeBder 31, 2012 included $6.2 million from techiggidicense fees from product shipments from eigigtemers ar
$925,000 in nomecurring engineering services related to our teaen solution from fifteen customers. Our neenewe for the year ended December 31, 2011 incl@8e
million from technology license fees from four ausiers and $287,000 in n@eeurring engineering services related to our teagken solution from six customers. Undel
terms of one of our contracts entered into in 2@6,customer prepaid $3.0 million of technologefises prior to shipment of its first product. T30 million prepaymen
was included in deferred revenue and was amortiaegvenue as units were licensed or distributed.the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, @33&nd $1.
million in license fees related to units licenseddistributed under the $3.0 million prepaymentén&een recognized as revenue, respectively, anfl Becember 31, 201
$1.0 million remained in deferred revenue from ttustomer’s prepaymentOur net revenue for the year ended December 310 2@% $440,000 and includes $387,0C
fees for engineering design services from five @wsrs, $50,000 for the sale of components to orstomer, and $3,000 from technology license feeatedlto oL
touchscreen solution from one customer.
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As of December 31, 2012, we had twefdyr signed technology license agreements withal@EMs. This compares with twelve and four sigtehnology licens
agreements with global OEMs as of December 31, 20112010, respectively. Seven of our customersamently shipping products and we anticipate theill initiate
product shipments as they complete their final pobdievelopment and manufacturing cycle througRea®.

Gross Margin

Gross margin was $5.7 million for the year endedddeber 31, 2012 compared to $5.2 million and $10® fr the years ended December 31, 2011 and
respectively. Our cost of revenues includes thecatlicost of production of certain customer protegpcosts of company employed engineering persamelengineerir
consultants to complete the engineering designraontOur gross margin has increased due to thredse in our total revenue particularly our licefeserevenue. The grc
margin related to our license fees is 100% and vicense fees as a percentage of our total revielmuease our gross margin will increase.

Product Research and Development

Product research and development (“R&BXpenses for each of the year ended December 32, @6re $5.7 million compared to $1.9 million fasth the yeai
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. R&D costs dawistee cost of prototypes and other materialsisattants, and the amount of time our engineerigygadment spe
engaged in customer specific activities.

We continue to pursue and expand R&D expenditurethe development of our touchscreen and othentdobies. We have a development roadmap basedn
touchscreen and other technologies. As of Decerfither2012, our R&D department had twenty-six fulhéi employees. Our R&D department had eighteentifub-
employees compared to eight full-time employees @mal part-time consultant at December 31, 2011281d, respectively. Included in R&D expenses are approxima
$315,000 of noreash stock option and warrant expense for the geded December 31, 2012 compared to approximafellyo$0 and $0 for the same periods in 2011
2010, respectively.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing (“S&M'@xpenses for the year ended December 31, 2012%etenillion, compared to $1.8 million and $566,00the years ended Decem
31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. This increaseditR2as compared to 2011 and 2010 is primarily edlab an increase in sales personnel, marketiade tshows and tray
expenses. As of December 31, 2012, our sales anketimy department has twelve full-time employeespared to nine fullime employees and three employee
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Include8&M expenses are approximately $1.4 million efhwash stock option and warrant expense for the gade(
December 31, 2012 compared to approximately $99%@@05140,000 for the same periods in 2011 and,2@%pectively.

Our sales activities focus primarily on OEM custosnho will integrate our touchscreen technology iteir products. Our OEM customers will then seltl marke
their products incorporating our technology to thoeistomers.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative (“G&A®xpenses for the year ended December 31, 2012%eramillion compared to $3.5 million and $3.6 moifl for the years end
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The &serén the year ended December 31, 2012 compa@@iliband 2012 is primarily due to an increaseemdtount and lec
fees, particularly legal fees related to pateimds. As of December 31, 2012 we had seventifulé employees in our G&A department fulfilling megement and accounti
responsibilities compared to three employees ardpanttime consultant as of both December 31, 2011 ad@.2@cluded in G&A expenses are approximately $iilon of
non-cash stock option and warrant expense for the exeded December 31, 2012 compared to approxima#d9,800 and $2.1 million for the same periods ihi228nd 201(
respectively.

The slight decrease in 2011 as compared to 20f@n=rily related to a decrease in ncash fair value of warrants issued to employeesvilaa partially offset by &
increase in patent related legal fees and finacoasultant costs.

Amortization of Fair Value of Stock I ssued to Related Parties for Purchase of Neonode Technologies AB

On December 29, 2008, we entered into a Share BgehAgreement with Neonode Technologies AB andsthekholders of Neonode Technologies AB: Iwo .
SARL, Wirelesstoys AB, and Athemis Ltd (the "NeoroBechnologies AB Stockholdersfursuant to which we agreed to acquire all of #seiéd and outstanding share
Neonode Technologies AB in exchange for the isseiafid 9,800 shares of the Comp’s Series A Preferred stock. Pursuant to the tefitise Share Exchange Agreem
upon the closing of the transaction, Neonode Teldgies AB became a wholly owned subsidiary of themPany. The Neonode Technologies AB Stockholdezsor wer
employees of us and/or Neonode AB, and as such mekted parties.

The fair value of the conversion feature of theB09,shares of Series A Preferred shares issudtbtretated parties to acquire Neonode Technologfeshat wert
converted into a total of 9,516,447 shares of @ammon stock was $9.5 million based on our stockepan March 31, 2009, the date our shareholdenapg the increas:
conversion ratio. Because this transaction wasngisdly the issuance of shares to key employeethfar continued service to enhance the Compdrey$6.5 million revise
fair value of the common stock has been amortirezbtnpensation expense at the rate of $1.6 mifiemquarter for six quarters beginning January0D92 The amortizatic
of the $9.5 million in compensation expense reldtedvalue of the stock issued to the related st acquire Neonode Technologies AB was completedune 30, 201
For the year ended December 31, 2010, $3.2 miiambeen recorded as compensation expense in mepliciated statement of operations.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, @@s $288,000, compared to $179,000 for the greded December 31, 2010. The increase is primauidyto a
increase in the outstanding debt balance from #8l&n at December 31, 2010 to $4.2 million foetmajority of the year ended December 31, 2011.dilenot have ar
interest expense for the year ended December 32, 20

Foreign Currency Trandlation and Transaction Gains and L osses

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiasythie applicable local currency, the Swedish Krdiee translation from Swedish Krona to U.S. Dollarperforme
for balance sheet accounts using current exchaatge in effect at the balance sheet date and ¢ome statement accounts using a weighted averaf@ege rate during t
period. Gains or losses resulting from transladomincluded as a separate component of accumudétied comprehensive loss. Gains or losses reguttim foreign currenc
transactions are included in general and admitiiegr@xpenses in the accompanying consolidatedrstaits of operations and were $50,000, $44,008%38@00 during tt
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010ctasde. Foreign currency translation gains (lojsesre ($8,000), $76,000 and $33,000 during thesyeaded Decemt
31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Non-Cash Items Related to Debt Discounts and Deferred Financing Fees and the Valuation of Conversion Features and Warrants

Non-cash items related to debt discounts and defemeasiding fees and the valuation of conversion fiestand warrants for the year ended December 311, &@:
$14.7 million, compared to $20.0 million for theayeended December 31, 2010. The amount in 201ades|$8.6 million in net change in derivative liaigis, $4.3 million o
debt discount and debt issuance cost amortiza$ibrs, million in excess amount of debt discount ggiped as interest expense associated with derésgtand $0.4 millic
associated with the fair value of shares issuedbus interest related to the automatic conversiothe Senior Convertible Secured Noteg011. The amount in 20
includes $16.3 million in net change in derivatiiabilities, $2.7 million of debt discount and debsuance cost amortization, and $1.0 million icesss amount of de
discount recognized as interest expense assodiéttederivatives.

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Loss on extinguishment of debt for the year endedenber 31, 2010 of $2.4 million was primarily tlesult of the warrant repricing and debt extengipancinc
transaction. During September and October 201Mfale holders of the convertible notes and thieldrs of the stock purchase warrants issued ir2@@9 and 2010 Seni
Secured Convertible Debt Financing Transactioneejto extend the maturity date of their convestitdbt from December 31, 2010 to June 30, 2014addition, holders «
2,766,857 stock purchase warrants also agreedeiwisg their previously granted thrgear warrants for a discounted exercise price.cboalance with relevant account
guidance, the transaction qualified for debt exdisgment accounting.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 0% in the year endedebdxer 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Werded valuation allowances in 2012 and 2011 foenefi ta:
assets related to net operating losses due tantertainty of realization.

Net Loss

As a result of the factors discussed above, werdecba net loss of $9.3 million for the year en@etember 31, 2012, compared to a net loss of $hillibn anc
$31.6 million for the years ended December 31, 28id 2010, respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any transactions, arrangementgher celationships with unconsolidated entities tiv@ reasonably likely to affect our liquidity capital resource
other than the operating leases noted above. We mawspecial purpose or limited purpose entities giovide offbalance sheet financing, liquidity, or market cedit risk
support; or engage in leasing, hedging, researdhdamelopment services, or other relationships ¢xabse us to liability that is not reflected oe flce of the consolidat
financial statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our liquidity is dependent on many factors, inchgisales volume, operating profit and the efficient asset use and turnover. Our future liquiditi e affectet
by, among other things:

actual versus anticipated licensing of our techgy|l

our actual versus anticipated operating expet

the timing of our OEM customer product shipme

the timing of payment for our technology licensagyeements
our actual versus anticipated gross profit mar

our ability to raise additional capital, if necegsand

our ability to secure credit facilities, if necess:
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At December 31, 2012, we had cash of $9.1 millamcompared to $12.9 million at December 31, 2011.

Working capital (current assets less current liaes) was $7.7 million at December 31, 2012, coragao an adjusted working capital of $13.6 mill@mnDecembe
31, 2011.

Net cash used in operating activities for the ysated December 31, 2012 was primarily the resuf @f net loss of approximately $9.3 million anijl §pproximatel
$1.9 million in net cash provided by changes inrapirg assets and liabilities, primarily accourgseivable and deferred revenue. Cash used to fentbsses is reduced
approximately $3.6 million in non-cash operatingenses, mainly comprised of depreciation and amaiitin and stock-based compensation.

Accounts receivable decreased approximately $lll®miat December 31, 2012 compared with Decembier 2011, primarily as a result of net revenue
approximately $2.3 million in the fourth quarter 2012 compared to approximately $4.0 million in fbarth quarter of 2011. During 2012 and 2011, werensuccessful
collecting cash from sales to our customers subathnin accordance with our standard payment &etathose customers.

Deferred revenue increased approximately $0.8amilluring 2012 primarily as a result of additiofieénse technology agreements and engineeringgsogntere
into during 2012 as compared to 2011.

Net cash used in operating activities for the yeaded December 31, 2011 was primarily the resultiod net loss of approximately $17.1 million i
(i) approximately $1.6 million in net cash useddhanges in operating assets and liabilities, milynaccounts receivable and deferred revenue. @ash to fund net losses
reduced by approximately $15.3 million in net nasit operating expenses, mainly comprised of shasled compensation and discounts and deferredciimpfees and tt
valuation of conversion features and warrants.

Accounts receivable increased approximately $3IBamiat December 31, 2011 compared with Decembker 2010, primarily as a result of net revenue
approximately $4.0 million in the fourth quarter 2011 compared to approximately $81,000 in thetfoguarter of 2010. During 2011 and 2010, we werecsssful i
collecting cash from sales to our customers subathnin accordance with our standard payment &tathose customers.

Deferred revenue increased approximately $1.4aniliuring 2011 primarily as a result of additiohe¢nse technology agreements and engineering gisogntere
into during 2011 as compared to 2010.

Net cash used in operating activities for the yeaded December 31, 2010 was primarily the resulfiod net loss of approximately $31.6 million i
(i) approximately $0.04 million in net cash useddhanges in operating assets and liabilities. @aghl to fund net losses is reduced by approxim&tel million of noneast
stockbased compensation, $2.4 million of loss on exiistyment of debt and $20.0 million on discounts deterred financing fees and the valuation of cosieer feature
and warrants.

In the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and, 2 purchased $310,000, $114,000 and $14,000ectgely of fixed assets, consisting primarily @neputer
and engineering equipment.

Net cash provided by financing activities totalguprximately $200,000 during the year ended DecerBlie2012 from the exercise of warrants for sharfesui
common stock.

Net cash provided by financing activities for theay ended December 31, 2011 was approximately $a#llibn, which consist of net proceeds of approately $4.:
million from issuances of convertible debt, netqaeds of approximately $500,000 from exercise afavds and net proceeds of approximately $10.8anifrom issuances
common stock. Such increases were offset by repatyaieonvertible debt of approximately $30,000.

Net cash provided by financing activities for treay ended December 31, 2010 was approximatelyrdlibn, which consist of net proceeds of approxieia $1.¢

million from issuances of convertible debt, netqeeds of approximately $50,000 from exercise ofrargs and net proceeds of approximately $2.4 milffom issuances
common stock.
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Historically, the majority of our cash has beenvided by borrowings from senior secured notes ardgb notes that have been convertible into shafesur
common stock or from the sale of our common stawk @mmon stock purchase warrants to private iovesDuring 2011, we raised approximately $15.9iomlthrougt
debt and equity offerings. We believe we haveisieffit cash to operate for at least the next tweleaths.

In the future, we may require sources of capitadddition to cash on hand to continue operatiomstamplement our strategy. If our operations @b mecome ca:s
flow positive, we may be forced to seek credit faeilities from financial institutions, additiongkivate equity investment or debt arrangementsaBBurances can be git
that we will be successful in obtaining such addisil financing on reasonable terms, or at all.déquate funds are not available on acceptable tevmet all, we may
unable to adequately fund our business plans azwlitl have a negative effect on our business/teestioperations and financial condition. In aduit if funds are availabl
the issuance of equity securities or securitiesedible into equity could dilute the value of sasuof our common stock and cause the market pri€alf and the issuance
debt securities could impose restrictive coventirascould impair our ability to engage in certhirsiness transactions.

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiasythe applicable local currency, the Swedish Kraral is subject to foreign currency exchange riste Any
increase or decrease in the exchange rate of theDllar compared to the Swedish Krona will impdebnode’s future operating results.

ITEM7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Not applicable
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Neonode Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Neonode Inc. (a Delaware corporatind)subsidiary (the “Companyés of December 31, 2012 and 2(
and the related consolidated statements of opesmt@mmprehensive loss, stockholdemuity (deficit), and cash flows for each of theethyears in the period ended Decer
31, 2012. These consolidated financial statemergstiee responsibility of the Compasymanagement. Our responsibility is to express @nian on these consolidal
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlo(United States). Those standards require tieaplan an
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetathether the financial statements are free deri@ misstatement. An audit includes examininyatest basis, eviden
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the @iahrstatements. An audit also includes assesdirgatcounting principles used and significant estirm made
management, as well as evaluating the overall figstatement presentation. We believe that oditaprovide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetsereferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the financial position of Neonode land subsidiary as
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of dpeirations and their cash flows for each of tired years in the period ended December 31, 2@81&riformity witt
accounting principles generally accepted in thetéthStates of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States), the Compaasyinternal control over financ
reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on therieriestablished imternal Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadrtbe
Treadway Commission and our report dated Marcl2@43 expressed an unqualified opinion on the éffeess of the Company’s internal control overfiicial reporting.

/sl KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

Costa Mesa, California
March 14, 2013
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Non-current asset:
Deposit
Property and equipment, net
Total non-current assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note

Stockholders' equity
Series A Preferred stock, 444,541 shares authowabdpar value
of $0.001 per share; 83 shares issued and outatp
at December 31, 2012 and 2011. (In the event sbtlision,
each share of Series A Preferred stock has a &tjoit preferenc
equal to par value of $0.001 over the shares wingon stock’
Series B Preferred stock, 54,425 shares authowitbdoar
value of $0.001; 95 and 114 shares issued andanudiisig a
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. (In teateof dissolution
each share of Series B Preferred stock has a &tjaidpreference equ
to par value of $0.001 over the shares of comnboecky
Common stock, 70,000,000 shares authorize
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, withvpare of
$0.001; 33,331,182 and 32,778,993 shares issue
outstanding at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respéc
Additional paic¢-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive incc
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetbessolidated financial statements.

NEONODE INC.
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As of As of
December 31 December 31
2012 2011
$ 9,097 $ 12,94(

2,12: 3,34t

55C 234

11,77( 16,51¢

68 --

33C 108

39¢€ 108

$ 12,16¢ $ 16,627
$ 53¢ $ 447
804 601

2,72¢ 1,90¢

4,06¢ 2,95¢

4,06¢ 2,95/

33 33

146,67" 142,95!

5 13
(138,61 (129,329

8,10( 13,67

$ 12,16¢ $ 16,627




NEONODE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December &

2012 2011 2010

Net revenue $ 7137 % 6,067 $ 44C
Cost of revenues 1,46¢ 90¢ 268
Gross margin 5,672 5,15¢ 172
Operating expense
Product research and developm 5,741 1,85¢ 1,87:
Sales and marketir 4,372 1,812 56€
General and administratiy 4,721 3,53¢ 3,58¢
Amortization of fair value of stock issut

to related parties for purchase of Neon

Technologies AB (formerly Cypressen AB) -- -- 3,16¢

Total operating expenses 14,83¢ 7,207 9,19¢
Operating loss (9,162) (2,049 (9,027)

Other expense
Interest and other expen -- (28¢) (179

Loss on extinguishment of de -- (2,416
Non-cash items related to debt discounts

deferred financing fees and the valuatior

conversion features and warrants -- (14,73%) (19,967)
Total other expense -- (15,02%) (22,55%)
Loss before provision for income tax (9,162) (17,067 (31,587)
Provision for income taxes 12E 78 45
Net loss $ (9,287 $ (17,145  $ (31,62¢)
Loss per common shar
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.28) $ (069 $ (1.79)
Basic and dilute~ weighted average numb

of common shares outstanding 33,00: 26,78¢ 18,29:

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.

29




NEONODE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)

Years ended December

2012 2011 2010
Net loss $ 9,287 $ 17,149 $ (31,626
Other comprehensive income (los
Foreign currency translation gain (loss) (8) 76 33
Total comprehensive loss $ (9,295 $ (17,069 $ (31,599

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements
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Balances, January 1
2010

Employee stock option
and warrant compensatic
expens¢

Amortization of fair value
of stock issued to relatec
parties for purchase of
Neonode Technologies #
(formerly AB Cypresser

Reclassification of
derivative liabilities to
additional pai-in capital

Common stock issued to
settle lawsui

Exchange of Series A
preferred stock for
common stocl

Exchange of Series B
preferred stock for
common stocl

Proceeds for issuance ol
warrants

Common stock issued
upon conversion of debt
including beneficial
conversion feature
amounts

Common stock issued to
brokers

Common stock issued to
investors in the 2010
warrant repricing
financing transactio

NEONODE INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)
(in thousands)

Series A Accumulated
Preferred Series A Series B Common Other
Stock Preferred Preferred Stock Series B Preferred Stock Additional Comprehensive Total Stockholders’
Shares Stock Shares Stock Shares Common Paid-in Income Accumulated Equity
Issued Amount Issued Amount Issued Stock Amount Capital (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)
3% = 18 - 16,65¢ $ 17 $ 74,28¢ $ (96) $ (80,557 $ (6,34¢)
- - - - - - 2,26 - - 2,26
- - - - - - 3,16¢ - - 3,16¢
- - - - - - 19,28¢ - - 19,28¢
- - - - 49¢ - 647 - - 647
©) - - - 1,57i 2 ¥ - - -
- - (] - 73 - - - - -
- - - - - - 49 - - 49
- - - - 18€ - 17¢ - - 17¢
- - - - 57 - 65 - - 65
- - - - 2,767 3 2,41¢ - - 2,421
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Series A
Preferred
Stock
Shares
Issued

Series A
Preferred Stock
Amount

Series B
Preferred Stock
Shares
Issued

Common

Series B Preferred Stock Common

Stock
Amount

Shares Stock
Issued Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total Stockholdere
Equity
(Deficit)

Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Net loss

33

(31,620

33

(31,626

Balances, December 31, 20!

Stock option and warrant
compensation expense to
employees and vendc

Common stock issued upon
exercise of warrani

Proceeds from sale of commu
stock, net of offering cos

Reclassification of derivative
liabilities to additional paid-in
capital

Fair value of warrants issued
connection with issuance of
2011 senior secured converti
debt

Exchange of Series A preferr
stock for common stoc

Exchange of Series B preferr
stock for common stoc

Common stock issued upon
conversion of outstanding
convertible debt and accrued
bonus incomt

Common stock issued for
settlement of accrued expen:

Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Net loss

= 21,817 22

= 543 1

= 3,00 3

= 7,31 7

102,36(

55(C

514

10,78¢

20,07t

7,61%

12C

(63)

76

(112,18)

(17,14

(9,869

55(C

51¢

10,787

20,07t

7,622

12C

76

(17,14%)

Balances, December 31, 20:

= 32,77¢ 33

32

142,95!

13

(129,32))

13,67¢




Stock option
and warrant
compensatio
expense to
employees

Common
stock issued
upon exercis
of common
stock
warrants

Exchange of
Series B
preferred
stock for
common
stock

Foreign
currency
translation
adjustmen

Net loss

Balances,
December
31, 2012

Series A Series B Accumulated
Preferred Series A Preferred Series B Common Other Total
Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common  Additional Comprehensive Stockholders’
Shares Stock Shares Stock Shares Stock Paid-in Income Accumulated Equity
Issued Amount Issued Amount Issued Amount Capital (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)
- - - - 3,49¢ - - 3,49¢
- - 55C - 228 - - 22t
- - 2 - - - - -
- - - - - ® - ®
i i, - = = - (9,287) (9,287)
-$ - 33,33' $ 33 % 146,67 $ 5% (138,619 $ 8,10(

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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NEONODE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Years Ended December &

2012 2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss $ 9,287 $ (17,14 $ (31,62¢)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Stocl-based compensatic 3,49¢ 55C 5,43(
Fair value of common stock issued in settlem - - 647
Depreciation and amortizatic 97 26 11
Loss on extinguishment of de - - 2,41¢
Debt discounts and deferred financing fees aad/étuation of conversion features and warr. - 14,73t 19,96
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 1,25: (3,22¢) (14¢€)
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (296€) (79) (16)
Accounts payable and accrued expetr 23¢ 322 (414)
Deposits (68) - -
Deferred revenue 81¢ 1,36¢ 54(C
Net cash used in operating activities (3,744) (3,457) (3,195
Cash flows used in investing activitie
Purchase of property and equipment (310) (114) (14)
Cash flow from financing activitie:
Proceeds from issuance of convertible ¢ - 4,22¢ 1,591
Repayment of convertible de - (25) -
Proceeds from exercise of warra 22¢ 51k 49
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, warramicieg and preferred stock - 10,78 2,421
Net cash provided by financing activities 228 15,50¢ 4,067
Effect of exchange rates on cz (12) 91 25
Net (decrease) increase in i (3,849 12,02¢ 882
Cash at beginning of year 12,94( 911 28
Cash at end of year $ 9,097 $ 12,94( $ 911
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ - $ 27 $ 18C
Cash paid for income taxes $ 128 $ 78 $ 45
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactiam fnvesting and financing activities:
Exchange of preferred stock for common stock $ - $ - $ 80¢€
Reclassification of derivative liabilities to addital paidin capital upon conversion of debt and exercis
warrants $ - $ 20,07t $ 19,28¢
Value of shares of common stock and warrants issuiduiokers in connection with financing, recordse
debt issuance costs and debt discount $ - $ - $ 12¢
Debt issuance costs recorded as part of 2011 finghi@nsaction $ - $ 3B $ -
Debt discount recorded as part of convertible detsncing transactions, including warrants issuel
financing transactions $ - $ 4,22¢ $ 1,761
Accounts payable converted in 2010 convertible défering $ - $ - $ 163
Accrued expenses settle with shares of common stock $ - $ 12C $ =
Conversion of debt and accrued interest to sh&dresromon stock $ - $ 722: $ 17¢
Debt issuance costs recorded in connection of eebtguishment transactions $ - $ 20,07t $ 4,33¢
Reduction of derivative liabilities upon conversioidebt and exercise of warrants $ - $ - $ 8

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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NEONODE INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Nature of the business and operation
Background and Organization

Neonode Inc. was incorporated in the State of Dafavin 1997 as the parent of Neonode AB, a comfiamyded in February 2004 and incorporated in Swe@e
December 29, 2008, we entered into a share exchaggement with AB Cypressen nr 9683 (renamed Nam®fi@chnologies AB), a Swedish engineering company
Neonode Technologies AB became our wholly ownedisiidry.

On March 25, 2011, we filed a Certificate of Amerathof our Amended and Restated Certificate of ipomation affecting a reverse stock split of ther(any’s
issued and outstanding shares of common stock eefdrped stock at a ratio of twenty-five-to-oneg(ttReverse Split”).The Certificate of Amendment provided that €
twenty-five (25) outstanding shares of the Corpgorés common stock, par value $0.001 per share, wdsaeged and combined, automatically, without furthetion, intc
one (1) share of common stock, and each twenty{#% outstanding shares of the Corporatiopreferred stock, par value $0.001 per share,exesanged and combin
automatically, without further action, into one @hare of preferred stock. The Reverse Split wataded effective on March 28, 2011 and has bedrated in this Annui
Report on Form 10-K.

Operations
Neonode Inc., develops and licenses MultiSensinglith user interfaces and optical multi-touch sohai The cornerstone of our interface solutiorg-isrce®,our
patented touch technology. Neonode licenses itgi$rising touch technology to Original EquipmentiMiacturers (“‘OEMs”) and Original Design Manufaetts (“ODMs”)
who embed Neonode technology into devices that phegiuce and sell.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The preparation of our consolidated financial steets is in conformity with accounting principlesngrally accepted in the United States of AmeriGAQP”) anc
include the accounts of Neonode Inc. and its wholiyied Swedish subsidiary Neonode Technologies ABintercompany accounts and transactions hawen liminated i
consolidation.
Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith GAAP requires making estimates and assuongtithat affect, at the date of the financial stegets, th
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, discl®f contingent assets and liabilities and tiporeed amounts of revenue and expenses. Actudtse=uld differ from thes
estimates. Significant estimates include, but arelimited to, collectability of accounts receivapkecoverability of londived assets, the valuation allowance related tt
deferred tax assets, and the fair value of optemswarrants issued for stock-based compensation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We have not had any liquid investments other thammal cash deposits with bank institutions to d#té the future the Company purchases cash etgrits, th
Company will consider all highly liquid investmentsth original maturities of three months of leesbe cash equivalents.
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Concentration of Cash Balance Risks

Cash balances are maintained at various bank®ibtited States of America (“U.S.&nhd Sweden. At times, deposits held with finanicigfitutions in the U.S. m:
exceed the amount of insurance provided by theraé®eposit Insurance Corporation (“FDICWhich provided basic deposit coverage with limigsta $250,000 per owni
In addition to the basic insurance deposit coverttige FDIC is providing temporary unlimited coveedgr noninterest bearing transaction accounts until Decer8he2012
The Swedish government provides insurance covarpde 100,000 euro per customer and covers deposiibtypes of accounts. As of December 31, 2@&,Company hi
approximately $8.1 million in excess of insurariots.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our accounts receivable are stated at net readizatdie. Our policy is to maintain allowances fstiraated losses resulting from the inability of austomers to mal
required payments. Credit limits are establishedufh a process of reviewing the financial histang stability of each customer. Where appropriatepbtain credit ratir
reports and financial statements of the customamwdetermining or modifying its credit limits. Wegularly evaluate the collectability of our trageeivable balances ba:
on a combination of factors. When a customerccount balance becomes past due, we initiategdia with the customer to determine the causi.isf determined that ti
customer will be unable to meet its financial oatign, such as in the case of a bankruptcy fildegerioration in the customsrbperating results or financial position or o
material events impacting its business, we recosgeific allowance to reduce the related rece&véblthe amount we expect to recover. Should &frisffail to recover tr
related receivable, we will writeff the account. We also record an allowance fbcadtomers based on certain other factors incytlire length of time the receivables
past due and historical collection experience withtomers. An allowance for doubtful accounts m@snecessary at December 31, 2012 and1201

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, netafnaulated depreciation and amortization. Deprigiaind amortization are computed using the sttedigh methor
based upon estimated useful lives of the assdtdlawss:

Estimated useful live

Computer equipmer 3 years
Furniture and fixture 5 years

Equipment purchased under capital leases is aradrtin a straight-line basis over the estimatedulifiéd of the asset or term of the lease, whichiéseashorter.

Upon retirement or sale of property and equipmeost and accumulated depreciation and amortizatienremoved from the accounts and any gains oesoas
reflected in the consolidated statement of opemnatiMaintenance and repairs are charged to exgeniseurred.

Long-Lived Assets

We assess any impairment by estimating the futasé dlow from the associated asset in accordanttereevant accounting guidance. If the estimatediscounte
future cash flow related to these assets decreasee useful life is shorter than originally estited, we may incur charges for impairment of thessets. The impairment
based on the estimated discounted cash flow assdoéth the asset. At December 31, 2012, weebelithere is no impairment of our lofiged assets. There can be
assurance, however, that market conditions willahainge or sufficient commercial demand for ourdpads and services will materialize, which couldulein impairment ¢
long-lived assets in the future.
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Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction Gains and Losses

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiasythie applicable local currency, the Swedish Krdiee translation from Swedish Krona to U.S. Dollarperforme
for balance sheet accounts using current exchaatge in effect at the balance sheet date and ¢ome statement accounts using a weighted averaf@ege rate during t
period. Gains or (losses) resulting from transhatioe included as a separate component of accueduteher comprehensive income (loss). Gains osé€k)sresulting frol
foreign currency transactions are included in gainend administrative expenses in the accompamongolidated statements of operations and were@®8})) ($44,000) ar
($23,000) during the years ended December 31, 22P] and 2010, respectively. Foreign currencystedion gains (losses) were ($8,000), $76,000 &8J090 during th
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 ctesge.

Concentration of Credit and Business Risks

In the short term, we anticipate that we will dehemn a limited number of customers for substantiall of our future revenue. Failure to anticipaterespon
adequately to technological developments in ounsty, changes in customer or supplier requirementshanges in regulatory requirements or industandards, or ai
significant delays in the development or introdostof products or services, could have a matedeéese effect on our business, operating resuttash flows.

Our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2012dwadrom fifteen customers. Our net revenuesHerytear ended December 31, 2012 were earned fremty
customers. Our customers are located in the UiBgpe and Asia. Customers who accounted for 10%hare of our net revenues during the year ended iDeee 31, 201
are as follows:

e Amazon- 32%
e KOBO Inc.- 26%
e Sony Corporatiol- 17%

Our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2011dwasfrom five customers. Our net revenues forytar ended December 31, 2011 were earned from
customers. Our customers are located in the UiBgpe and Asia. Customers who accounted for 10%hare of our net revenues during the year ended iDeee 31, 201
are as follows:

e Amazon- 40%

e Barnes & Noble- 26%
e Sony Corporatiol- 21%
e KOBOInc.- 11%

Our net revenues for the year ended December 3D, @@re earned from seven customers. Customersaadwunted for 10% or more of our net revenues dutie
year ended December 31, 2010 are as follows:

e Sony Corporatiol- 46%
e Sony Ericsson Mobile Communications + 38%

Risk and Uncertainties
Our longterm success is dependent on us obtaining sufficepital to fund our operations and to develop mnaducts, and bringing such products to the wade
market to obtain sufficient sales volume to be ipaibfe. To achieve these objectives, we may beiredjto raise additional capital through publicpoivate financings or oth

arrangements. If additional capital is needed waotbe assured that such financings will be allElan terms attractive to us, if at all. Such ficiags may be dilutive to o
stockholders and may contain restrictive covenants.
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We are subject to certain risks common to technelmgsed companies in similar stagésdevelopment. Principal risks include risks relgtto the uncertainty
market acceptance for our products, a history s6ds since inception, our ability to remain conjvetin response to new technologies, the costiefend, as well as risks
losing patents and intellectual property rightselé&ance on a limited number of suppliers, the utadety of demand for our products in certain maskeur ability to manag
growth effectively, our dependence on key membérmuo management and development team, our lingtggbrience in conducting operations internationalyd our abilit
to obtain adequate capital to fund future operation

We are exposed to a number of economic and indéstitprs that could result in portions of our teclwgy becoming obsolete or not gaining market atzorege
These factors include, but are not limited to, texdbgical changes in our markets, our ability toetnehanging customer requirements, competitivespires in products a
prices, and the ability of our customers to manuifi@cand sell their products that incorporate eahhology.

A significant portion of our business is conductedurrencies other than the U.S. dollar (the auyein which our consolidated financial statemearts reported
primarily the Swedish Krona and, to a lesser exttér Euro. We incur a significant portion of owpenses in Swedish Krona, including a significamttipn of our produc
research and development expenses and a substantiah of our general and administrative expenéssa result, appreciation of the value of the @ale Krona relative 1
the other currencies, particularly the U.S. dolkkanld adversely affect operating results. We docoorently undertake hedging transactions to covercurrency exposure, |
we may choose to hedge a portion of our currenppsuxre in the future as it deems appropriate.

Our future success depends on market acceptarme téchnology as well as our ability to introdumav versions of our technology to meet the evolviagds of ot
customers.

Revenue Recognition
Engineering Services:

We may sell engineering consulting services tocustomers on a flat rate or hourly rate basis. @é®gnize revenue from these services when allefdtiowing
conditions are met: (1) evidence existed of anngeaent with the customer, typically consistingagiurchase order or contract; (2) our services wertormed and risk
loss passed to the customer; (3) we completed #tleonecessary terms of the contract; (4) the amofirevenue to which we were entitled was fixedieterminable; and (
we believed it was probable that we would be abledllect the amount due from the customer. Toetktent that one or more of these conditions haseeh satisfied, v
defer recognition of revenue. Generally, we reé@grevenue as the engineering services stipulaiddr the contract are completed and accepted byustomers.

Licensing Revenues:

We also derive revenue from the licensing of inadisndeveloped intellectual property (“IP"We enter into IP licensing agreements that genepabivide licensee
the right to incorporate our IP components in theducts with terms and conditions that vary lmetisee. The IP licensing agreements generally dechunonexclusiy
license for the underlying IP. Fees under theseegents may include license fees relating to ouari@ royalties payable following the sale by ogetisees of produr
incorporating the licensed technology. The licefaseour IP has standalone value and can be uselebjcensee without maintenance and suppatof September 30, 20:
Neonode met all the accounting requirements foemee recognition as per unit royalty products as&iduted or licensed by the Compi’s customers. Prior to Septemb
30, 2011, we deferred the technology license feemee until such time as the warranty period séifmd in the license agreement expired because dveatihave sufficiel
historical experience in estimating potential watyacosts. For technology license arrangementsdbatot require significant modification or custaation of the underlyir
technology, we recognize technology license revemhben: (1) we enter into a legally binding arrangamwith a customer for the license of technolo@y;the custome
distributes or license the products; (3) the custopayment is deemed fixed or determinable and dfeeontingencies or significant uncertainties; g4yl collection i
reasonably assured.
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From June 2010 to September 30, 2011, we enteted htechnology license contracts with customrsing that time there were no warranty relatedsogurre:
for any customer products after they had been setééo market. During the quarter ended Septenmbhe2@®L1, the Company performed an analysis andrdeted that it ha
sufficient historical evidence regarding estimatedranty costs and therefore began recognizingntdolyy license fee revenues, net of warranty cdistsyy, as the produc
incorporating the Neonode technology are distrihutelicensed by our customers, assuming all attxegnue recognition criteria has been met. Ourocosts report to us t
quantities of products distributed by them after ¢éimd of the reporting period stipulated in thetiam, generally 30 to 45 days after the end oftioath or quarter.

Explicit return rights are not offered to customédrsere have been no returns through December@®. 2
Software Products:

We may derive revenues from software licensingssaWe will account for the licensing of software accordance with accounting guidance and suchaguai
requires judgment, including whether a softwarargement includes multiple elements, and if so,thérevendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOBT)fair value exists fc
those elements.

For software license arrangements that do not reaignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we will recognize new softevdicens:
revenue when: (1) we enter into a legally bindinguagement with a customer for the license of saféw(2) we deliver the products; (3) customer paryhis deemed fixed
determinable and free of contingencies or signifieancertainties; and (4) collection is reasonasigured.

We allocate revenues to all deliverables basedein telative selling price using a specific hiefay. The hierarchy is as follows: vendspecific objective eviden
(“VSOE"), third-party evidence of selling price (PE”") or best estimate of selling price (“BESP”).

When a sale involves multiple elements, we wilbedite the entire fee from the arrangement to easpective element based on VSOE of fair value andgniz
revenue when each elementevenue recognition criteria are met. VSOE afValue for each element is established based@prike charged when the same element i<
separately. We have established VSOE for our sofWeenses based on historical staboiRe sales to third parties or from the stateéweh rates contained in the custo
contracts. Maintenance service revenue is recodrinea straight-line basis over the support period.

We have not yet demonstrated VSOE for the professiservices that are rendered in conjunction withsoftware license sales. In accordance witthteearchy w:
would attempt to establish the selling price offessional services using TPE. Our product contsimsificant differentiation such that the compaeapticing of products wit
similar functionality cannot be obtained. We argi¢glly not able to obtain TPE for professionahsees.

When we are unable to establish selling pricesgugiBOE or TPE, we use BESP. The objective of BESS#8 determine the price at which we would transasale i
professional services were sold on a stand-alosis HAESP is generally used for offerings thatraretypically sold on a stand-alone basis or fghhi customized offerings.

We will also continue to defer revenues that regmesindelivered postelivery engineering support until the engineesngport has been completed and the sofi
product is accepted. To date, we have not soldsaftware products.

Deferred Revenue
From time-to-time the Company receives pre-paymnts its customers related to future servicesubure license fee revenue®/e defer the license fees until

have met all accounting requirements for revenwsgeition as per unit royalty products are distrgbior licensed by the Compasytustomers and the enginee
development fee revenue until such time as theneeging work has been completed and accepted byustomers.
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Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsiegicosts amounted to approximately $312,000, $®0land $28,000 for the years ended December @2,
2011 and 2010, respectively.

Product Research and Development

Research and development (“R&DEPsts are expensed as incurred. R&D costs consistiyrof personnel related costs in addition to samternal consultancy co
such as testing, certifying and measurements.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

We measure the cost of employee services receiveddhange for an award of equity instrumentsuiticlg stock options, based on the fair value ofaard on th
grant date, and recognize the value as compensatimense over the period the employee is requirgntdvide services in exchange for the award, listia¢ vesting periot
net of estimated forfeitures.

We account for equity instruments issued to employees at their fair value. The measurementfdatie fair value for the equity instruments isdus determine
at the earlier of (i) the date at which a committfen performance by the consultant or vendor ached, or (ii) the date at which the consultantendor’s performance
complete. In the case of equity instruments isgoezbnsultants, the fair value of the equity instamts is primarily recognized over the term of ¢besulting agreement. T
fair value of the stock-based compensation is p@#ly re-measured and income or expense is rézedmuring the vesting term.

When determining stock-based compensation expewsdving options and warrants, we determine thereged fair value of options and warrants using Bleck-
Scholes option pricing model.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax liabilities and assetstfe expected future tax consequences of itenththee been included in the consolidated finarstiaiements or t:
returns. We estimate income taxes based on raeféeict in each of the jurisdictions in which weeopte. Deferred income tax assets and liabilittesdatermined based uf
differences between the financial statement andnmectax bases of assets and liabilities using edateix rates in effect for the year in which thiedences are expected
reverse. The realization of deferred tax assetm$®d on historical tax positions and expectatairaut future taxable income. Valuation allowancesracorded against t
deferred tax assets when, in our opinion, reabrais uncertain based on the “more likely than moiferia of the accounting guidance.

Based on the uncertainty of future piee-income, we fully reserved our net deferreddasets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011. In thre exewere to determil
that we would be able to realize our deferred &sets in the future, an adjustment to the defdmedsset would increase income in the period sletérmination was mac
The provision for income taxes represents the n@bge in deferred tax amounts, plus income taxgahpe for the current period.

We follow the relevant accounting guidance relatedincertain tax positions, which provisions in@dud two-step approach to recognizing,reesgnizing an

measuring uncertain tax positions. As a resultdidenot recognize a liability for unrecognized taenefits. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, wkrttaunrecognized t.
benefits.
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Net Loss Per Share

Net loss per share amounts have been computed bagee weightedwerage number of shares of common stock outstgritiiring the years ended Decembel
2012, 2011 and 2010. Net loss per share, assuniirtgod amounts from common stock equivalents,dmputed based on the weighted average number fssbhcommo
stock and potential common stock equivalents ontitey during the period. The weighted average nurobshares of common stock and potential commooksequivalent
used in computing the net loss per share for yeraded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 excludaoteatial common stock equivalents, as the effentld/be antidilutive
(see Note 15).

Comprehensive Loss

Our comprehensive loss includes foreign currenapdiation gains and losses. The cumulative amofittanslation gains and losses are reflected asparat
component of stockholders’ equity in the consobddbalance sheets, as accumulated other comprebénsbme.

Cash Flow I nformation

Cash flows in foreign currencies have been condetteU.S. dollars at an approximate weighted averagchange rate for the respective reporting psridtie
weighted average exchange rate for the consoliddasgements of operations was 6.78, 6.50 and 7&HiSh Krona to one U.S. Dollar for the years enbedember 31, 201
2011 and 2010, respectively. The exchange ratéhtoconsolidated balance sheets was 6.52 and 6v8dish Krona to one U.S. Dollar as of December2R1,2 and 201
respectively.

Fair Value of Financial I nstruments

We disclose the estimated fair values for all fitiahinstruments for which it is practicable toieste fair value. Financial instruments includirasls, accoun
receivable, accounts payable and accrued expendemr@ deemed to approximate fair value due to Heirt maturities.

There were no assets or liabilities recorded ataiue on a recurring basis in 2012.
New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standddard (“FASB”) issued guidance that requires new disclosures dorvialue measurements and prov
clarification for existing disclosure requiremerithie guidance is effective for interim and annuadigds beginning after December 15, 2009, excepgfoss presentation
activity in level 3 which is effective for annuatiiods beginning after December 15, 2010, andrfi@rim periods in those years. We adopted the ge&léor new disclosur
for fair value measurements and clarification faisgng disclosure requirements as of January 1,028nd there was no material impact on our cona@dl financie
statements. Additionally, we adopted the guidamgmrding level 3 activity on January 1, 2011 aretdhwas no material impact to our consolidatedniira statements. S
Note 7,“Fair Value Measurements” for additional information the fair value of financial instruments.

In May 2011, the FASB amended fair value measuréraed disclosure guidance to achieve convergentte Imiernational Financial Reporting Standards RE?).
The amended guidance modifies the measurementrofdlie, clarifies verbiage, and changes disclesur other requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS. §hilance i
effective during interim and annual periods begignafter December 15, 2011. We adopted the guidascef January 1, 2012 and there was no materighémon oL
consolidated financial statements.
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3. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Asset
Prepaid expense and other current assets consie &fllowing (in thousands):

As of December 31

2012 2011
Prepaid insuranc $ 80 $ 46
Prepaid ren 52 49
VAT receivable 204 11C
Other 214 29
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 55C $ 234

4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the followingtfiausands):

As of December 31

2012 2011
Computers, software, furniture and fixtu $ 47t % 151
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (14£) (43)
Property and equipment, net $ 33C $ 108

Depreciation and amortization expense is $97,006,000 and $11,000 for the years ended Decemb&032, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
5. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following (in tremds):

As of December 31

2012 2011
Salaries, payroll taxes, vacation and ben: $ 621 $ 56C
Accrued consulting fees and other 183 41
Total accrued expenses $ 804 $ 601

6. Convertible Debt
There is no convertible debt outstanding at DecerBibe2012 and 2011.
Senior Convertible Secured Notes- 2007

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had no converfildmissory notes (“Senior Convertible SecuredeBl@007")that bore interest at the greater of 8% or LIE
plus 3% interest per annum, convertible into shafemur common stock at an original conversion @€ $87.50 per share outstanding. The Senior GtibieeSecured Nott
— 2007 were originally due August 26, 2010. On Sepiem?2, 2010, we entered into a debt modificatigreament with the two holders of an aggregate @6$362 o
convertible promissory notes that were due on Augés 2010. Based on the terms of the modificatibis, transaction qualified as a debt extinguishmerder the releva
accounting guidance. As part of the debt extinguisht, the maturity date of the convertible promigsmtes was extended until April 26, 2011. We eedento a debt-for-
equity repayment plan whereby we retired the cdiblerpromissory notes in equal installments byiisg our common stock priced at a 15% discount ftbenaverage mark
closing price for the five days ending on the 2&tkeach month over the eight month period beginiergtember 26, 2010 ending on April 26, 2011. fdleers of the not
had the right to convert the outstanding balan@egrat $2.25 per share if the market value ofammmon stock was greater than $2.50 per sharéviocbnsecutive days.
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During the year ended December 31, 2011, we istedote holders 31,570 shares of our common gtacsuant to the debt-faguity repayment plan and reti
the remaining note principal balance on April 2612. We recorded $84,657 of note principal reducéiod $1,054 of interest payment.

September 2009 Senior Convertible Secured Notes1Eing Transaction

During the period from August 25, 2009 through Deber 15, 2009, we completed a private placemenbntertible notes totaling $987,000 that were coeds a
the holder’s option, into shares of our common Istatca conversion price of $0.50 per share (thent@dtible Notes - 2009”)The convertible note holders had the rigt
have the conversion price adjusted to equal theldaiock price if we issued common stock or corivierinotes at a lower conversion price than $0.80ghare during tl
period that the notes were outstanding. The CoilerNotes -2009 that were originally due on December 31, 20&€e extended to June 30, 2011 (see below underaw
Repricing and Debt Extension Financing Transacti@@10) and bore an annual interest rate of 7%, payabJune 30 and December 31 of each year thabtineertible note
were outstanding. In addition, we issued 986,988eiear warrants to the convertible note holders aithexercise price of $1.00 per share. The warmaats be exercise
and converted to common stock, at the warrant slagtion, beginning on the sixonth anniversary of the date of issuance untiiterant expiration date. During the y
ended December 31, 2011 we issued 1,851,486 sbfaoes common stock to holders of Convertible Not€)09 who converted principal of $912,036 and $18,G0relate:
accrued interest. On June 30, 2011, we paid in teshemaining outstanding principal balance of,8@6 of Convertible Notes 2009. As of December 31, 2011, all of
Convertible Notes — 2009 had been paid in full veitish or have been converted to shares of our constook.

The embedded conversion feature of the Convertiblies —2009 met the definition of a derivative financiasirument and was classified as a liability in adaact
with relevant accounting guidance. The note holdad the right to convert the debt into sharesusfammon stock, and the notes included price ptiote whereby the:
notes were protected for as long as the notes nedaiutstanding against future private placemertdenat lower share prices, and therefore, the motaber of shares of ¢
common stock that the convertible notes could bevedible into was not fixed. The embedded coneerdeatures were revalued on each balance sheetaddtmarked-to-
market with the change recorded to re@sh items related to debt discounts, deferredifing fees and the valuation of conversion featares warrants in the consolida
statements of operations. As a result of the caimes and repayments during the year ended Dece®ih@011, the Company reclassified approximatdly $nillion of the
related derivative liabilities to additional pait€apital. As of December 31, 2011, the fair vadfighe remaining embedded conversion featuresfdatue to the repayment
conversion of all the Convertible Note2009. The Company recorded a loss of $2.3 millioa th the change in the fair value of the embeddeersion features of the
Convertible Notes — 2009 during the year ended Bes 31, 2011.

During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 204 0ecorded a total of $15,000 and $62,000, res@dgt in interest expense related to the principalance ¢
the Convertible Notes — 2009.

Senior Convertible Secured Notes- 2010

During the period from January 2010 through June2800, we received $1,597,000 in cash proceedsameerted $163,000 of accounts payable relatedpovate
placement of convertible notes (“Convertible Note2010”) and stock purchase warrants that were exitie, at the holdes’ option, into shares of our common stock
conversion price of $0.50 per share and we issiig@1712 stock purchase warrants that had an eeepcice of $1.00 per share. The convertible notdens had the right
have the conversion price adjusted to equal thedmtock price if we issued stock or convertibléesaat a lower conversion price than $0.50 durirggperiod that the not
were outstanding. These convertible notes wereinalig due on December 31, 2010 and were extendedlihe 30, 2011 (see below under Warrant Repriaivd) Deb
Extension Financing Transactior2810) and bore an annual interest rate of 7%, gayabJune 30 and December 31 of each year thatieertible notes were outstandi
The warrants may be exercised and converted to @mstock, at the warrant holder’'s option, beginnamgthe sixmonth anniversary date of issuance until the w#
expiration date. During the year ended DecembeR@B11, we issued 3,557,171 shares of our commatk $toholders of Convertible Notes2010 who converted principal
$1,750,143 and $28,442 of related accrued intefsstf December 31, 2011, all of the Convertibled$o- 2010 had been converted to shares of our constock.
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The embedded conversion feature of the Convertilbies —2010 met the definition of a derivative financiasirument and was classified as a liability in adaact
with accounting guidance. The note holders haditité to convert the debt into shares of our comrstmtk, and the notes include price protection wbgthese notes we
protected for as long as the notes remained outistgragainst future private placements made atd@hare prices, and therefore, the total numbeshafes of our comm:
stock that the convertible notes could be convieriifito was not fixed. The embedded conversiorufestwere revalued on each balance sheet date akedrtomarket witt
the increase or decrease in fair value was recamledneash items related to debt discounts and defemeadding fees and the valuation of conversion festand warran
in the consolidated statements of operations. fesalt of the conversions during the year endedebBwer 31, 2011, the Company reclassified approxin&s.7 million o
the related derivative liabilities to additionalighén capital. As of December 31, 2011, the fair vabfiche remaining embedded conversion feature§ ias$all the Convertib
Notes— 2010 were converted. The Company recorded a lospfoximately $4.4 million due to the change ia fhir value of the embedded conversion featuréhes
Convertible Notes — 2010 during the year ended Bes 31, 2011.

During the year ended December 31, 2011 and 20&0reworded a total of approximately $28,000 and9fl@D, respectively, in interest expense relatethé¢
principal balance of the Convertible Notes — 2010.

Warrant Repricing and Debt Extension Financing Taction - 2010

During September and October 2010, all of the hsladé the convertible notes and the holders ofsteek purchase warrants issued in the 2009 and 2ehto
Secured Convertible Debt Financing Transactionsejto extend the maturity date of their convestiteébt from December 31, 2010 to June 30, 2011ruhdesame tern
and conditions as the original notes. Holders 86@,857 stock purchase warrants also agreed teisgeheir previously granted thrgear warrants with an exercise prict
$1.00 for a discounted exercise price of $0.88share. They received 2,766,857 shares of our constumk and 2,766,857 replacement thyear warrants with an exerc
price of $1.38 for each warrant exercised. We thiseotal of $2.4 million by these warrant exersis accordance with relevant accounting guidameenoted that tt
transaction qualified for debt extinguishment actg. As a result, the remaining debt discountseweritten off and charged to interest expense famdvalue of th:
replacement warrants were recorded to loss onguishment of debt, which was deemed to be the tHatethe convertible debt holder signed the modiftn agreement. /
the Company did not have sufficient unissued aigkdrshares to cover all dilutive instruments uthiél increase in authorized shares on Decembe201l®), these replacem:
warrants were initially recorded as derivative llities at their grant date fair value. On Decemb&r 2010, the Company increased its authorizerestend then had sufficie
authorized shares to cover all dilutive instrumeantsl as such the replacement warrants wekalteed on that date (totaling $4,335,785) and tben@any reclassified tl
replacement warrants to additional paid-in-capitalccordance with relevant accounting guidance.

Senior Convertible Secured Notes- 2011

During March and April 2011, we received approxietat$4.2 million in cash proceeds related to a atevplacement of convertible notesS¢hior Convertibl
Secured Notes — 2011"), bearing interest at achseven percent (7%) per annum, that was schedalethture on March 1, 2014 and that were conJertib the holdeg
option into 1,691,320 shares of our common stock ednversion price of $2.50 per share. The not® wutomatically convertible into shares of thenpanys commo!
stock in the event that on or before the note cate dither (a) the Comparsytommon stock was traded at a price per sharé.a6%r higher for five (5) consecutive trac
days, or (b) the Company consummated a financinggramount of at least $5 million. The accruedriest was payable in stock, using the $2.50 ceimeiprice, or cash,
the holder’s option, on June 30 and Decemberf&hch year.
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In connection with the March and April 2011 finamgitransactions the Company valued the warrantedsso the convertible note holders on a relataie falue
basis using the BlacBeholes option pricing model, totaling $937,000isTrelative fair value of the warrants was recorded debt discount. The embedded conversion &
of the notes was determined to meet the definitiba derivative liability and as of the date ofuasce was valued at $4.8 million. In accordancé wetevant accountir
guidance, the Company recorded an additional debbdnt up to the full face amount of the notesprded the derivative liability for the embeddedwersion feature at $£
million and recorded the fair value in excess @efamount of debt as interest expense on the issugate of $1.5 million. The debt discount was dimed in full upon th
conversion of the notes to common stock on DecerbbeP011. As of December 31, 2011, the fair vafithe embedded conversion feature was $0 duestadhversion ¢
all the Senior Convertible Secure Note26411. The Company recorded a loss of $1.9 millioa tb the change in fair value of the embedded emion feature for the ye
ended December 31, 2011 which is included in trmpanying consolidated statement of operationa esmponent of the norash items related to debt discounts
deferred financing fees and the valuation of cosieerfeatures and warrants.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coyniganed 27,851 shares of unregistered common stog@te holders of the Senior Convertible SeciNetes —
2011 private placement financing transaction io ¢ cash for their $69,628 accrued interest payrtiert was due June 30, 2011. In addition, the Gomypaid $10,277 of tl
accrued interest in cash to note holders who dedlto convert their interest payment to stock.

During the year ended December 31 2011, the Comisangd 422,830 new fiygear common stock purchase warrants to the invgsigth an exercise price of $3
per share (the “March 2011 Warrants”), with eaclestor receiving a number of March 2011 Warrant th equal to twenty-five percent (25%) of thedstors note to th
Company. The March 2011 Warrants may be exerdigechsh payment or through cashless exercise bguirender of warrant shares having a value equtiet exercis
price of the portion of the warrants being exemtise

In October and November 2011, note holders of $¥BX®bof the original $4.2 million Senior Convertitecure Notes 2011 exercised their right to convert tl
notes and accrued interest and were issued 238}28s of our common stock.

On December 13, 2011, following a public offeringrguant to a Registration Statement on ForB) ie Company received gross proceeds in exce$5S ofillion.
Pursuant to the terms, as defined, in the Seniov&tible Secure Notes2011 agreements, the remaining outstanding prihb@ance immediately following such date, |
accrued interest, was automatically convertible ishares of common stock at a conversion price2ds@per share. In accordance with the terms ofafireement, tt
Company automatically converted approximately $8ilfion of remaining principal and approximately 32,000 of accrued interest into 1,513,237 sharehefCompanyg
common stock. In addition, the Company issued @gtares of common stock related to the bonuseisttéeature associated with the mandatory conversfithe debt. Tt
fair value of the shares issued were computed basete stock price of the Compasyommon stock on December 14, 2011 and were vau8897,845 and recordec
additional interest expense in noash items related to debt discounts and defeineahding fees and the valuation of conversion festiand warrants in the consolidé
statement of operations. As a result of the corwessand repayments of the Senior Convertible Seblates 2011 during the year ended December 31, 2011, ¢dmepan
reclassified approximately $6.7 million of deriwagiliabilities to additional paiii capital. The Company recorded a loss of $1.9aniffor the year ended December 31, Z
due to the change in fair value of the embeddedasion features. As of December 31, 2011, thevi@iue of the embedded conversion features was$0f December 3
2011, all of the Senior Convertible Secure Not2811 plus accrued interest was paid or convertiedsinares of common stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2011 we recaadethl of approximately $232,000 in interest exgeerelated to the principal balance of the SeGmnvertible
Secured Notes — 2011.

7. Fair Value Measurements
Accounting guidance defines fair value, establishdeamework for measuring fair value, and expagidslosure requirements about fair value measur&ndine
accounting guidance does not mandate any new &irrvmeasurements and is applicable to assetsiabilities that are required to be recorded at fa@lue under oth

accounting pronouncements.

There were no assets or liabilitiesorded at fair value on a recurring basis in 2012.
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The three levels of the fair value hierarchy arscdéed as follows:
Level 1: Applies to assets or liabilities for whittiere are quoted prices (unadjusted) in activeketaifor identical assets and liabilities. We had_avel 1 assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Applies to assets or liabilities for whitttere are inputs other than quoted prices includécvel 1 that are observable, either directlynalirectly. We had no Level
assets or liabilities.

Level 3: Applies to assets or liabilities for whittfere are unobservable inputs to the valuatiorhatztlogy that are significant to the measuremenhefair value of the ass
or liabilities. We valued warrants and embedded/ecsion features that were without observable ntar&keies and the valuation required a high levgudgment to determit
fair value (Level 3 inputs). The Company estimateel fair value of these warrants and embedded esiovefeatures using the Bla&choles option pricing model using
following assumptions:

The following table shows the classification of diabilities that were subject to fair value

For the yea
ended
December 31,
2010
Annual dividend yielc -
Expected life (years 0.50-4.8
Risk-free interest rat 0.18%- 1.9(%
Expected volatility 117%- 221%
For the yea
ended
December 31,
2011
Annual dividend yielc -
Expected life (years 0.08-3.0

Risk-free interest rat
Expected volatility

December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

Fair Value of Embedded Conversion Features and Waants

January 1, 201

Ne Derivatives added in connection with issuanceatit and equity

Derivatives reclassified to equity in connectiorthwiepaymen and conversion of de

Net increase in fair value
December 31, 201

Derivatives added in connection with issuasfogebt and equity
Derivatives reclassified to equity in connectiorthwiepayment

and conversion of de
Net increase in fair value

December 31, 2011
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0.08%- 1.27%
110%- 26%%

measuents and the rofbrward of these liabilities for the years en

4,507
5,23¢
(19,28¢€
16,26
6,71¢

4,762

(20,075
8,59




8. Deferred Revenue

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we have $2.1lomiind $1.5 million, respectively, of deferrecelise fee revenue related to prepayments for fliceese fee
from three and one customers, respectively, antshdf $0.6 million and $0.4 million, respectivebf deferred engineering development fees frometan and four custome
respectively. We defer the license fees until weehaet all accounting requirements for revenue geitmn as per unit royalty products are distriltute licensed by tt
Company’s customers and the engineering developfeernevenue until such time as the engineerindgweas been completed and accepted by our customers.
9. Stockholders Equity

On February 29, 2012, the Company filed a Certiéiazf Correction with the Secretary of State ofdare effectively reducing the amount of its auttext share
from 848,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 2,000ghares of Preferred Stock to 70,000,000 shdr€mmon Stock and 1,000,000 shares of PreferredkStThis
correction reflects the new capital structure & @ompany following its 1-for-25 reverse split tbacame effective at the close of business on M25¢i2011.

On May 1, 2012, the Company began trading its comstock on the NASDAQ Stock Market under tradingnbpl NEON.

Common Stock

On March 16, 2012, John Reardon, a member of oardbof directors, exercised a warrant to purch&®0D0 shares of common stock using the net ex
provision allowed in the warrant and received 198,3hares of our common stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, SerieefiPed stockholders exchanged 19 shares of ®freferred stock for 2,509 shares of our comntocks

During the year ended December 31, 2012, warraldehs (excluding members of our board of diregtesercised warrants to purchase 361,000 sharesnofor
stock using the net exercise provision allowechiwarrant and received 235,144 shares of our canstozk. Warrant holders exercised warrants tohasge 17,500 shares
common stock and paid a cash exercise price o3§%t share for total proceeds of $54,775. In afdiduring 2012 a warrant holder exercised a war@ purchase 122,2
shares of common stock and paid a cash exercise @iri$1.38 per share for total proceeds of $168,66

During the year ended December 31, 2011, SeriesefePed stockholders exchanged 82.79 shares afsS&rPreferred stock for 39,790 shares of our comstock
and Series B Preferred stockholders exchanged 264s of Series B Preferred stock for 6,282 shafreur common stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynisaned a total of 5,408,657 shares of commorksis@ result of the conversion of approximately’ $gillion
of the Senior Convertible Secured Notes — 2009281 private placement financing transactions gebtipal and accrued interest.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynpaoeived proceeds of approximately $515,000 ftbenexercise of 493,426 warrants for shares of con
stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we istedote holders of Senior Convertible Secured §d2680731,570 shares of our common stock pursuant t
debt-for-equity repayment plan and retired the iemg note principal balance and accrued interasting $86,000 on April 26, 2011.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Comjsamed 60,000 shares of common stock and issiBgear warrant to purchase 20,000 shares of cor
stock at an exercise price of $2.00 per sharetisfaetion of certain accrued expenses totaling0$aa0.
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On April 25, 2011, Davisa Ltd (a related party) ixsed warrants to purchase 50,000 shares of consteak. The Company recorded an additional $50e306toc
based compensation to compensate Davisa Ltd byirvgaithe $1.00 exercise price and issued 50,000eshaf our common stock to Davisa Ltd for servicesviuled ir
connection with the private placement of conveetibbtes and warrants in the March 2011 financiagsaction.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coyniganed 27,851 shares of unregistered common stog@te holders of the Senior Convertible SeciNetes —
2011 private placement financing transaction in bé cash for their $69,628 accrued interest paynteat was due June 30, 2011 (see Note 6).

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we isteedote holders of Senior Convertible Secured 82811 a total of 1,844,8Bhares of our common stock :
retired the note principal balance and accruedaesteotaling $4.6 million. Included in the totdlases issued of 1,844,814 is 99,461 shares of canstozk issued for bon
interest (as determined) totaling $399,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we is3uethillion shares of our common stock to investeh® completed an equity financing transaction tased o
December 13, 2011 in which we raised $12.0 milbml received $11.2 million in cash, net of diregtisg costs but before other direct offering cost@approximately $0.
million.

On March 21, 2010, we issued 35,000 shares of @urmmn stock and a warrant to purchase 35,000 sbams common stock at an exercise price of $p@&0shar
to an investor for services provided for the prvatacement of convertible note and warrant in20&0 financing transaction. The fair value of 8000 shares of comm
stock is $26,000 based on our common stock clgsiiug on the date of issuance. The $26,000 faievaf the warrants is included in common stock additional paidn
capital in the consolidated balance sheets andonigmally recorded as debt issuance costs andesuiesntly amortized to interest expense on the dioiaded statement
operations for the year ended December 31, 201€ I{&¢e 6).

On May 27, 2010, we issued 3,136 shares of our camstock to a holder of two convertible promissontes who elected to convert and retire the $1 @
convertible promissory notes plus accrued inteae#ite $0.50 conversion price pursuant to the agteements (see Note 6).

On September 8, 2010, we issued 16,894 sharesr@ooumon stock to the holder of a convertible pssary note that was due on August 26, 2010. Weetkthe
$12,500 convertible promissory note and $170 ofisat interest (see Note 6).

On September 13, 2010, we issued 450,263 sha@ms @ommon stock in settlement of the Empire latvand we settled all outstanding warrants held mpie. Ir
addition, our insurance carrier paid a cash seétarto Empire. The value of the shares issued tpitenwere $562,828 (based on the trading pricelo2% per share on t
date of settlement) and were charged to settlemgrense included in general and administrative esg® in the accompanying consolidated statemeopefations for tF
year ended December 31, 2010. The fair value ofifgspvarrants was reclassified to additional paidapital at the date of settlement.

On September 22, 2010, we issued 120,111 shams abmmon stock to a holder of two convertiblerpissory notes who elected to convert and retiredb&0,00
of convertible promissory notes plus accrued irstiea¢ the $0.50 conversion price pursuant to the agreements (see Note 6).

On September 23, 2010, we issued 6,933 sharesrafomumon stock and a warrant to purchase 6,93%sh&rour common stock at an exercise price of Gbpe
share to an investor for services provided forgheate placement of convertible note and warrarthe 2010 financing transaction. The fair valti¢he shares of comm
stock and warrants totaling $24,000 are recordédtasest expense with an offsetting amount to fgqsiee Note 6).

On September 25, 2010, we issued 15,000 sharas @oomon stock and a warrant to purchase 15,08@:shof our common stock at an exercise price diGbpe

share to an investor for services provided forgheate placement of convertible note and warrarthe 2010 financing transaction. The fair valfiehe shares of comm
stock and warrants totaling $52,000 are recordedtasest expense with an offsetting amount to tyq(siee Note 6).
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On September 29, 2010, we issued 11,462 sharas @bonmon stock for the conversion of principal amerest of senior convertible secured notes oailly issue:
in 2007 (see Note 6).

During September 2010, we issued 348,464 sharesrafommon stock for the exercise of warrants imneztion with the 2009 and 2010 convertible defdricings
The warrants were exercised at $0.88 per sharel lmasthe warrant repricing and debt extension ageeg (see Note 6).

On October 11, 2010, we issued 48,000 shares ot@mmon stock in settlement of the Berman lawsnit eanceled all outstanding warrants held by Bern
addition, our insurance carrier paid a cash seétdrto Berman and we paid an additional cash setth to Berman. The value of the shares issuecetm8n were valued
$84,000 (based on the trading price of $1.75 paresbn the date of settlement) and were chargedttement expense included in general and admatiigt expenses in t
accompanying consolidated statement of operationgtfe year ended December 31, 2010.

On October 18, 2010, we issued 1,235,636 sharesrafommon stock for the exercise of warrants innextion with the 2009 and 2010 convertible defdricings
The warrants were exercised at $0.88 per sharellmasthe warrant repricing and debt extension ageee (see Note 6).

On October 27, 2010, we issued 12,966 shares of@umon stock for the conversion of principal anidiest of senior convertible secured notes orilyinssued ir
2007 (see Note 6).

On November 4, 2010, we issued 792,086 sharesraf@uamon stock for the exercise of warrants in emtion with the 2009 and 2010 convertible debtritiags
The warrants were exercised at $0.88 per sharel lmasthe warrant repricing and debt extension ageeg (see Note 6).

On November 19, 2010, we issued 390,672 sharesrafmnmon stock for the exercise of warrants innemtion with the 2009 and 2010 convertible dekarfitings
The warrants were exercised at $0.88 per sharel lmasthe warrant repricing and debt extension ageeg (see Note 6).

On December 13, 2010, we increased the numberradughorized shares of common stock from 698,0@t6@48,000,000.

On December 13, 2010, we issued 9,866 shares afomumon stock for the conversion of principal antgtiest of senior convertible secured notes orilyimssued ir
2007 (see Note 6).

On December 29, 2010, we issued 12,002 sharesrafomemon stock for theonversion of principal and interest of senior centible secured notes originally issi
in 2007 (see Note 6).

Preferred Stock
The terms of the Series A and Series B Prefermzksre as follows:
e Dividends and Distribution:

Series A Preferred: The holders of shares of Series A Preferred stoeleatitled to participate with the holders of cammon stock with respe
to any dividends declared on the common stock op@rtion to the number of shares of common stoskable upo
conversion of the shares of Series A Preferreckdtetd by them

Series B Preferred: The holders of shares of Series B Preferred stoekatitled to participate with the holders of common stock with respe

to any dividends declared on the common stock op@rtion to the number of shares of common stoskable upo
conversion of the shares of Series B Preferreckdteld by them
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e Liquidation Preference

Series A Preferred: In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, omding up of our operations, either voluntary ordluntary, subject to tt
rights of any other series of Preferred stock teeseblished by the Board of Directors (the “Seogferred Stock”)the
holders of Series A Preferred stock shall be etitb receive, after any distribution to the haddef Senior Preferred Stc
and prior to and in preference to any distributionhe holders of common stock, $0.001 for eacheshfSeries A Preferr
stock then outstandin

Series B Preferred: In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, omding up of our operations, either voluntary ordluntary, subject to tt
rights of the Series A Preferred stock and SeniefdPred Stock, the holders of Series B Prefertedksshall be entitled
receive, after any distribution to the holders eh®r Preferred Stock and prior to and in prefeeetacany distribution to tt
holders of common stock, $0.001 for each shareedeS B Preferred stock then outstand

e Voting

The holders of shares of Series A Preferred stockSeries B Preferred stock shall have one votedch share of Series A Preferred stock and SBrieseferre:
stock held by them.

e Conversior
Initially, each share of Series A Preferred stoctl aach share of Series B Preferred stock was dilsieeinto one share of our common stock. Any ificdtion tc
the conversion rate requires shareholder appreed pelow). On March 31, 2009, our shareholdersoapgd a resolution to increase the authorized shapital, and t

increase the conversion ratio to 480.63 sharesmihwon stock for each share of Series A Prefereeksind to 132.07 shares of our common stock foln shares of Series
Preferred stock, thus completing the restructubiegun in December 2008.
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Conversion of Preferred Stock Issued to Common Stéc

On April 24, 2009, we initiated the process of ailog the shareholders of our preferred stock tovednthe Series A and B Preferred stock to shafesiocommoil
stock. In order to convert the preferred stockdmmon stock each preferred stock shareholder isirstjto submit the preferred stock certificateoto transfer agent a
request conversion to common stock. The conversiamommon stock is not mandatory and shareholdéis ewn preferred stock may choose not to conveit oreferre:
stock to shares of our common stock. The followalge summarizes the amounts at December 31, 2012:

Shares of
Common Stock
after
Conversion of
all
Outstanding
Shares of Shares of
Preferred Preferred
Stock Not Stock Not yet
Exchanged as Exchanged at
of December 31 Conversion December 31,
2012 Ratio 2012
Series A Preferred stot 83 480.6: 39,89:
Series B Preferred stock 95 132.0% 12,54%
Total remaining not exchanged 17€ 52,43¢

10. Stock-Based Compensatior

We have several approved stock option plans fochvistock options and restricted stock awards aaéladble to grant to employees, consultants andctiire. All
employee and director stock options granted understock option plans have an exercise price ejutle market value of the underlying common stookhe grant dat
There are no vesting provisions tied to performaraaitions for any options, as vesting for allstahding option grants was based only on contirseedice as an employ:
consultant or director. All of our outstanding dtaptions and restricted stock awards are class#gequity instruments.

Amortization of Fair Value of Stock | ssued to Related Parties for Purchase of Neonode Technologies AB

On December 29, 2008, we entered into a Share Bgehagreement with Neonode Technologies AB andstbekholders of Neonode Technologies AB: Iwo .
SARL, Wirelesstoys AB, and Athemis Ltd (the “Neorotlechnologies AB Stockholdersfursuant to which we agreed to acquire all of #seiéd and outstanding share
Neonode Technologies AB in exchange for the isseia@id 9,800 shares of the Comp’s Series A Preferred stock. Pursuant to the tefrtise Share Exchange Agreem
upon the closing of the transaction, Neonode Telcyies AB became a wholly owned subsidiary of thempany. The Neonode Technologies AB Stockholdezsor wer
employees of us and/or Neonode AB, and as suctekted parties.

The fair value of the conversion feature of the809, shares of Series A Preferred shares issudtetoetated parties to acquire Neonode Technologieshat wa:
converted to a total of 9,516,447 shares of ourrnomstock was $9.5 million based on our stock poceMarch 31, 2009, the date our shareholders apprthe increast
conversion ratio. Because this transaction wasngisdly the issuance of shares to key employeethfar continued service to enhance the Compdrey$6.5 million revise
fair value of the common stock has been amortinezbinpensation expense at the rate of $1.6 mifiemquarter for six quarters beginning January0D92 The amortizatic
of the $9.5 million in compensation expense reldtegvalue of the stock issued to the related gmtth acquire Neonode Technologies AB was completedune 30, 201
For the year ended December 31, 2010 $3.2 millambeen recorded as compensation expense in caoliciaied statement of operations.

Stock Options
As of December 31, 2012, we had three equity ineemians:
e The 1996 Stock Option Plan (t“1996 Pla”), which expired in January 200

e The 1998 No-Officer Stock Option Plan (th*1998 Pla’”), which expired in June 2008; a
e The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (t“2006 Pla”).
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We also have one non-employee director stock optian as of December 31, 2012:
e The 2001 No-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (1 Director Plar"), which expired in March 201:

The following table summarizes information with pest to all options to purchase shares of commackstutstanding under the 1996 Plan, the 1998 Rt@n200!
Plan and the Director Plan at December 31, 2012:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Number Remaining Number
QOutstanding at Contractual Life ~ Weighted Average Exercisable at Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Pric 12/31/12 (years) Exercise Prict 12/31/12 Exercise Prict
$4.25 1,475,00( 63 $ 4.25 814,02¢ $ 4.25
$4.26- $7.00 229,00( 69 $ 5.05 30,751 $ 5.27
$7.01- $125.00 11,20C 1.7 $ 108.7¢ 11,20C $ 108.7¢
1,715,20( 64 $ 5.04 855,97¢ $ 5.65
A summary of the combined activity under all of #teck option plans is set forth below:
Weighted
Average Weighted-
Number of Exercise Price Average
Shares Per Shart Exercise Prict
Outstanding at January 1, 20 19,88« $ 35.39-687.5( $ 103.6¢
Grantec =% =% =
Cancelled or expire 80 $ 34878 % 348.7¢
Exercised - $ - $ --
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 19,80« $ 35.39-687.5( $ 101.3¢
Grantec - $ - $ --
Cancelled or expire (480) $ 135.0(- 687.5( $ 523.2:
Exercised - $ - $ --
Outstanding, vested and expected to vest at Deme8ih 2011 19,32« $ 35.39-368.7¢ $ 92.1¢
Grantec 1,704,000 $ 4.02-6.2¢ $ 4.3t
Cancelled or expire (8,124 $ 35.3¢-368.7" $ 69.3¢€
Exercised - $ - $ --
Outstanding, vested and expected to vest at Demegih 2012 1,715,200 $ 4.02-125.0( $ 5.04
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The assumptions used to value stock options giantdirectors, employees and consultants durieg/éar ended December 31, 2012 are as follows:

For the yea
ended
December 31,
2012
Annual dividend yielc -
Expected life (years 3.8-4.3
Risk-free interest rat 0.43%- 0.62%
Expected volatility 169%- 187%

The aggregate intrinsic value of the 1,715,200kstqtions that are outstanding, vested and expéotedst at December 31, 2012 is $909,800.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012ahd, the Company recorded $3.4 million, $87,0080 $t¥2,000, respectively, of compensation expeeisger
to the vesting of stock options. The fair valuetltég stock-based compensation was calculated us@lackScholes option pricing model as of the grant détthe stocl
option.

The 1996 Plan terminated effective January 17, 2806 the 1998 Plan terminated effective June @882Although we can no longer issue stock optimunsof the
plans, the outstanding options at the date of teation will remain outstanding and vest in accoodawith their terms. Options granted under the @oePlan vest over a o
to fouryear period, expire five to seven years after thee @f grant and have exercise prices reflectincketavalue of the shares of our common stock ondéite of gran
Stock options granted under the 1996, 1998 and PU&&s are exercisable over a maximum term of &amsyfrom the date of grant, vest in various ifshts over a one
four-year period and have exercise prices reflgdtie market value of the shares of common stodkemate of grant.

On January 30, 2012, the Board of Directors of Meleninc. (“Board”)adopted an amendment to the 2006 Plan to incréaseumber of shares of common st
authorized for issuance under the 2006 Plan bydditianal two million (2,000,000) shares.

We granted 169,000 stock options to purchase sloims common stock to a consultant during the yealed December 31, 2012.

We also granted 1,175,000 stock options to purchhaees of our common stock to our employees af¢DB86 stock options to purchase shares of our canstox}
to members of our Board during the year ended Dbeedil, 2012.

We did not grant any options to purchase sharesiofommon stock to employees, consultants or mesrifeour Board during the years ended Decembe@1L]
and 2010.

Warrants

During 2012, certain warrant holders exercisedrtherrants under the cash and net cash provisamsiefined in the agreements. See Note 9 for detisucl
exercises and number of common stock shares issued.

On December 3, 2010, we issued 120,000 warrargn aiercise price of $1.63 per share to an employee fair value of the warrants was $198,000 @ndate ¢

grant, using the Blackcholes option pricing model, which has been amexitito expense over 24 months. During the yearsce@écember 31, 2012, 2011 and 201C
recorded $91,000, $99,000 and $8,000, respectivébtock based compensation expense related tmged such warrants.
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We issued 80,000 fivgear stock purchase warrants at an exercise pfi§2.60 per share to our legal advisor during tearyended December 31, 2011. We
issued 20,000 thregear stock purchase warrants at an exercise pfi§2.00 per share to one of our U.S. based emptoyeeing the year ended December 31, 201
addition, we issued 20,000 thrgear stock purchase warrants at an exercise pri§d.65 per share to an engineering consultanndutie year ended December 31, 2
These warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1268(@0@s of our common stock vested on the dateanit.gfhe vested warrant granted to our legal advias a fair value ¢
the date of grant of $193,000 and is included imegal and administrative expense for the year emdEedmber 31, 2011. The vested warrant grantedrtemployee has a fi
value on the date of grant of $37,000 and is inetlich product research and development expenstadoyear ended December 31, 2011. The vested waranted to ot
engineering consultant has a fair value on the afatgant of $73,000 and is included in producesesh and development expense for the year endeshiteer 31, 2011.

We issued 20,000 thrgear stock purchase warrants at an exercise pfi$8.80 per share with a vesting period over 24 tim®to an employee during the year er
December 31, 2011. The unvested warrant granteah temployee has a fair value on the date of gra#i75,000. This amount will be expensed over th&tinig period an
$38,000 and $11,000 of expense related to thisawtrs included in product research and developreepénse for the year ended December 31, 2012 @] Pespectivel
The fair value of stock-based compensation reltdetie issuance of warrants is calculated usingBlaek-Scholes option pricing model as of the grant datén@ underlyin
warrant.

The stockbased compensation expense for the years endednbeca&1, 2012, 2011 and 2010 reflects the fairevalfithe vested portion of options and warr
granted to directors, employees and non-employ&eskbased compensation expense for the year ended Becé&h, 2010 also includes $3.2 million of amotta of the
value of stock issued to related parties for theclpase of Neonode Technologies AB. Stbelsed compensation expense in the accompanyinglated statements
operations is as follows (in thousands):

Year ende(
December 31
2012 2011 2010
Product research and developm $ 31t $ 11  $ =
Sales and marketir 1,407 99 14C
General and administrative 1,777 44C 5,29(
Stock compensation expense $ 3,49¢ $ 55C $ 5,43(
Remaining
unamortized
expense at
December 31,
2012
Stocl-based compensatic $ 3,56¢

The remaining unamortized expense related to stptlons and warrants will be recognized on a sttalgme basis monthly as compensation expense the
remaining vesting period which approximates 1.&gea

A summary of all warrant activity is set forth beto

Weighted WeightedAverage
Average Remaining
Outstanding and exercisable Warrants ExercisePrice Contractualife
January 1, 201 5,139,48: $ 1.27 3.2¢
Issuec 809,54: 3.0¢ -
Expired/forfeitec - - -
Exercised (543,420 $ 1.04 -
December 31, 201 5,405,600 $ 1.57 2.4t
Issuec - - -
Expired/forfeitec (232) 31.7¢ -
Exercised (700,739 $ 1.1¢ -
Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2012 4,704,631 $ 1.61 1.41
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During the year ended December 31, 2010, we isaddidional convertible debt with warrants and alsorants to a broker. Prior to December 13, 201®dd no
have sufficient unissued authorized shares toesalitbutstanding equity instruments, and the wasravere classified as liabilities (see Notes 6 &nd

As a result of the issuance of convertible notesarly October 2009, we no longer had enough uedssuthorized shares to settle all outstandingtg@ustruments
including convertible preferred stock, convertiibt, options and warrants. Therefore, in accarelavith the applicable accounting guidance, all-employee warrants we
required to be recorded as liabilities from thainp@nd marked-tonarket at each period until we had sufficient umésk authorized shares to settle all outstandingtye
instruments. As a result, we reclassified the ¥alue of all noremployee warrants not already recorded as liadslitotaling $837,000 as of October 1, 2009 fromitemhdl
paid-incapital to embedded derivatives of convertible detat warrants. The warrants issued to the holdefisancings were originally recorded as derivatiabilities as wi
did not have sufficient authorized unissued shafeommon stock to settle all outstanding equisstimments. On December 13, 2010, the Company isedetis authorize
shares of common stock to cover all potentiallutiie instruments outstanding. As a result, on Dewmer 9, 2010, the Company reclassified the faivealf the warrants «
that date, totaling $4.3 million to additional paidcapital, as warrants no longer qualified aswdgive instruments.

On September 22, 2010, we issueyear warrants to purchase 6,400 shares of our constazk at an exercise price of $1.00 per sharfeotders of our Seni
Convertible Secured Notes2007 to extend the maturity date of the notes ugiiil 26, 2011. The fair value of the warrantspiarchase 6,400 shares of common stock
$28,000 on the date of issuance and was recordexpenise component of the loss on extinguishmedebf in the accompanying consolidated statemeapefations for tr
year ended December 31, 2010. The warrants wenedaising the Black-Scholes option pricing modék &ssumptions used for the Ble@&holes option pricing model ar
term of 4.98 years, volatility of 162.45%, and skffree interest rate of 1.95%.

On September 24, 2010, we issued a warrant to peecB,933 shares of our common stock at an exgrdizeof $1.00 per share to an investor for sewigrovide
for the private placement of convertible notes agrants in the 2010 financing transaction (seesNt

On September 27, 2010, we issued a warrant tdpaec15,000 shares of our common stock at an erguoce of $1.00 per share to an investor forisesvprovide
for the private placement of convertible notes amdrants in the 2010 financing transaction (seesNt

We granted 440,000 stock purchase warrants to d8r hhsed employees or members of our Board dthieyear ended December 31, 2010. The stock pss
warrants have an exercise price equal to $1.38L163%per shares, which was the market price ord#te of grant, October 15, 2010 and December 30.2These stoc
purchase warrants have a three to freer term. Warrants to purchase 320,000 sharesroé@mmon stock are vested on the date of grantamdrrant to purchase 120,(
shares of our common stock vests over 24 monttiseatte of 5,000 shares per month, beginning Dbee2010. The vested warrants granted to empldyaes fair value ¢
the date of grant of $660,000. Approximately $400,&nd $99,000 of the fair value is included inggahand administrative expense for the years efidedmber 31, 20:
and 2011, respectively, and the remaining $90,70been amortized to expense on a strdigatmonthly basis over the year ended Decembef812. The fair value
stock-based compensation related to the employeramia is calculated using the Black-Scholes oppiocing model as of the grant date of the undagyiarrant.
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We sold 1,200,000 stock purchase warrants to owd®h based employees or members of our Boardgitii year ended December 31, 2010 for approxiy
$49,000. The stock purchase warrants have anisggice equal to $1.38 per shares, which wasindet price on the date of grant, October 15, 200ifese stock purche
warrants have a thrgeear term and were vested on the date of the Bhéestock underlying the stock purchase warrargatgd to employees or members of our Board he
been registered for resale. The vested warrantgegtdo employees had a fair value on the dategaftegf $1.7 million and is included in general audhinistrative expen
for the year ended December 31, 2010. The fairevafustock-based compensation related to the eraplexarrants is calculated using the Bl&tdtoles option pricing moc
as of the grant date of the underlying warrant.

During September and October 2010, we enteredwadifferent types of amendments with the holdgrthe convertible notes and stock purchase wesriaatied i
the Fall of 2009 and Spring of 2010 financing tei®ns. All of the holders of the convertible emtentered into an amendment pursuant to whictddieedate of tr
convertible notes was extended until June 30, 2@ majority of the holders of the stock purchasanants entered into an amendment pursuant to vthehexercised the
previously granted warrants at a discounted exernmice of $0.88 per share and was granted a aeplent thregrear warrant for each original warrant exercisei total of
2,766,857 of the original warrants were exercisetha discounted exercise price of $0.88 per shad: a total of $2,384,554 was raised by the Comphrgugh thes
exercises of the original warrants. We issueda tf 2,766,857 shares of common stock and repiac¢ warrants to the exercising warrant holders w&it exercise price
$1.38 per share.

In the year ended December 31, 2011, the Compangds422,830 new fivgear common stock purchase warrants, with an eseeqmiice of 3.13 per share (see !
6).

In March 2011, the Company entered into a warrgnéement with investors who participated in the @any’s 2009 and 2010 financing transactions and wh
been issued common stock purchase warrants witltisgeprices of $0.50 per share, $1.00 per shak,$4.38 per share (the “2009 and 2010 WarranBljsuant to tt
warrant agreement, each warrant holder who exerasene or all of its outstanding 2009 and 2010 ¥fds at the applicable exercise price ($0.50 parest$1.00 per sha
and/or $1.38 per share), received a number of Maédi Warrants equal to fifty percent (50%) of thenber of 2009 and 2010 Warrants exercised by saehant holde
The warrant holders exercised an aggregate of 283dtstanding 2009 and 2010 Warrants, for an aggeeinvestment of $515,000 and received 493,4afeshof commc
stock and 246,713 new fiwgeear common stock purchase warrants, with an eseeqwiice of $3.13 per share. The March 2011 Wesnaxay be exercised by cash payme
through cashless exercise by the surrender of nissteares having a value equal to the exercise pfithe portion of the warrants being exercised.

On April 25, 2011, Davisa Ltd. (a related partyermised warrants to purchase 50,000 shares of constozk. During the year ended December 31, 201
Company recorded an additional $50,000 as stoakcbesmpensation to compensate Davisa Ltd. by wgithie $1.00 exercise price, and issued 50,000 sluéir@ur commo
stock to Davisa Ltd. for services provided for fhievate placement of convertible notes and warramtse March 2011 financing transaction.

The fair value of stock-based awards is calculatsidg the BlackScholes option pricing model, even though this nedes developed to estimate the fair valu
freely tradable, fully transferable options withawgisting restrictions, which differ significantlyoin our stock options. The Bla&eholes model also requires subjec
assumptions, including future stock price volatiéind expected time to exercise, which greatlycaffee calculated values. The expected term arfdifore rate of optior
granted is derived from historical data on emploggercises and posesting employment termination behavior, as welleapected behavior on outstanding options
warrants. The riskree rate is based on the U.S. Treasury ratesféeteduring the corresponding period of grant. Ekpected volatility is based on the historical titityt of
our stock price. These factors could change infuh&re, which would affect fair values of stock igpts granted in such future periods, and could eaadatility in the tote
amount of the stock-based compensation expenseteepo future periods.
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Below is a summary of Outstanding Warrants to Purclase
Common Stock as of December 31, 2012:

Description Issue Date Exercise Price Shares Expiration Date
August 2009 Employee Warrar 8/25/200! $ 0.5C 240,00( 8/25/201(
January 2010 Investor Warre 1/28/201( $ 1.0C 40,00( 1/28/201:
2007 Debt Extension Warrar 9/22/201( $ 1.0C 16,00( 9/22/201!
September 2010 Repricing Warr: 9/28/201( $ 1.3¢ 4,00( 9/28/201.
October 2010 Repricing Warrar 10/18/2011 $ 1.3¢ 2,137,59: 10/18/201:
October 2010 Employee Warral 10/15/2011 $ 1.3¢ 1,280,00¢ 10/15/201.
December 2010 Employee Warra 12/3/201( $ 1.6¢ 200,00( 12/3/201!
January 2011 Employee Warré 1/21/201: $ 2.0C 20,00( 1/21/201-
February 2011 Legal Advisor Warre 2/22/201: $ 2.5C 80,00( 2/22/201¢
March 2011 Investor Warran 3/9/201: $ 3.1¢ 612,94: 3/9/201¢
March 2011 Investor Warran 4/7/201: $ 3.1¢ 34,10( 4/7/201¢
May 2011 Consultant Warra 5/17/201. $ 4.0t 20,00( 5/17/201-
September 2011 Employee Warrant 9/12/201: $ 3.9C 20,00( 9/12/201-
Total Warrants Outstanding 4,704,63!

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Indemnities and Guarantees

We have agreed to indemnify each ofexarcutive officers and directors for certain evamteccurrences arising as a result of the offizetirector serving in such
capacity. The term of the indemnification periodasthe officer's or director's lifetime. The meim potential amount of future payments we couldeogiired to make under
these indemnification agreements is unlimited. Ewsv, we have a directors’ and officeliability insurance policy that should enable ugeoover a portion of future amou
paid. As a result of our insurance policy coverage believe the estimated fair value of these indéoation agreements is minimal and have no lities recorded for these
agreements as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

We enter into indemnification provisionsder our agreements with other companies in thamary course of business, typically with businpastners, contracto
customers and landlords. Under these provisiongemerally indemnify and hold harmless the inderedifparty for losses suffered or incurred by theeindified party as
result of our activities or, in some cases, assalt®f the indemnified party's activities undee thgreement. These indemnification provisions oiftefude indemnificatior
relating to representations made by us with regardtellectual property rights. These indemnifioatprovisions generally survive termination of tilvederlying agreemei
The maximum potential amount of future paymentscaeld be required to make under these indemnifiogpirovisions is unlimited. We have not incurredtenial costs t
defend lawsuits or settle claims related to theslemnification agreements. As a result, we belitrecestimated fair value of these agreements isnmain Accordingly, w
have no liabilities recorded for these indemnificatprovisions as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.
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Operating Leases

Neonode Technologies AB has a lease with Vasakrétamtigheter AB for 2,723 square feet of officecgpdocated at Linnegatan 89D, Stockholm, Swede
approximately $8,000 per month including propegty (excluding VAT). The annual payment for this apa&quates to approximately $93,000 per year ingjudroperty ta
(excluding VAT). This lease is valid thru DecemiBdr, 2014, with a nine month notice period. The mwitwill be extended for an additional three ydhitsis not terminate
according to the terms in the contract.

On April 15, 2012, Neonode Technologies AB entdrgd a lease with No Picnic for 2,853 square fdetftice space located at Storgatan 23C, Stockh&wede!
for approximately $14,000 per month including pmdypéax (excluding VAT). The annual payment forstispace equates to approximately $174,000 periryglading propert
tax (excluding VAT). This lease is valid throughAd5, 2013.

On March 22, 2012, we entered into a three yeaeledth 2350 Mission Investors LLC for 3,185 squet of office space located at 2350 Mission Gl@&Ivd
Suite 190, Santa Clara, CA 95054 USA. The inigalse payment is $7,007 per month, increasing &6$fer month over the term of the lease. Thislémsalid through Ju
31, 2015. The annual payment for this space equa@gsproximately $86,000 per year.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@dj #04 Company recorded approximately $400,0007 $D® and $103,000, respectively for rent expense.

A summary of future minimum payments under opegplizase commitments as of December 31, 2012 isllasvk (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, Total
2013 $ 23C
2014 181
2015 53

$ 464

12. Segment Information

The Company has one reportable segment, whichngsed of the touchscreen technology licensingness.All of our sales for the years ended Decembe
2012, 2011 and 2010 were to customers locateceitB., Europe and Asia.

The following table presents net revenues by ggddcaregion for the years ended December 31, 22AP] and 2010 (dollars in thousands):

2012
Amount Percentag
Net revenues from customers in the U $ 3,331 47%
Net revenues from customers in Eurt 152 2%
Net revenues from customers in A 3,647 51%
Total 7,137 10C%
2011
Amount Percentag
Net revenues from customers in the U 4,73¢ 78%
Net revenues from customers in Eur 53 1%
Net revenues from customers in A 1,27¢ 21%
Total 6,067 10C%
2010
Amount Percentag:
Net revenues from customers in the U - --%
Net revenues from customers in Eur 180 41 %
Net revenues from customers in A 26( 5%
Total 44C 10(%

58




13. Income Taxes

Loss before income taxes was distributed geografiifor the years ended December 31, as followshousands):

2012 2011 2010
Domestic $ (10,289 $ (16,867 $ (29,590
Foreign 1,121 (200) (1,99))
Total $ (9,162 $ (17,067 $ (31,58))
The provision for income taxes is as follows fog frears ended December 31:
2012 2011 2010

Current

Federal $ - 8 - $ ==

State 2 2 1

Foreign 122 76 44
Change in deferre

Federa (3,659) (1,85¢) -

Federal valuation allowan: 3,658 1,85¢ -

State 453 (206) =

State valuation allowant (459) 20€

Foreign 27€ 122 -

Foreign valuation allowance (27€) (122) -
Total current $ 128 $ 78 $ 45

The differences between our effective income tax amd the U.S. federal statutory federal incomedte for the years ended December 31, are:
2012 2011 2010

Amounts at statutory tax rat 34% 34% 34%
Non-deductible loss on revaluation of embed conversion features and extinguishment of conviertiebt - (29)% (24)%
Foreign losses taxed at different re 1% 2% --
Stocl-based compensatic (N% -- (5)%
Other -- -- --
Total 28% 7% 5%
Valuation allowance (29)% (7)% (5)%
Effective tax rate (1)% --% --%
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Significant components of the deferred tax assktnoas at December 31, are as follows (in thougands

2012 2011

Deferred tax asset

Accruals $ 872 $ 26
Stock compensatic 1,05( 1,08(
Net operating losse 6,417 4,11¢€
Total deferred tax asse $ 8,34( $ 5,22
Basis difference in fixed asse (38) --
Valuation allowance (8,302) (5,222)
Total net deferred tax assets $ - $ -

Valuation allowances are recorded to offset certigferred tax assets due to managersantcertainty of realizing the benefits of thesenis. Management applie
full valuation allowance for the accumulated lossesleonode Inc., and its subsidiary Neonode Teldyies AB, since it is not determinable using thaote likely than not”
criteria that there will be any future benefit afraleferred tax assets. This is mainly due to @stoty of operating losses. Due to the reorgariratihe Company believes t
the U.S. net operating losses and credits woulsilbgect to the provisions of Section 382 and tlwee$ubject to strict limitations. The Company hascompleted a study
the limitations and therefore has not included ¢Hess carryforwards or credits in the analysithefdeferred tax assets. At December 31, 2012Ctimepany has federal, st
and foreign net operating losses of $17.8 milli$8,5 million and $0, respectively. The federal lessryforward begins to expire in 2029, the Califarloss carryforwai
begins to expire in 2019 and the foreign loss darward is indefinite. On December 9, 2008, Neondd: filed for liquidation under the Swedish banktey laws an
effective with the filing we are no longer respdmsifor the liabilities and no longer have any oveidp interest in the assets of Neonode AB, inclgdiny tax net operati
loss carryforwards.

Utilization of the net operating loss and tax ctesdirryforwards is subject to an annual limitatdue to the ownership percentage change limitatpyosided b
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and sirsiite provisions. The annual limitation may reguthe expiration of the net operating losses txdcredit carryforwarc
before utilization. As of December 31, 2012, then(any has not completed the determination of theusutnto be limited under the provision.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company did not reieeg$160,000 and $17,000 of federal and state defe¢ax assets relating to excess tax benefitstbmkbase:
compensation deductions. Unrecognized deferredémefits will be accounted for as a credit to adddl paidin capital when realized through a reduction inoime taxe
payable.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisioh accounting guidance which includes a two-sipproach to recognizing, adeeognizing and measuri
uncertain tax positions accounted for in accordamitle accounting guidance. A reconciliation of thierecognized tax benefits for the years ended Dbeeil, 2012, 20:
and 2010 is as follows:

Balance at January 1, 201( $ =
Additions for tax positions of prior yea -
Reductions for tax position of prior yet -
Additions based on tax positions related to theentryeai -
Decrease- Settlement: -
Reductions - Settlements -

Balance at December 31, 201 $ B

Balance at January 1, 201: $ -
Additions for tax positions of prior yea -
Reductions for tax position of prior yet -
Additions based on tax positions related to theentryeai -
Decrease- Settlement: -
Reductions - Settlements -

Balance at December 31, 201 $ -

60




Balance at January 1, 201: $ =
Additions for tax positions of prior yea -
Reductions for tax position of prior yet -
Additions based on tax positions related to theentryeai -
Decrease- Settlement: -
Reductions - Settlements -

Balance at December 31, 201 $ B

We adopted a policy to classify accrued interest penalties as part of the accrued tax liabilitghia provision for income taxes. For the years dridecember 3
2012, 2011 and 2010 we did not recognize any istenepenalties related to unrecognized tax benefit

Our continuing practice is to recognize interest/anpenalties related to income tax matters imme tax expense. As of December 31, 2012 and 204 had n
accrued interest and penalties related to unceidaimatters.

As of December 31, 2012, we had no uncertain tatipas that would be reduced as a result of aelabshe applicable statute of limitations. We @ anticipate th
adjustments would result in a material change tdfiaancial position.

Payments related to the license agreement with Samgoration are net of 10% income tax withholdasyequired by the Japanese government under thdesvan
Japan international tax treaty. The amounts withinedy be used to offset future payables for inctemein Sweden. In the years ended December 31,, 22 and 201
$123,000, $78,000 and $48,000 was withheld, resyt The amounts withheld expire over five years.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal gdiction, California and Sweden. The 1997 throu@lil2tax years are open and may be subject to e
examination in one or more jurisdictions. We areqwrently under any federal, state or foreigroime tax examinations.

14. Employee Benefit Plans

We participate in a number of individual definechrbution pension plans for our employees in Swed#e contribute five percent (5%) of the emplogeainue
salary to these pension plans. Contributions irgato these defined contribution plans for thergeanded December 31, 2012 and 2011 were $139,500650,00(
respectively. We did not have any defined contidyubr other pension plans for our Swedish emplsyeethe year ended December 31, 2010. We ma&hb/i8. employee’
contributions to a 401K retirement plan up to a mmam of six percent (6%) of the employseinnual salary. Contributions relating to the miag 401K contributions for tt
year ended December 31, 2012 were $26,900. Weadichake any matching contributions to the U.S. legge’s 401K plans in the years ended December 31, 204 2@10

15. Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share for the years ebdedmber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was computedviird) the net loss by the weighted average nunuf
shares of common stock outstanding during the y@duted loss per common share is computed by digidhet loss by the weighted average number ofeshaf commo
stock and common stock equivalents outstandingiduhie year.
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Potential common stock equivalents of approximage® million, 5.4 million and 5.1 million outstamdj stock warrants, 52,000, 55,000 and 100,000 shsseabl
upon conversion of preferred stock, 1.7 million,0D® and 20,000 stock options and 0, 0 and 0.2amifihares issuable upon conversion of notes aleded from the dilute
earnings per share calculation for the years efdmémber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectivelytaltieeir anti-dilutive effect.

(in thousands, except per share amounts) Year ended December &
2012 2011 2010

BASIC AND DILUTED
Weighted average number

common shares outstanding 33,00:¢ 26,78¢ 18,29:
Net loss $ (9,287 $ (17,145 $ (31,626
Net loss per shares basic and dil $ (0.28) $ (069 $ (1.79)

16. Related Party Transactions

Mr. Per Bystedt, our Chairman and former Chief Extee Officer, invested a total of $75,000 of theZmillion raised in the Senior Convertible SecNiaes 2011
financing transaction and was issued 7,500 Marctl 2®arrants to purchase our common stock at arcieeeprice of $3.13 per share. On December 14, 20&1Compan
converted the $75,000 note and $5,337 of relatediad interest, and issued Mr. Bystedt 33,208 shafreur common stock.

On March 31, 2011, Mr. Bystedt and lwo Jima SARIcoapany controlled by Mr. Bystedt, converted $238, of 2009 and 2010 convertible notes that weeeat
June 30, 2010 plus $5,086 of accrued interest 1908 shares of our common stock.

On June 30, 2011, the Company issued Mr. Bystedltshares of restricted common stock in lieu of @33 cash interest payment related to the convemibte h
purchased in March 2011 (see Note 6).

Employees and relatives of employees of the Compather than Mr. Bystedt, invested a total of $208 of the $4.2 million raised in the March andring011
private placement financing transaction and reck@nvertible notes that were converted into 87 &teres of our common stock and we issued a tb&il,841 March 201
Warrants to purchase our common stock at an exepeise of $3.13 per share.

Davisa Ltd., a company controlled by Mr. Mats Dahliho is now a member of the board of directorthefCompany and of our wholly owned subsidiary Ntz
Technologies AB, participated in the March 2011 namt exercise agreement and exercised 186,400 mtandth an exercise price of $0.50 per share %,800. Davisa Lt
received 186,400 shares of our common stock arDO3viarch 2011 Warrants to purchase our commork stban exercise price of $3.13 per share.

On March 9, 2011, Davisa Ltd converted $215,72208f9 and 2010 convertible notes that were due pa 30, 2011 plus $2,811 of accrued interest to0¥&7share
of our common stock.

On April 25, 2011, Davisa Ltd. exercised warramdspurchase 50,000 shares of common stock. The Qompecorded an additional $50,000 as stock t
compensation to compensate Davisa Ltd. by waiviieghl.00 exercise price, and issued 50,000 shéams eommon stock to Davisa Ltd. for services pded for the privat
placement of convertible notes and warrants irMaech 2011 financing transaction.

On March 16, 2012, John Reardon, a member of oardbof directors, exercised a warrant to purch&®0D0 shares of common stock using the net ex
provision allowed in the warrant and received 198,3hares of our common stock.
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17. Subsequent Event:

The Company has evaluated subsequent events thtbegfiing of this form 10K, and determined that no subsequent events hamgrred that would requi
recognition in the consolidated financial statersentdisclosure in the notes thereto other thatiszuissed in the accompanying notes.

Subsequent to December 31, 2012, warrant holdessieed warrants to purchase 106,660 shares of oonstock using the net exercise provision allowedthk
warrant and received 75,307 shares of our comnumk st

In January 2013, we opened Neonode Japan Inc.piywdwned subsidiary of Neonode Inc. Neonode Jdparis office is located in Tokyo, Japan. We will seote
customers in Japan through this company. We cuyrérastve a Vice President Sales and General Manager working in this comp&ve. are planning to increase
engineering and sales staffing throughout 2013.

In January 2013, we opened Neonode Americas Inehally owned subsidiary of Neonode Inc. Neonodeeficas Inc$ office is located in Santa Clara, Califor
We will serve our customers in the Americas throtlgh company. We currently have ten employees ingri this company. We are planning to increaseethgineering ar
sales staffing throughout 2013.

In January 2013, we opened NEON Technology Inahally owned subsidiary of Neonode Inc. NEON Tedbgy Inc.’s office is located in Santa Clara, Califor
We will transfer certain user interface (“Ul”) apdoduct design patents from Neonode Inc. to NEOBhfelogy Inc.

In February 2013, we opened Neonode Ul AB, a whollyned subsidiary of Neonode Technology AB. NeondtéB'’s office is located in Stockholm, Sweden.
will provide sales and engineering services toamstrs of our user interface (“Ul”) and product despatents from Neonode Ul AB.

On February 26, 2013, David Brunton, CFO, exerctsezlwarrants to purchase a total of 320,000 shaffesmmon stock using the net exercise provisitowed in
the warrant and received 266,228 shares of our aomnstock.

On February 27, 2013, a holder of Series B prefiesteck converted 4 shares of series B prefermtksb common stock and received 528 shares otonrmor
stock.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision of and with the participatidrour management, including the Compan@hief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officwe evaluated tl
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and praoesi(as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(@)l&d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 312 2Based upc
that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer ande@Hrinancial Officer concluded that our disclosaomtrols and procedures were effective at theorestsle assurance level.

In designing and evaluating the disclosure contamid procedures, our management recognized that@mtyols and procedures, no matter how well desigamn:
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absadsturance of achieving the desired control objest and management necessarily was requiredly &p judgment il
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possitintrols and procedures.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the fourth quarter of 2012, our managemexs taken the following actions that materially effeor are reasonably likely to materially affestir interna
control over financial reporting and to remedidie material weaknesses in our internal control éimancial reporting previously identified (see de):

e We enhanced our internal finance and accountingrizgtional structure, which included hiring adsfil personnel so that the initiation of transadiche custoc
of assets and the recording of transactions arferpeed by separate individuals to provide adegsatgegation of duties within our accounting funasic

e We engaged a third party consultant with sufficieethnical expertise in the area of accounting ifmome taxes to provide reasonable assurance #se
completeness, accuracy, and review of our congeliti@x provision and disclosurt

e We enhanced our internal finance and accountingrorgtional structure, which included hiring adufithl personnel to provide reasonable assurance #
translation of our foreign subsidiary operation®ib.S. Dollars in our financial consolidation weheets, specifically related to our accumulate@rotomprehensi
loss.

e We enhanced our internal finance and accountingrozgtional structure, which included hiring adatitl personnel to ensure that the preparation evidw of the
consolidated statement of cash flows is enhar

e We retained a Sarban&sdey consulting firm to assist us in preparingtten policies and procedures for accounting andnfiial reporting to establish a forr
process to close our books and account for als&retions

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingraaihitaining adequate internal control over finahaporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15¢H) under th
Exchange Act. Our internal control over financiaporting has been designed to provide reasonableraaxe with respect to the reliability of finaridieporting and th
presentation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted aticguprinciples. A control system, no matter howliwdesigned ar
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absdstirance that the control systembjectives will be met. Further, the design abatrol system must reflect the fact 1
there are resource constraints. Because of theenhé&mitations in all control systems, no evalaatof controls can provide absolute assurance ahatontrol issues ai
instances of fraud, if any, within our company haeen detected.

Under the supervision and with the participatioroof Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financialfioér, our management assessed the effectivenesgrahternz
control over financial reporting as of December 3212. In making their assessment, our managensst the criteria established in the frameworkimternal Control —
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizat{t@®©SQO") of the Treadway Commission. Based upon that assggswur management conclu
that our internal control over financial reportiwgs effective at the reasonable assurance leval Becember 31, 2012. The effectiveness of ourriiraiecontrol over financi:
reporting as of December 31, 2012 has been aubiteddMJ Corbin & Company LLP, our independent regiietl public accounting firm, as stated in theirorépncludec
herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Neonode Inc

We have audited the internal control over finanmglorting of Neonode Inc. and subsidiary (the "@any") as of December 31, 2012, based on critstabéshed ir
Internal Control- Integrated Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadrtee Treadway Commission. The Company's manageim responsible f
maintaining effective internal control over finaakireporting, and for its assessment of the effeotss of internal control over financial reportingcluded in th
accompanying Report of Management on Internal @botrer Financial Reporting. Our responsibilitytgsexpress an opinion on the Company's internatrebaver financie
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedslof the Public Company Accounting Oversightifiq@nited States). Those standards require thailarean:
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurancatathether effective internal control over finaalaieporting was maintained in all material respe€ur audit of intern
control over financial reporting included obtainiag understanding of internal control over finahoéporting, assessing the risk that a materialkmesas exists, testing &
evaluating the design and operating effectivenéssternal control based on that risk, and perfargnsuch other procedures as we considered necessig circumstance
We believe that our audit provides a reasonables f@sour opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtiis a process designed to provide reasonableamesuregarding the reliability of financial repog and th
preparation of financial statements for externajppses in accordance with accounting principlesegdly accepted in the United States of Americaconpanys interna
control over financial reporting includes thoseigies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maariee of records that, in reasonable detail, atelyrand fairly reflect th
transactions and dispositions of the assets ofctiapany; (2) provide reasonable assurance thaséctions are recorded as necessary to permit ateparof financie
statements in accordance with accounting princigéagerally accepted in the United States of Amedaa that receipts and expenditures of the compaaypeing made or
in accordance with authorizations of managementdargttors of the company; and (3) provide reastmabsurance regarding prevention or timely deteadf unauthorize
acquisition, use, or disposition of the compangsess that could have a material effect on thenfiiz statements.

Because of the inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @étenisstatements. Also, projections of any evatratol
effectiveness to future periods are subject tailethat controls may become inadequate becauskasfges in conditions, or that the degree of canpé with the policies
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Neonode Inc. and subsidiary mairedi in all material respects, effective internattcol over financial reporting as of December 3212, based ¢
criteria established imternal Control - Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifriee Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo#ddnited States), the consolidated balance shef
Neonode Inc. and subsidiary as of December 312 20 2011, and the related consolidated statenoérgerations, comprehensive loss, stockholdeysitye (deficit) anc
cash flows for each of the three years in the peended December 31, 2012 and our report datediMiatc 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion onetemmnsolidate
financial statements.

/sl KMJ Corbin & Company LLP
Costa Mesa, California
March 14, 2013
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ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None
PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required by this Item will be indied in the Company’s definitive 2012 Proxy Statensem is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item will be indied in the Company’s definitive 2012 Proxy Statenseml is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item will be indied in the Company’s definitive 2012 Proxy Statensem is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item will be indied in the Company’s definitive 2012 Proxy Statenseml is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item will be indied in the Company’s definitive 2012 Proxy Statensem is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV
ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements of the registare listed in the index to the consolidatedricial statements and filed under Item 8 of thmsal Report.

Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted beeahe relevant information is not applicable arpresent in amounts sufficient to require subroissif the schedule
the required information is shown in the consokdifinancial statements and the notes theretodedun this Annual Report.
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Exhibit #

Description

3.1
3.11
3.1.2
3.1.3

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8

21

23.1
31.1
31.2

32
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF

101.LAB
101.PRE

Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatibiNeonode Inc., dated April 17, 2009ir{corporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of tlegistrants
Quarterly Report on Form ’-Q filed on August 4, 200)

Certificate of Amendment, dated December 13, 20h@drporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 of tegistrant's Annual Report on Form XOfiled on Marct
31, 2011)

Certificate of Amendment, dated March 18, 20ddcprporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of theisé@gnt's Current Report on Form EB-filed on March 2¢
2011)

Certificate of Correction, dated February 28, 2Q1r&corporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.3 of tlkgistrant's Annual Report on Form X0filed on Marct
31, 2012)

Bylaws, as amended through December 5, 20@¢drporated by reference as Exhibit 3.2 of theistgnt's Annual Report on Form 1K-filed on April 15
2008)

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Riglfitthe Series A and Series B Preferred Stock dBeckmber 29, 2008 ificorporated by reference
Exhibit 4.1 of the registra’s Current Report on Form-K filed on December 31, 20()

Certificate of Increase of Designation of SerieRmBferred Stock dated January 2, 20@8cérporated by reference as Exhibit 4.2 of theisggnt's Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed on October 31, 207)

Certificate of Increase of Designation of SerieBiBferred Stock dated January 28, 200®¢rporated by reference as Exhibit 4.3 of theisggnt’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed on October 31, 207)

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warramdorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of thgistrant's Current Report on Form R-filed on February 2!
2010)

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warramdorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of thgis&rant's Current Report on Form R-filed on October 1t
2010)

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant for the Ma@tl Financing incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of thgistrants Annual Report on For
10-K filed on March 31, 201)

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated Octbhe2010 4

Employment Agreement with David W. Brunton, datety 1, 2010 +

Consulting Agreement with Per Bystedt, dated Jan@8r 2011 (ncorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.17 of thgistrant's Annual Report on Form 10-
filed on March 31, 201) +

Neonode Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plaincorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of thgistrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (339313) filet
on February 2, 201) +

Agreements used in connection with the 2006 Eduitgntive Plan -

Subsidiaries of the registra

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriting

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuao Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act Of 200z

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursueto Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act Of 2002

Certifications pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13&0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002 *

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Documel

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutrie

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhé&r

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Documel

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doemntrf

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or geiaent
* Furnished herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 18{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be signedhehalf by th
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NEONODE INC.
(Registrant)

Date: March 14, 2013 By: /s/ David W. Bruntor
David W. Brunton
Chief Financial Officer,
Vice President, Finance
and Secretar

Pursuant to the requirements for the Securitieh&mge Act of 1934, this report has been signedhéydllowing persons on behalf of the registrartt anthe capaci
and dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/sl Thomas Eriksso Chief Executive Officer, March 14, 2013
Thomas Eriksso and Directol

(Principal Executive Officer

/s/ David W. Bruntor Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Finance March 14, 2013

David W. Bruntor and Secretar
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

/s/ John Reardo Director March 14, 2013
John Reardo

/s/ Mats Dahlir Director March 14, 2013
Mats Dabhlin

/s/ Lars Lindqvis Director and Audit Committee Chair March 14, 2013
Lars Lindqgvist

/sl Per Bysted Director and Chairman of the Board March 1842
Per Bysted
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Exhibit 10.4

NEITHER THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF THE SECURITIES RRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE NOR THE SECURITIES IDTWHICH THESE SECURITIE
ARE EXERCISABLE HAVE BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SE®UTIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR APPLICABLE STATEECURITIES LAWS. THI
SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED FOR SALE, SOLD, TRANERRED OR ASSIGNED (I) IN THE ABSENCE OF (A) AN EEETIVE REGISTRATION
STATEMENT FOR THE SECURITIES UNDER THE SECURITIESCA OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR (B) AN OPINION OF COUNBEWHICH COUNSEL SHALL BE
SELECTED BY THE HOLDER), IN A GENERALLY ACCEPTABLEFORM, THAT REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED UNDER SAIBCT OR (Il) UNLESS SOLI
PURSUANT TO RULE 144 OR RULE 144A UNDER SAID ACNOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, THE SECURITIES MAY BPLEDGED IN CONNECTIOI
WITH A BONA FIDE MARGIN ACCOUNT OR OTHER LOAN OR MIANCING ARRANGEMENT SECURED BY THE SECURITIES.

Right to Purchase shares of Common Stock of Neonode
(subject to adjustment as provided her

COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT
No. 201(-[ insert warrant designation co( Issue Date: October 15, 2(

NEONODE INC., a corporation organized under theslaf the State of Delaware (the “Company”), herebytifies that, for value receiveffill -in name], or its
assigns (the “Holder”)is entitled, subject to the terms set forth beltavpurchase from the Company at any time commensixg6) months after the Issue Date until !
p.m., E.S.T on October 15, 2013, the thif#§ anniversary of the Issue Date (the “ExpiratiorteDp up to[fill -in amount of Common Stock that can be isstigiti] paid anc
nonassessable shares of Common Stock at a perpminatese price of $ . The purchase pricesip@re, as adjusted from time to time as hereinigeal is referred 1
herein as the "Purchase Price." The number andctea of such shares of Common Stock and the BsecRrice are subject to adjustment as providezirher

As used herein the following terms, unless the eximtherwise requires, have the following respectheanings:
(a) The term “Company” shall include Neda Inc. and any corporation which shall succeemssume the obligations of Neonode Inc. hereunder.

(b) The term “Common Stockicludes (a) the Company's Common Stock, $0.00Valale per share and (b) any other securitiesvifich or for which any ¢
the securities described in (a) may be convertezkohnanged pursuant to a plan of recapitalizatieorganization, merger, sale of assets or otherwise

(c) The term “Other Securitieg¥fers to any stock (other than Common Stock) ahdrcesecurities of the Company or any other pefsorporate or otherwis
which the holder of the Warrant at any time shalldmtitied to receive, or shall have received,mnédxercise of the Warrant, in lieu of or in admitto Common Stock,
which at any time shall be issuable or shall heeenhissued in exchange for or in replacement off@omStock or Other Securities pursuant to Section@herwise.

(d) The term “Warrant Shares” shall mé@ Common Stock issuable upon exercise of this&ar




1. Exercise of Warrant

1.1. Number of Shares Issuable upon diser From and after the Issue Date through and imetuthe Expiration Date, the Holder hereof sha
entitled to receive, upon exercise of this Warrentwhole in accordance with the terms of subsecti@or upon exercise of this Warrant in part icadance wit
subsection 1.3, shares of Common Stock of the Cogaibject to adjustment pursuant to Section 3.

1.2. Full Exercise This Warrant may be exercised in full by the d&slhereof by delivery of an original or facsimilepy of the form of subscriptit
attached as Exhibit A hereto (the “SubscriptionrFrduly executed by such Holder and delivery withim tdays thereafter of payment, in cash, wire trarsfdy certified o
official bank check payable to the order of the @amy, in the amount obtained by multiplying the memof shares of Common Stock for which this Warianther
exercisable by the Purchase Price then in effébe original Warrant is not required to be surreaddo the Company until it has been fully exerdise

1.3. Partial ExerciseThis Warrant may be exercised in part (but notf fractional share) by delivery of a Subscriptiorm in the manner and at
place provided in subsection 1.2 except that thewernpayable by the Holder on such partial exerstsal be the amount obtained by multiplying (& ttumber of whol
shares of Common Stock designated by the Hold¢henSubscription Form by (b) the Purchase Price theeffect. On any such partial exercise provitleel Holder he
surrendered the original Warrant, the Companytsabipense, will forthwith issue and deliver taupon the order of the Holder hereof a new Warréfike tenor, in the nan
of the Holder hereof or as such Holder (upon payrbgrsuch Holder of any applicable transfer taxasy request, the whole number of shares of ComntackSor whict
such Warrant may still be exercised for the balasfce

1.4. Fair Market ValueFair Market Value of a share of Common Stockfae particular date (the "Determination Date") $hatan:

(@) If the Company's Common Stock iséddn an exchange or is quoted on the NASDAQ Glmzaket, Nasdaq Global Select Market,
NASDAQ Capital Market, the New York Stock Exchargethe American Stock Exchange, LLC, then the ayemf the closing or last sale prices, respectjwaported fc
the ten trading days immediately preceding the iDatetion Date;

(b) If the Company's Common Stock is tratled on an exchange or on the NASDAQ Global Markasdaq Global Select Market,
NASDAQ Capital Market, the New York Stock Excharmethe American Stock Exchange, LLC, but is tradethe ove-thecounter market, then the average of the clc
bid price reported for the ten trading days immeyapreceding the Determination Date;

(c) Except as provided in clause (d) beémd Section 2.1, if the Company's Common Stoatotspublicly traded, then as the Holder anc
Company agree, or in the absence of such an agntelmearbitration in accordance with the rulesntlstanding of the American Arbitration Associatidrefore a sing!
arbitrator to be chosen from a panel of personéifaechby education and training to pass on thetarab be decided; or

(d) If the Determination Date is the dafea liquidation, dissolution or winding up, oryaavent deemed to be a liquidation, dissolutio
winding up pursuant to the Company's charter, tileamounts to be payable per share to holderseoCommon Stock pursuant to the charter in theteMesuch liquidatior
dissolution or winding up, plus all other amourdsbe payable per share in respect of the Commock $toliquidation under the charter, assuming foe purposes of tt
clause (d) that all of the shares of Common Sthek issuable upon exercise of all of the Warrargoatstanding at the Determination Date.




1.5. Company Acknowledgmenthe Company will, at the time of the exerciseta Warrant, upon the request of the Holder heaekhowledge i
writing its continuing obligation to afford to suéfolder any rights to which such Holder shall cooé to be entitled after such exercise in accorlavith the provisions
this Warrant. If the Holder shall fail to make aswych request, such failure shall not affect theinaing obligation of the Company to afford to sudblder any such rights.

1.6. Trustee for Warrant Holdeds the event that a bank or trust company stalkhbeen appointed as trustee for the Holder of\tagrants pursua
to Subsection 3.2, such bank or trust company slaak all the powers and duties of a warrant agenhbereinafter described) and shall accept, iovits name for the accot
of the Company or such successor person as mawtiteet thereto, all amounts otherwise payableh®s €ompany or such successor, as the case may legeccise of th
Warrant pursuant to this Section 1.

1.7 Delivery of Stock Certificates, ettn Exercise The Company agrees that the shares of Commork $tochased upon exercise of this War
shall be deemed to be issued to the Holder heretifearecord owner of such shares as of the clolsesiness on the date on which delivery of a Stipson Form shall hav
occurred and payment made for such shares as aitbrés soon as practicable after the exerciséisfWarrant in full or in part, and in any eventhin three (3) busine
days thereafter (“Warrant Share Delivery Datéfig Company at its expense (including the paympgrit bf any applicable issue taxes) will cause éoidsued in the name
and delivered to the Holder hereof, or as such étoldpon payment by such Holder of any applicataledfer taxes) may direct in compliance with aglle securities laws
certificate or certificates for the number of dalyd validly issued, fully paid and n@ssessable shares of Common Stock (or Other Sesytib which such Holder shall
entitled on such exercise, plus, in lieu of anyfi@nal share to which such Holder would othervigeentitled, cash equal to such fraction multiplgdthe then Fair Mark
Value of one full share of Common Stock, togethéhwany other stock or other securities and prgpénicluding cash, where applicable) to which stidider is entitled upc
such exercise pursuant to Section 1 or otherwise.

2. Cashless Exercise

(a) Commencing six months after the |99a&e, payment upon exercise may be made at thenopt the Holder either in (i) cash, wire transterby
certified or official bank check payable to the eraf the Company equal to the applicable aggre@atehase Price, (ii) by delivery of Common Stossuable upon exerc
of the Warrants in accordance with Section (b) Wetw (iii) by a combination of any of the foregoimgethods, for the number of Common Stock specifiesuch form (s
such exercise number shall be adjusted to refiegtadjustment in the total number of shares of Comi8tock issuable to the holder per the terms isf\Warrant) and tt
holder shall thereupon be entitled to receive tbenlver of duly authorized, validly issued, fully-daand norassessable shares of Common Stock (or Other Ses)
determined as provided herein.

(b) Subject to the provisions hereinhe tontrary, if the Fair Market Value of one shaf€ommon Stock is greater than the Purchase Patdde dat
of calculation as set forth below), in lieu of esising this Warrant for cash, the holder may eteatceive shares equal to the value (as deternfiakniv) of this Warrant (1
the portion thereof being cancelled) by surrendehis Warrant at the principal office of the Compgaogether with the properly endorsed Subscripkonm in which ever
the Company shall issue to the holder a numbeharfes of Common Stock computed using the folloviamgiula:

X= Y (A-B)
A
Where X= the number of shares of Comi@totk to be issued to the holder
Y= the number of shares of Common Stock purchasaldlerihe Warrant or, if only a portion of the Watrémbeing exercised, the portior

the Warrant being exercised (at the date of suldulezdion)




A= the average of the closing sale prices of the Com@imck for the five (5) Trading Days immediatelgop to (but not including) tt
Exercise Date, or Fair Market Value, whicheveesss

B= Purchase Price (as adjusted to the date of suchlatbn)
For purposes of Rule 144 promulgated under the 18&3 it is intended, understood and acknowleddeat the Warrant Shares issued in a cashless es
transaction shall be deemed to have been acquyréldebHolder, and the holding period for the Watr8hares shall be deemed to have commenced, atateehis Warrai
was originally issued pursuant to the ConvertibtaeNAgreement.

3. Adjustment for Reorganization, Cdigadion, Merger, etc.

3.1. Fundamental Transactionf, at any time while this Warrant is outstargligA) the Company effects any merger or constigh of thi
Company with or into another entity, (B) the Compaifects any sale of all or substantially all & assets in one or a series of related transacti¢@) any tender off
or exchange offer (whether by the Company or amothatity) is completed pursuant to which holders @dmmon Stock are permitted to tender or exchariggs:
shares for other securities, cash or property, t{ig) Company consummates a stock purchase agreemesther business combination (including, withoumitation, &
reorganization, recapitalization, spfi-or scheme of arrangement) with one or moreqresor entities whereby such other persons orienticquire more than the 50% of
outstanding shares of Common Stock (not includimg shares of Common Stock held by such other psrsoentities making or party to, or associatedftiliated with the
other persons or entities making or party to, sstobk purchase agreement or other business condnhafE) any "person” or "group” (as these termeswsed for purposes
Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the 1934 Act) is ofldtecome the "beneficial owner" (as defined in&®UBd3 under the 1934 Act), directly or indirectly, di% of the aggrega
Common Stock of the Company,or (F)the Companyeoctsf any reclassification of the Common Stock ory asompulsory share exchange pursua
which the Common Stock is effectively converteaimir exchanged for other securities, cash or ptppén any such case, a "Fundamental Transactionén, upo
any subsequent exercise of this Warrant, the HaltleH have the right to receive, for each War@imare that would have been issuable upon suchisgentmediately pric
to the occurrence of such Fundamental Transadiiotiie option of the Holder, (a) upon exercisehi$ Warrant, the number of shares of Common Stddkesuccess
or acquiring corporation or of the Company, ifstthe surviving corporation, and any additionalsideration (the "Alternate Consideration") receiealppon or as a result
such reorganization, reclassification, merger, obidation or disposition of assets by a Holderted umber of shares of Common Stock for which\tiésrant is exercisat
immediately prior to such event or (b) if the Compas acquired in (1) a transaction where the atersition paid to the holders of the Common Stoaksists solely of cas
(2) a “Rule 13e-3 transaction” as defined in Rube-2 under the 1934 Act, or (3) a transaction invavanperson or entity not traded on a national séesirexchange, tt
Nasdaq Global Select Market, the Nasdaq Global Btadt the Nasdaq Capital Market, cash equal toBlaek-Scholes Value. For purposes of any such exertisg
determination of the Purchase Price shall be apiatety adjusted to apply to such Alternate Consitlen based on the amount of Alternate Considematisuable in respe
of one share of Common Stock in such Fundamentaiskction, and the Company shall apportion the Hasee Price among the Alternate Consideration
reasonable manner reflecting the relative valuerof different components of the Alternate Consitiena If holders of Common Stock are given any ichoas to th
securities, cash or property to be received in mdBmental Transaction, then the Holder shall bergithe same choice as to the Alternate Consideréti@ceives upon al
exercise of this Warrant following such Fundameiitainsaction. To the extent necessary to effeetieg foregoing provisions, any successor to thea@2my or survivin
entity in such Fundamental Transaction shall issu¢he Holder a new warrant consistent with thedoing provisions and evidencing the Holder's ritghtexercise suc
warrant into Alternate Consideration. The termsuwy agreement pursuant to which a Fundamentals@caion is effected shall include terms requiring auch successor
surviving entity to comply with the provisions of hig Section 2.1 and insuring that this Warrant (any such replacement security) will
similarly adjusted upon any subsequent transaeti@iogous to a Fundamental Transaction. “BlacleshValue” shall be determined in accordance with BlackSchole
Option Pricing Model obtained from the “OMunction on Bloomberg L.P. using (i) a price peaghof Common Stock equal to the VWAP of the ComrStwock for th
Trading Day immediately preceding the date of com®ation of the applicable Fundamental Transactigna risk{ree interest rate corresponding to the U.S. Tngasate
for a period equal to the remaining term of thisriéat as of the date of such request and (iii) )ypeeted volatility equal to the 100 day volatiliptained from the HV
function on Bloomberg L.P. determined as of thediirg Day immediately following the public announcamof the applicable Fundamental Transaction.




3.2. Dissolution In the event of any dissolution of the Companifofving the transfer of all or substantially aff s properties or assets,
Company, prior to such dissolution, shall at itpense deliver or cause to be delivered the stodlo#trer securities and property (including cashengtapplicable) receivat
by the Holder of the Warrants after the effectiaedof such dissolution pursuant to this Sectidno 2 bank or trust company (a "Trustee") havingpitsicipal office ir
New York, NY, as trustee for the Holder of the Weats. Such property shall be delivered only upayment of the Warrant exercise pri

3.3. Continuation of TermsUpon any reorganization, consolidation, mergetransfer (and any dissolution following any triemy referred to in th
Section 2, this Warrant shall continue in full ferand effect and the terms hereof shall be appécabthe Other Securities and property receivallehe exercise of tt
Warrant after the consummation of such reorgarminatonsolidation or merger or the effective ddtdissolution following any such transfer, as tlase may be, and shall
binding upon the issuer of any Other Securitieduiding, in the case of any such transfer, theqeecquiring all or substantially all of the projies or assets of the Compe
whether or not such person shall have expressiynaess the terms of this Warrant as provided in 8acti. In the event this Warrant does not continufell force and effec
after the consummation of the transaction describetthis Section 2, then only in such event wikk tBompany's securities and property (including cagtere applicabl
receivable by the Holder of the Warrants be dedidep the Trustee as contemplated by Section 2.2.

4. Extraordinary Events Regarding Comr8tock. In the event that the Company shall (a) issutiatal shares of the Common Stock as a dividenative
distribution on outstanding Common Stock, (b) suldl#i its outstanding shares of Common Stock, ocd¢oybine its outstanding shares of the Common Sittoka smalle
number of shares of the Common Stock, then, in sach event, the Purchase Price shall, simultahewiith the happening of such event, be adjustedbitiplying the the
Purchase Price by a fraction, the numerator of wklall be the number of shares of Common Stoctanding immediately prior to such event and theod@nator of whic
shall be the number of shares of Common Stock andigtg immediately after such event, and the prodombtained shall thereafter be the Purchase Bren in effect. Tt
Purchase Price, as so adjusted, shall be readjiursted same manner upon the happening of any ssieeeevent or events described herein in thisi@edt The number
shares of Common Stock that the Holder of this \fershall thereafter, on the exercise hereof, idlezhto receive shall be adjusted to a numbeerained by multiplyin
the number of shares of Common Stock that wouldretlse be issuable on such exercise by a fracfievhh (a) the numerator is the Purchase Pricewuald otherwise k
in effect, and (b) the denominator is the Purchdee in effect on the date of such exercise.

5. Certificate as to Adjustment$n each case of any adjustment or readjustnmetitd shares of Common Stock (or Other Securitgssjable on the exerc
of the Warrants, the Company at its expense wilmptly cause its Chief Financial Officer or othgmpeopriate designee to compute such adjustmeneadjustment i
accordance with the terms of the Warrant and peepazertificate setting forth such adjustment adjestment and showing in detail the facts uporctvisuch adjustment
readjustment is based, including a statement ath@fonsideration received or receivable by then@any for any additional shares of Common StockJtiter Securitie:
issued or sold or deemed to have been issued @y @9lthe number of shares of Common Stock (oreO8ecurities) outstanding or deemed to be outstgndnd (c) th
Purchase Price and the number of shares of Comnoak 8 be received upon exercise of this Warrangffect immediately prior to such adjustment eadjustment and
adjusted or readjusted as provided in this WarrBime. Company will forthwith mail a copy of each buertificate to the Holder of the Warrant and &grrant Agent of th
Company (appointed pursuant to Section 10 hereof).




6. Reservation of Stock, etc. IssuaibieExercise of Warrant; Financial Statement3he Company will at all times reserve and kegpilable, solely fc
issuance and delivery on the exercise of the Wearatl shares of Common Stock (or Other Secuyjifi@sn time to time issuable on the exercise of\Warrant. This Warra
entitles the Holder hereof to receive copies ofialincial and other information distributed or u@qd to be distributed to the holders of the ConytmCommon Stock.

7. Assignment; Exchange of Warrar8ubject to compliance with applicable securitégs, this Warrant, and the rights evidenced heretay be transferre
by any registered holder hereof (a "Transferor'f).t@e surrender for exchange of this Warrant, with Transferor's endorsement in the form of ExiBbétttached hereto (t
“Transferor Endorsement Form") and together wittopinion of counsel reasonably satisfactory to tln@any that the transfer of this Warrant will becompliance wit
applicable securities laws, the Company will isand deliver to or on the order of the Transfererdof a new Warrant or Warrants of like tenor,hHe hame of the Transfe
and/or the transferee(s) specified in such Transféndorsement Form (each a "Transferee"), callinthe aggregate on the face or faces thereoti®mumber of shares
Common Stock called for on the face or faces ofttarant so surrendered by the Transferor.

8. Replacement of Warran©n receipt of evidence reasonably satisfactorthé Company of the loss, theft, destruction otiliation of this Warrant and,
the case of any such loss, theft or destructiathisfWarrant, on delivery of an indemnity agreemansecurity reasonably satisfactory in form andant to the Company «
in the case of any such mutilation, on surrenderamcellation of this Warrant, the Company aekpense, twice only, will execute and deliver i@ulthereof, a new Warre
of like tenor.

9. Maximum Exercise The Holder shall not be entitled to exercise #Warrant on an exercise dateconnection with that number of shares of Com
Stock which would be in excess of the sum of @ thumber of shares of Common Stock beneficially edvby the Holder and its affiliates on an exerdate, and (i) th
number of shares of Common Stock issuable uporexkecise of this Warrant with respect to which dieeermination of this limitation is being made anexercise dat
which would result in beneficial ownership by theltler and its affiliates of more than 4.99% of thestanding shares of Common Stock on such datejded that th
restrictions on exercise set forth in this Secfisghall not apply in event of completion of a FuméatalTransaction. For the purposes of the immediatedggding sentenc
beneficial ownership shall be determined in accocdavith Section 13(d) of the Securities 1934 Aol Rule 13®8 thereunder. Subject to the foregoing, the Hosthedl no
be limited to aggregate exercises which would tesuhe issuance of more than 4.99%he restriction described in this paragraph mawb#ed, in whole or in part, up
sixty-one (61) days prior notice from the Holder to thempany to increase such percentage to up to 9.88%mot in excess of 9.99%. The Holder may dewitiether t
convert a Investment Amount or exercise this Wdrramchieve an actual 4.99% or up to 9.99% owriensbsition as described above, but not in excé8s99%.

10. Warrant Agent The Company may, by written notice to the Holdéthe Warrant, appoint an agent (a “Warrant Agefdr the purpose of issuil
Common Stock (or Other Securities) on the exeraighis Warrant pursuant to Section 1, exchanglmg Warrant pursuant to Section 7, and replaciig\Warrant pursuant
Section 8, or any of the foregoing, and thereaftsr such issuance, exchange or replacement, aaskemay be, shall be made at such office by suaiam Agent.




11. Transfer on the Company's Booksntil this Warrant is transferred on the bookshe Company, the Company may treat the registeodder hereof as tl
absolute owner hereof for all purposes, notwithditagnany notice to the contrary.

12. Notices All notices, demands, requests, consents, apfsoand other communications required or perchittereunder shall be in writing and, un
otherwise specified herein, shall be (i) personséiyved, (ii) deposited in the mail, registereatentified, return receipt requested, postage pcetal) delivered by reputab
air courier service with charges prepaid, or (fpsmitted by hand delivery, telegram, or facsifratidressed as set forth below or to such otheeadds such party shall h
specified most recently by written notice. Anyinetor other communication required or permittedi¢ogiven hereunder shall be deemed effectivedah thand delivery «
delivery by facsimile, with accurate confirmatioergrated by the transmitting facsimile machinghataddress or number designated below (if deliverea business d
during normal business hours where such notice Isetreceived), or the first business day followsnugh delivery (if delivered other than on a businday during norm
business hours where such notice is to be recearel) on the second business day following thte @& mailing by express courier service, fully pa&l, addressed to st
address, or upon actual receipt of such mailingchédver shall first occur. The addresses for starthmunications shall be: if to the Company,Neonode Inc., 651 Byrd
Way, Lafayette, California, 94549, Attn: Chief Fireéal Officer, with a copy by telecopier only to: Steve Kroneldg®&RK Law Offices, Hamada 12, Rehovot, Israek:
+972-8-9366000, and (i) if to the Holder, to the address &fldcopier number listed in the records of the @any, or such other address as such party mayragsig
notice hereunder.

13. Law Governing This WarranfThis Warrant shall be governed by and constineatcordance with the laws of the State of Newkvwithout regard t
principles of conflicts of laws. Any action brougby either party against the other concerningtthesactions contemplated by this Warrant shabioeight only in the sta
courts of New York or in the federal courts locatedhe state and county of New York. The partethis Warrant hereby irrevocably waive any obtto jurisdiction an
venue of any action instituted hereunder and stailbssert any defense based on lack of jurisdicforenue or based upon forum non conveniefise Company and Holc
waive trial by jury. The prevailing party shall katitled to recover from the other party its rewsne attorney's fees and costs. In the eveniathaprovision of this Warra
or any other agreement delivered in connectionwigngs invalid or unenforceable under any applieastatute or rule of law, then such provision kbaldeemed inoperati
to the extent that it may conflict therewith andalétbe deemed modified to conform with such statmterule of law. Any such provision which may peoinvalid o
unenforceable under any law shall not affect tHelig or enforceability of any other provision ahy agreement. Each party hereby irrevocably empersonal service
process and consents to process being served isunyction or proceeding in connection with tAgreement by mailing a copy thereof via registeoecertified mail o
overnight delivery (with evidence of delivery) toch party at the address in effect for notices tmder this Agreement and agrees that such seshiak constitute good a
sufficient service of process and notice therédéthing contained herein shall be deemed to limany way any right to serve process in any otheanmer permitted by law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has executed thésrdnt as of the date first written above.
NEONODE INC.

By:

Name:




Exhibit A
FORM OF SUBSCRIPTION
(to be signed only on exercise of Warrant)
TO: NEONODE INC.
The undersigned, pursuant to the provisions s#t farthe attached Warrant (No. ), hereby iroandy elects to purchase (check applicable box):

shares of the Common Stoekreal by such Warrar

the maximum number of shaf€@ommon Stock covered by such Warrant pursuatiteé@ashless exercise procedure set forth in@e2t

The undersigned herewith makes payment of thepfuithase price for such shares at the price pee gitavided for in such Warrant, which is $ . Such payme
takes the form of (check applicable box or boxes)

_ $ in lawful money of the tddiStates and/(

o the cancellation of such portion af #itached Warrant as is exercisable for a total of shares of Common Stock (using a Fair Markkie of $ p

share for purposes of this calculation); and/ or
the cancellation of such number ofahi@af Common Stock as is necessary, in accordaitice¢he formula set forth in Section 2, to exeeciBis Warrant with respe
to the maximum number of shares of Common Stockhmsable pursuant to the cashless exercise prasduforth in Section 2.

The undersigned requests that the certificatesu’onh shares be issued in the name of, and delivered whos
address is

The undersigned represents and warrants thatfelisoAnd sales by the undersigned of the securiigmble upon exercise of the within Warrant shallmade pursuant
registration of the Common Stock under the Seasrifict of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Aot"pursuant to an exemption from registration urilerSecurities Act.

Dated:

(Signature must conform to name of holder as sygetif
on the face of the Warrant)

(Address)




Exhibit B

FORM OF TRANSFEROR ENDORSEMENT
(To be signed only on transfer of Warrant)

For value received, the undersigned hereby sedlgas, and transfers unto the person(s) namedvheider the heading "Transferees" the right reprteseby th
within Warrant to purchase the percentage and nurmabshares of Common Stock of NEONODE INC. to vbhtbe within Warrant relates specified under thadieg:
"Percentage Transferred" and "Number Transfernedfectively, opposite the name(s) of such pery@m@ appoints each such person Attorney to traitsfeespective rigl
on the books of NEONODE INC. with full power of siution in the premises.

Transferee:

Percentage Transferr:

Number Transferre

Dated: ,

Signed in the presence of:

(Name)

ACCEPTED AND AGREED:

[TRANSFEREE]

(Name)

(Signature must conform to name of holder as sygetif
on the face of the warrant)

(address)

(address)




Exhibit 10.5

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is madnd entered into as of 1 day of July, 2010 bylsetd/een Dave Brunton (the "Employee") and
Neonode, Inc. (the "Company'

1. Employment and Duties etc.
() Subject to the terms and conditions set forth is greement, the Company hereby employs the Enegl@g Chief Financial Office
(b) During the employment, the Employee shall, for bleaefit of the company, use his skills, knowledgd apecialized training to perform the duties arereise
the powers, function and discretions incident te gwosition which, from time to time may be assigoedvested in him. The Employee reports to the £
Executive Officer and the Board of Directc
(c) During the employment, the Employees shall alwaygeagt the interest of the Company. The Employeg tharefore not, without written approval from
Board of Director, directly or indirectly, or thrgh other, engage himself in business activitiegmothan the Company's Business, hold other assignafeany
significance, or otherwise conduct business whiely mave a negative influence on the Employee's farthe company.
The Company'"Business'in this Agreement refers to what the Company dedse done and the Company's tangible plans to Entein the near future
(d) The Employee's normal working hours are 40 howreek.
(e) The Employee accepts that position requires hitnateel to Stockholm and abroe
2. Effective Date
(a) This agreement shall commence on July, 1, 2

3. Compensation

(a) The Employee shall receive a fixed salary of $18,0ss pemonth. Payment is to be made via the normal pay




(b) In addition to the fixed salary the Employee shadleive 0.75% of any fund raising in the form ofltar stock at the Boards discretion. This doesnadade th
exercise of Options or Warran

(c) The Employee hereby acknowledges that he may héreeljto work beyond standard working hours in otdeperform his duties hereunder and may be reg
to travel from time to time in connection with tperformance of such duties. The Employee shallbeoentitled to compensation for overtime or extoark
worked in performance of his duties hereunder wniéserwise required by la\

(d) In addition to the compensation described in thgge®ment, the Employee shall be entitled to reimdment by the Company for all actual, reasonaldedinec
expenses incurred by him in the performancaistluties hereunder consistent with the Company'siesliand practices, provided such expenses weuer@t
and documented in accordance with the expense vegeiment policies and procedures established bgdhnepany

Vacation; Company Policies and Procedures

(&) The Employee shall be entitled to 30 days vacagi@myear, in addition to the recognized U.S. hgi&d
Termination of Employment

(a) The Employee shall receive 6 month salary for taatibn without cause

(b) Upon termination for cause, the Employees shalbeogntitled to any severan:
Confidentiality; Intellectual Property; Communications.

(a) The Employee agrees to observe complete confidintigith respect to the Company's business. Theplegee Thus agrees not to, for the duration o
employment or at anytime thereaftegyeal what has become known to him with respethéoCompany, including, without limitation, the i@pany's and at

Subsidiary's, customers, products, developmentgrpms, surveys, operational relationships, préterg or other business secrets or the like, aither for hi:
own or another's interest . make use of this in&drom for any reason whatsoev




(b)

(©)

()

(e)

Any inventions, utility models, improvemerits production or work methods similar technicapimovements related to the Compar{Bsisiness"made by th
Employee during the employment shall be the prgpeftthe Company without the Company having to magecial demands therefore, and without
Employee being entitled to additional enumerattoereéfore, besides what is stated in applicable

If the Employee has made an invention, producttberintellectual property as described in claugeapove, the Employee shall promptly notify ther@any
accordingly. The notification shall be accompanigdsufficient information to enable the Companyatsess the relevant invention, product or othetl@utua
property. Furthermore, the Employee shall do afligh necessary, top assist the company in secth@tile to and the value of the said rigt

The Company has an exclusive right to and shadiriiled in all respects to dispose of such invergj products and intellectual property, etc. &sred to abov
including inter alia by production, reproductioales licensing, and the like. The Company may madesof this Agreement in connection with the regigin an
the like of the rights referred t

Except as otherwise required by applicable lawh lhiring the Employee's employment hereunder atel tfrmination of his employment, with respechty
pending potential litigation or regulatory or adistrative proceeding involving the Company or anpsidiary or any of their affiliates, other theryditigation o1
other proceeding in which the Employee is partpjposition (d'Proceeding"):(i) the Employee shall not communicate with any@other than the Employe
own attorneys and tax advisors), except to thenéxtecessary in the performance of the Employesiesihereunder with respect to the facts or stibjetter o
the Proceeding, without giving prior notice to tBempany, and (ii) in the event that any other pattgmpts to obtain information or documents frdre
Employee with respect to matters possrelated to a Proceeding, the Employee shall prongatinotify the compan)




(f) Both during the Employee's employment hereunderfandne year after termination of his employmehg Company on its own behalf and on behalf ¢
Group Companies and the Employee each agree that iheshall not in any communications with any tousers or clients, tec. Of the Company or any G
Company or their affiliates, criticize, ridicule arake any statement which disparages or is derggafathe other, or of Company's or any Group Cony(s
officer, directors, agents or employe

(g) When the Employee leaves his employment in the emmpphe shall return all business documents df/pls, whether they concern the Company's businigls
which he was entrusted, or those to which the Eygdoin any other fashion received access. Withnessi documents naturally is included all co
photocopies, notes, other materials or other ciidles or storage of information which the Employeeated or allowed to be related in the performafcieis
duties. If either of the parties terminated the Eyiment and the Employee is freed from his employhaeities during the notice termination periods théction i
applicable from the last working de

7. Non-solicitation of Employees.

(a) Both during the Employee's employment hereunderfan@ months after termination of his employmehe Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, exag
employ contract with, or subcontract to or withsolficit the employment of the initiation of a corarial contracts with any person who is then orlyeen withii
six months prior thereto, an employee or "significaontractor" (as defined below) of the Companyany Group Company. For the avoidance of douk
meaning of "significant contractor” in this sectifers to a person who has provided on average tihan 900 hours of work to the Company mted on a
annual basis




8. Non-solicitation of Customers

(a) Both during the Employee's employment hereunderfandne year after termination of his employmehe Employee shall refrain from soliciting, encayiray
or inducing or attempting tsolicit, encourage or induce (directly or by assgbthers) business from any Customer (as defirgdolw), including actively soug
prospective Customers, for purposes of providingdpcts or services that are directly competitivéhvihe products andervices provided by the Company
Group Company or Customers to terminate or redageétheir businesrelationships with the Company or any Group Comp

(b) For the purposes of this section, "Customer" meanysand all person, partnerships, association sficorporations, or other entities that have pwsetianay ¢
the Company's or Group Company's product or sewittén one year prior to the date of terminatidritee Employee's employment with the Compe

9.  Restriction on Investments in Competitors
(a) Both during the Employee's Employment hedeurand for on year after termination of his empieyt, the Employee shall ndirectly or indirectly invest i
(other than to hold 2% or less o any class of seéesirof a public company) or otherwise proviiteancial assistance to any person or entity depietp selling o
providing services sourced from, that are competitvith the Business of the Company or any Groumg@any, if one or more dhe Company or any Gro
Company is also then still engagecsuch Business (‘Competitor").
10.  Non Compete
(@) The Employee undertakes for a period of one yer #dfie end of the employment not to be employed @ompany or directly or indirectly be an owners
company that competes with the Company and nohynveay assist such company with advice or deeddirectly or indirectly prepare, start or conducy
business that would compete with the Compi
(b) The nor-competition prohibition does not apply in case @lempany terminates the Employee's employment duediendancy
11.  Liquidated Damages
(&) In case the Employee commits a breach agaimsof the regulation in clause 6, 7,8,9, and@mabove, the Employee shédl each breach, pay to the Comp

liquidation damages with an amount correspondingixanonths base salary. Payment of liquidated d@®ahall not restrict the Company's right to agghe
remedies according to the la




12.  Governing Law
() This Agreement shall be construed and interpretext€ordance with the laws of Swed
13.  Entire Agreement
(a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreementdsst the parties with respect to the subject mafténis agreement and supersedes any prior agresri
understandings among the parties with respectadb subject matter. No amendment or waiver of tgigement or any provision hereof shall be effectinkes:
in writing signed by both of the parties. The pesspecifically agree that the terms of all prior @&gnent are superseded by this Agreerr
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have signesl Aigireement as of the date first noted above.

Company
Neonode, Inc.

[s/ Per Bystedt
By: Mr. Per Bystedt

Employee

[s/_David Brunton
By: Mr. David Brunton




& neonoder

Neonode Inc.
2006 Equity Incentive Plan

Option Grant Notice

Neonode Inc. (th® Company "), pursuant to its 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (thBlan "), hereby grants to Optionholder an option to purchiheenumber of shares of -
Companys Common Stock set forth below. This option is eabjo all of the terms and conditions as set fbgfrein and in the Option Agreement, the Plan,taad\otice o
Exercise, all of which are attached hereto andrpm@ted herein in their entirety.

Optionholder:

Date of Grant:

Vesting Commencement Date:
Number of Shares Subject to Opti
Exercise Price (Per Share):

Total Exercise Price:

Expiration Date:

Type of Grant: O Incentive Stock Optio? O Nonstatutory Stock Optio

Exercise Schedule 1/3t%of the shares vest and become exercisable on theofigrant; the balance of the shares vest andnbe@xercisable in a series of twefdyr
(24) successive equal monthly installments measiioed the date of gran

Payment: By one or a combination of the following items (cdeised in the Option Agreemen

[xl By cash or chec
Pursuant to a Regulation T Program if the Sharegablicly tradec
[xl By delivery of alread-owned shares if the Shares are publicly tre
O By net exercis?

Additional Terms/Acknowledgements: The undersigned Optionholder acknowledges receiiptaind understands and agrees to, this Option Gxemice, the Optio
Agreement, and the Plan. Optionholder further askedges that as of the Date of Grant, this Optisan® Notice, the Option Agreement, and the Plarfargh the entir
understanding between Optionholder and the Compaggrding the acquisition of stock in the Compangt aupersede all prior oral and written agreementthat subje:
with the exception of (i) options previously grathtend delivered to Optionholder under the Plan, (@jthe following agreements only:

Other Agreements:

1 If this is an Incentive Stock Option, it (plus ettoutstanding Incentive Stock Options) cannotits¢ éxercisablegor more than $100,000 in value (measured by eserci
price) in any calendar year. Any excess over $10Di§ a Nonstatutory Stock Option.
2An Incentive Stock Option may not be exercised Imggexercise arrangement.




Neonode Inc. Optionholder:

By:

Signature Signature

Title: Date:

Date:

Attachments: Option Agreement, 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, ludice of Exercise




Name

Jurisdiction

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Exhibit 21

Neonode Technologies Al
Neonode Ul AB

Neonode Japan Inc
Neonode Americas Inc
NEON Technology Inc.

Sweden
Sweden
Japan
u.s.
uU.S.



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRemgion Statements Nos. 333-179313, 333-150338;132713, 333-114161, 333-87828, 333-63228, 3%323333-
32896, 333-65767, 333-63377, 33-45998 and 33-58h6FForm S-8 and in Registration Statements Nos:133326, 333-147425, 333-152163 and 333-1536340om 53
of our reports dated March 14, 2013, relating ® ¢bnsolidated financial statements of Neonodednd. subsidiary (the "Company") and the effectigsnef the Company’
internal control over financial reporting appearinghis Annual Report on Form 10-K of Neonode Ifwe.the year ended December 31, 2012.

/sl KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

Costa Mesa, California
March 14, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Thomas Eriksson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on ForrKi®f Neonode Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notain any untrue statement of a material factrit ¢o state a material fact necessary to makesthements made,
light of the circumstances under which such statéseere made, not misleading with respect to #réod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statémyeand other financial information included instieport, fairly present in all material respetis financial conditior
results of operations and cash flows of the remigtas of, and for, the periods presented in gpent;

4. The registrarg’ other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifaleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (as defined in Exchange Act |
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control dwemcial reporting (as defined in Exchange Acté&ul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant bade:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgdur caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our supervision, to ertkatemateric
information relating to the registrant, includinig consolidated subsidiaries, is made known toyusthers within those entities, particularly durithg period in whic
this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financegorting, or caused such internal control ovearitial reporting to be designed under our supemjsio provid
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityirafnicial reporting and the preparation of finanatdtements for external purposes in accordande geherall
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadtsclosure controls and procedures and preséntéhtis report our conclusions about the effectasn of th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the étitegeriod covered by this report based on swveluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thasteant’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registranthost recent fiscal quarter (
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case wfamnual report) that has materially affected sareiasonably likely to materially affect, the réigiat's internal contrc
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)cal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiaiuof internal control over financial reportinig, the registran’
auditors and the audit committee of the registeabtiard of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal obotrer financial reporting which are reasonabkely to adversel
affect the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have ais@ttifrole in the registrargt’internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: March 14, 2013

/sl Thomas Eriksso
Thomas Eriksso
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David W. Brunton certify that:
1. 1 have reviewed this annual report on ForrK1@¥ Neonode Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notain any untrue statement of a material factrit ¢o state a material fact necessary to makesthements made,
light of the circumstances under which such statéseere made, not misleading with respect to #réod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial stateémend other financial information included insthéport, fairly present in all material respebts financial conditior
results of operations and cash flows of the remigtas of, and for, the periods presented in gpent;

4. The registrarg’ other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifaleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (as defined in Exchange Act |
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control dwemcial reporting (as defined in Exchange Acté&ul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant bade:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgdur caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our supervision, to ertkatemateric
information relating to the registrant, includinig consolidated subsidiaries, is made known toyusthers within those entities, particularly durithg period in whic
this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financegorting, or caused such internal control ovearitial reporting to be designed under our supemjsio provid
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityirafnicial reporting and the preparation of finanatdtements for external purposes in accordande geherall
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadtsclosure controls and procedures and preséntéhtis report our conclusions about the effectasn of th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the étitegeriod covered by this report based on swveluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thasteant’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registranthost recent fiscal quarter (
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case wfamnual report) that has materially affected sareiasonably likely to materially affect, the réigiat's internal contrc
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)cal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiaiuof internal control over financial reportinig, the registran’
auditors and the audit committee of the registeabtiard of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal obotrer financial reporting which are reasonabkely to adversel
affect the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have ais@ttifrole in the registrargt’internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: March 14, 2013

/s/ David W. Bruntor

David W. Bruntor

Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Financelan
Secretary




Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Neonode (tfee “Company”) on Form 18-for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012lad fiith the Securities and Exchal
Commission (the “Report”the undersigned principal executive officer andgipal financial officer of the Company, each hegrekrtify, solely for purposes of 18 U.S
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@&dbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knogke

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSettion 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securitiesiaxge Act of 1934, as amended; .
2. The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operation of the Compe

/sl Thomas Eriksso /s/ David W. Bruntor
Thomas Eriksso David W. Bruntor

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer, Vice President Financela
March 14, 2013 Secretary

March 14, 201:




